
1

Salford Civic Centre
SWINTON

MEETING OF COUNCIL

Dear City Mayor and Councillors,

You are invited to attend the Meeting of Council to be held as follows for the 
transaction of the business indicated: -

DATE: Wednesday, 26 February 2020

TIME: 9.30 am

PLACE: Council Chamber, Salford Civic Centre, Chorley Road, Swinton

Councillors are requested to ensure that their electronic equipment is on silent 
during Council meetings. Approval is given to officers and councillors to use 
social media during the business of council, subject to the protocol and social 
media policy.

It is suggested there be a 15 minute break commencing at approximately 
10.50 am, or at a more appropriate time during proceedings, as may be 
determined at the meeting.

A G E N D A

1  Any announcements or special business (including the 
submission of any urgent  business) introduced by the 
Chair. 

Public Document Pack



2

2  Apologies for absence 

3  Declaration of Interests 

Disclosure by Members of “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” 
(as defined by The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interests) Regulations 2012), and Members’ “Personal 
Interests” in accordance with paragraph 12.1 of Salford City 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members.   

4  Report of the City Mayor - 2020/21 Revenue Budget and 
Capital Programme 

(Pages 1 - 84)

5  Report of Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
- 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision 
Policy Statement 

(Pages 85 - 158)

6  Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 
2022/23 

(Pages 159 - 206)

7  Salford Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21 (Pages 207 - 228)



3

Notes for Elected Members and Members of the Public

(a) Addressing the Ceremonial Mayor during Council Meetings 

During Council meetings the City Mayor, Elected Members, Officers and members of 
the public shall address the Ceremonial Mayor as “Chair” when speaking at the 
Council meeting. 

(b) Points of Order and Personal Explanations

a) If a Member or Officer stands on a point of order or to give a personal 
explanation:

 the Member shall be heard immediately, and
 any Member or Officer speaking shall sit down.

b) A point of order shall relate only to an alleged irregularity in the constitution or 
conduct of the meeting, and the Member or Officer shall immediately give details of the 
allegation (if possible, identifying any Standing Order or statute considered to have 
been broken).

c) A personal explanation shall only be to clear a misunderstanding of something 
said by the Member or Officer. 

d) The ruling of the Chair on a point of order or a personal explanation shall be at 
his or her discretion.

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014’, 
the press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting.

Miranda Carruthers-Watt
Monitoring Officer 



This page is intentionally left blank



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

1

PART 1
(OPEN TO THE PUBLIC)

ITEM NO.

TO THE CITY COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2020

Subject: 2020/21 REVENUE BUDGET AND CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Recommendations: 

Members are requested to:

1. Note and support the risk assessment of reserves and assumptions made in preparing the 
revenue budget for 2020/21, and accordingly approve a revenue budget of £217.015m

2. Approve in accordance with the formal resolution set out in Appendix 4:

a) a council tax requirement in accordance with section 31A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (LGFA 1992)

b) a basic amount of council tax and an amount for each valuation band in accordance with 
section 31B and 36 of the LGFA 1992

c) an amount of council tax for each valuation band in accordance with section 30 of the 
LGFA 1992

d) an empty property premium in accordance with the Rating (Property in Common 
Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018

3. Approve the HRA budget for 2020/21 as set out in Part 2

4. Request that each Lead Member and Strategic Director monitors expenditure against budget to 
ensure that overall net expenditure is contained within budget, and for the Lead Member for 
Finance and Support Services and the Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer) to report to Overview 
and Scrutiny Board on progress with the budget on a corporate basis

5. Approve a capital programme of £115.789m for 2020/21 and the proposed sources of funding 
as set out in Part 3 and detailed in Appendix 6, and require all capital proposals to be referred 
to the Procurement Board for approval, supported by detailed funding arrangements, prior to 
contractual commitments being made.

6. Approve the treasury management prudential indicators for 2020/21 to 2022/23 as set out in 
Part 4. 

7. Approve the delegation of authority to the Chief Finance Officer (S151 officer) after consultation 
with Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the City Mayor, to make any 
necessary technical adjustments to the figures upon receipt of any further details associated to 
the final Local Government Finance Settlement.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The 2020/21 settlement

The 2020-21 settlement is effectively an extension to the four-year settlement that covered the 
period 2016-17 to 2019-20. With the delay in both the fair funding review and reform of business 
rates, combined with a one-year spending review, it was in effect a stand still settlement. The 
operation of the funding schemes and the values within it have broadly been rolled-over either in 
cash terms from 2019-20 or increased in line with the change in the business rate multiplier.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

2

The one-year Spending Review 2019 included funding changes that affect the 2020-21 settlement. 
National headlines were:

 £1bn additional funding for social care.

 2% adult social care precept, which could generate a further £500m nationally

 Reduction in the maximum increase in core Band D council tax from 2.99% to 1.99%

 Settlement Funding Assessment increases in line with the multiplier (1.63%, £237m)

 Indications of the future direction of local government funding should come from the 
Budget (now expected 11 March 2020), fair funding consultation in Spring and the 
Spending Review 2020 which should follow in Summer.

Protecting the council’s priorities - development of the budget 2020/21

The council’s approach to strategic planning and budget framework planning is set out in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is being considered by council alongside the budget report. 
A three year budget strategy has been developed with the aim of producing balanced budgets in 
2020/21 and 2021/22 with a savings gap in 2022/23 of £3.456m.

The council continues to progress the transformation of services, including the exploration of 
opportunities for increased collaboration with our key partners,

Service group proposals 

(a) Service Reform

The Service Reform budget has reduced by £20.5m since 2010/11, including staffing reductions of 
over 50%. 

A sustainable financial future for the Council will depend on the collection of local taxation – both 
council tax and business rates, in a socially just, fair and responsible way. These principles have 
underpinned a fundamental review and redesign of collection functions over the past two years. 

This redesign and new approach has already contributed significantly to improved in-year collection 
rates – from 90.89% in 2016/17 to 92.17% in 2018/19 for council tax, and from 92.70% in 2016/17 
to 95.67% in 2018/19 for business rates. 

For 2020/21 the budget continues to include the impact of the 0.5% increase to the estimated 
collection rate on council tax and business rates previously approved in 2019/20 budget, equating 
to an annual amount of £1m. As the changing practices are embedded and proven, this will be 
reviewed. 

The directorate continues to explore further digital transformation to improve services including the 
use of artificial intelligence, robotics and machine learning as a way of increasing the efficiency and 
effectiveness of our transactional functions – starting with customer contact, taxation collection, 
human resources, and finance. This will ensure that some of our more straightforward processes 
are automated wherever possible – providing a quicker, easier and better level of service to the 
public, business and our own staff. The priority is very much improving the level of service we 
provide.

No financial savings have been assumed from this work. Instead we are re-investing any 
efficiencies in the capacity and abilities of the staff working in those areas to better meet the needs 
of our residents who might require additional assistance or to focus on the more complex range of 
transactions and processes. For example, we are using robotic process automation, enabled by 
machine learning, to manage the registration of new residential and commercial properties across 
the city – automatically creating addresses, raising council tax or business rate charges, and 
alerting trading standards and building inspectors. 

Page 2



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

3

These reforms are at the centre of creating a more resident focussed, efficient and effective 
customer service ethos at the core of the council. Whilst no savings have been specifically 
assumed, failure to deliver the service changes will mean resources continue to be invested in 
transactional functions rather than directly supporting residents who most need support. This may 
potentially impact on the ability to realise collection targets and in turn present a risk to the 
assumptions underpinning the medium term financial strategy.

In order to deliver the medium term financial strategy, the directorate will continue to work 
cohesively as Service Reform squads providing thought leadership to support People and Place 
directorates in development and delivery of their reform plans.

(b) People

Children’s Services

The budget for children’s services continues to be under pressure due to the cost of placements for 
young people in care and the cost of meeting the needs of the increased number of children and 
young people identified with special educational needs and disabilities which is leading to a major 
overspend on our Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs Block. The CCG committed to £4m 
innovation funding within the integrated fund arrangement which has led to the establishment of key 
innovation programmes with the aim of reducing longer term budget pressures by meeting needs 
differently. 

Route 29 is an offer for young people and their families who are on the edge of care or struggling 
once they are in care. It has been coproduced with young people and revolves around a 
multiagency hub offering high intensity support to enable more young people to have their needs 
met but stay at home or stay in a stable placement. It is hoped that this will lead to less young 
people needing to enter care over time and less placements of young people in out of borough 
placements. The hub opened in February but the way of working has been piloted already with a 
few young people.

The Ealing Model which is an evidence based approach to supporting intensively a small number 
young people with very complex and challenging SEND needs aims to keep those young people 
supported in their own homes.

A new approach to domestic abuse work has been scoped and is now being implemented to 
increase the support available to victims and increase the success of supporting families. The 
neighbourhood model for early help support for families is now well established and is leading to 
effective support at an earlier level of need.

The children’s services budget remains needs led and the large increase in the child population of 
the city over recent years has meant a reduction in the per head available funding for support. The 
remodeling of services to make the best use of available resources is a continued area of focus and 
partnership working with education settings, police, health partners and the community and 
voluntary sector remains vital to deliver the best outcomes possible despite the resource pressures 
faced.

Adult Health and Social Care

The integrated funding arrangements for adult services are well established and have led to 
increased CCG funding to support Adult Social Care over the years of the pooled budget. The Adult 
Social Care budget is overspent by £6.1m but the overspend is addressed though the risk share 
agreement within the pooled arrangements and also the integrated service delivery arrangements 
within the Salford Care Organization managed by Salford Royal Foundation Trust. 

Adult Social Care provision is central to the development of integrated neighbourhood services for 
adults. Linked to the establishment of Primary Care Networks for GP services, the neighbourhood 

Page 3



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

4

model for adult services is developing using a strengths based practice approach. An organization 
has been commissioned to support the development of this way of working and plans are 
progressing well. As the population of Salford ages, new models of support are in development and 
following approval for a new Intermediate Care Unit to support effective discharge from hospital in 
the Autumn, the building work will commence in 2020. Other accommodation options are being 
progressed to support an increase in extra care and supported living opportunities. There remains a 
strong priority to enable people to remain in their own homes and be supported to do so and there 
will be a strong focus in 2020 on the quality of support available to people in their own homes and 
their ability to connect with their communities to minimize the risks of isolation.

Public Health 

Health in Salford is improving, and life expectancy is increasing year on year. However, the gap 
between those areas with the worst and best of health remains a challenge both nationally and 
regionally. Priorities for 2020/21 are included within the Salford Locality Plan 2020-25 to continue to 
work with local organisations and communities to improve people's health and wellbeing and to 
avoid or reduce the risk of illness. 

The council has a statutory responsibility to protect and improve the health of the population and to 
reduce health inequalities. The council receives public health funding, originally through a grant 
from the Department of Health but since 2017 through the Greater Manchester business rates 
retention pilot. Public health funding delivers public health services (some of which are mandated) 
and addresses the wider determinants of health. From 2015, there has been a year-on-year 
reduction to the national public health funding, which has resulted in a cumulative £3.454m 
reduction in Salford. 

The King’s Fund estimates that the reduction in public health spend means that local authority 
spending per head on key prevention services has fallen by almost a quarter in real terms between 
2014/15 and 2019/20. This is in addition to council savings of over £900,000 which have been 
realised mainly through non-renewal of contracts and re-specification of services.

The majority of public health funding in Salford is now included within the integrated fund 
arrangements for health and social care for adults and children. This helps to prioritise prevention 
spend on areas most needed and mitigates the impact of reducing resources on the most 
vulnerable and on health inequalities. 

Place

The Place Service Group’s remit is to drive forward the council’s economic growth agenda through 
economic regeneration and to deliver services that touch almost every aspect of residents’ daily 
lives, from highly visible activities like bin collections and street cleaning to issuing various licenses 
and other regulatory work.

Over the last 6 years the service group’s budget has been reduced by £22m. Within this period the 
council has recognised the importance of vital services in key areas such as street cleansing, the 
up keep of parks and opens spaces, leisure, planning and building control and as such has 
continued to invest in these services. 

For 2020/2021, we will continue to:

 Maximise the use of technology in meeting the needs of residents and operational 
responsiveness, with a clear focus on customer outcomes that will drive efficiencies.

 Generate income across our commercial services.

 Deliver effective re-procurement and contract management negotiations in buying 
products and services. 

Page 4



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

5

 Secure further investment and funding to facilitate and enable new infrastructure and 
development into the city, generating further council tax and business rates.

Page 5



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

6

The Budget Report
This report sets out the specific proposals for the 2020/21 revenue budget and council tax, housing 
revenue account (HRA) budget, capital programme and prudential borrowing limits and is produced 
in 5 parts:

Part 1 2020/21 revenue budget and council tax

 Identifies that the outturn for 2019/20 is expected to show a break even position 
against the budget, with general reserves expected to remain at £13.2m.

 Sets out the key factors taken into consideration in determining the budget and council 
tax, resulting in a proposed 3.99% increase in council tax for Salford’s services 
which includes an additional 2% for adult social care. This gives a band D council tax of 
£1,640.26 for the council’s services of which £143.42 relates to the cumulative precept 
for adult social care.

 Sets out the details of the government finance settlement for 2020/21 for Salford, which 
gives increase in settlement funding on a like-for-like basis of 7.8%.

 Identifies that, taking into account a 3.99% council tax increase and government 
resources from the settlement funding process, total net resources of £217.015m are 
available to deliver the desired outcomes for 2020/21. 

 Identifies that savings totalling £9.812m will be required to ensure that net expenditure 
is contained within the available net resources.

 Recognises that the council continues to maintain its financial health by retaining a 
sufficient level of reserves that is supported by a risk assessment.

 Notes the proposed Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept of £208.30 at 
band D (£198.30 in 2019/20) and Mayoral general precept (including fire services) of 
£90.95 at band D (£76.95 in 2019/20).

 Proposes that overall council tax will be £1,292.99 at band A and £1,939.51 at band D, 
an overall increase of £57.95 (band A) and £86.94 (band D) on 2019/20. Single person 
households will pay 25% less.

Part 2 2019/20 HRA Revenue Budget

 Identifies that the estimated outturn expenditure for 2019/20 is expected to provide a 
contribution to HRA reserves of £1.845m and consequently the balances held in 
reserve at 31 March 2020 are forecast to be £7.856m. 

 Identifies that the City Mayor has approved a 2.7% increase in rents for 2020/21 based 
upon the government’s formula of CPI plus 1%.

Part 3 Capital Strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23

 Identifies that funding is available for a capital programme of £115.789m in 2020/21.

 Identifies that general unsupported borrowing of £20.937m will be used in support and 
the capital financing charges on that unsupported borrowing can be met from the 
revenue budget.  Provision for the revenue financing costs of unsupported borrowing 
has been made in the 2020/21 revenue budget and future budget planning. Total 
borrowing, including for invest to save or self-financing purposes, will be £54.741m.

 Identifies the priorities for investment to be met from that available funding.

Page 6



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

7

Part 4 Prudential Indicators for 2020/21 to 2022/23

 Identifies the prudential limits for the next three years required to be set in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2003 and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
produced by CIPFA. These indicate the affordability of the council’s capital expenditure 
and borrowing plans from the revenue budget and housing rents, together with the 
limits that will be adopted in the management of the council’s borrowing and 
investments.

Part 5 Summary of Recommendations and Appendices

 Contains a summary of the recommendations and detailed supporting information, 
including the formal resolutions relating to the setting of the council tax levy for 2020/21 
to comply with the Local Government Finance Act 1992 at Appendix 4.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Local government finance settlement 

Working papers held in the finance division.

KEY DECISION: YES

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:

Budget Strategy, Mayoral team priorities, Business Plans

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

As part of this decision making process, the Public Sector Equality Duty Decision requires council 
staff and elected members to consider what will be the impact on people with protected 
characteristics, whether in the wider city or in our own organisation. The Council needs to 
understand who will be affected, how will they be affected and where possible how to minimise 
unintended negative consequences by planning in mitigations from the start. 

This report sets out the Mayor’s budget proposals for Full Council to set the budget. Some 
proposals will need further development for Cabinet to make a specific decision. For these 
proposals a relevance check is required and, where it is indicated as needed by the relevance 
check, a full Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken to inform the City Mayor when 
making that decision

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:

Paragraph 1.20 in Part 1 of this report contains an assessment by the Chief Finance Officer (s151 
officer) of the risks associated with the revenue budget and Appendix 2 contains a risk assessment 
of the adequacy of reserves expected to be held at 31 March 2021. 

Page 7



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

8

1. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: Miranda Carruthers-Watt – Assistant Director Legal and Governance

The budget approval procedure under the City Mayor arrangements is that the City Mayor and 
Cabinet recommend the budget calculations (as set in Appendix 6) to council for approval. If the 
majority of council does not approve the budget calculations, they are referred back to the City 
Mayor who should then present alternative budget calculations. The council can only further reject 
the alternative budget calculations by a two thirds majority. The budget must be fixed by 11 March.

The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a statutory responsibility of the 
Council. The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the Council is 
making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to the report of the chief 
finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 

The financial position must be closely monitored and in particular, members must satisfy 
themselves that sufficient mechanisms are in place to ensure the delivery of savings as well as to 
ensure that any new expenditure is contained within the available resources. 

This means that any proposals put forward must identify the realistic measures and mechanisms to 
produce those savings. Consultation has taken place in accordance with the Council’s duties under 
section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. The responses provided are attached as 
appendix to this report. 

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted in the preparation of this report and is satisfied that the 
proposals set out in this report satisfy the constitutional and legal requirements (see section 1.20) 
for the budget setting process. Further legal advice will be sought for specific proposals during the 
implementation phase which may need a specific consultation process. The consultation process, 
including the Council’s consideration of the responses, is required to comply with the following 
overarching obligations (unless detailed statutory rules supplant these): 1. Consultation must be at 
a time when proposals are at a formative stage. 2. The proposer must give sufficient reasons for its 
proposals to allow consultees to understand them and respond to them properly. 3. Consulters 
must give sufficient time for responses to be made and considered. 4. Responses must be 
conscientiously taken into account in finalising the decision. 

Members must have adequate evidence on which to base their decisions on the level of quality at 
which services should be provided. Where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory duty, it 
would not be lawful to fail to discharge it properly or abandon it, and where there is discretion as to 
how it is to be discharged, that discretion should be exercised reasonably. The report sets out the 
relevant considerations for Members to consider during their deliberations and Members are 
reminded of the need to ignore irrelevant considerations. Members have a duty to seek to ensure 
that the Council acts lawfully. Members must not come to a decision which no reasonable authority 
could come to; balancing the nature, quality and level of services which they consider should be 
provided, against the costs of providing such services. 

There is a particular requirement to take into consideration the Council’s fiduciary duty and the 
public sector equality duty in coming to its decision. The public sector equality duty is that a public 
authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: (1) eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the 
Equality Act 2010; (2) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and (3) foster good relations between 
persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it Any 
decision made in the exercise of any function is potentially open to challenge if the duty has been 
disregarded. The duty applies both to Full Council when setting the budget and to Cabinet when 
considering particular decisions. 

Members are also individually reminded that Section 106 of the Local Government Finance Act 

Page 8



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

9

1992 applies to this meeting. Members who are two months or more in arrears with their Council 
Tax must declare this to the meeting and must not vote on budget recommendations, as to do 
otherwise can be a criminal offence. 

2. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS:

This report has been prepared by the council’s finance team in consultation with strategic directors 
and heads of service, and contains full financial implications around the budget, council tax and 
housing rent setting.

Contact officers:

Joanne Hardman – telephone no. 793 3156

e-mail: joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk

Chris Hesketh - telephone no. 793 2668

e-mail: chris.hesketh@salford.gov.uk

Tony Thompstone - telephone no. 793 2016

e-mail: tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk

Paul Hutchings (HRA) - telephone no. 793 2574

e-mail: paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk

Alex Archer (capital) – telephone no. 778 0498

e-mail: alex.archer@salford.gov.uk

3. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: Anthony Hilton – Strategic Head of Procurement

The procurement team will continue to work collaboratively with stakeholders and partner 
organisations and work closely with all stakeholders to deliver improved outcomes, ensuring that 
financial savings linked to procurement activity are delivered, captured and reported to enable 
ongoing efficiencies to be maximised.

4. HUMAN RESOURCES: Sam Betts – Assistant Director (Human Resources and Organisational 
Development)

The HR & OD team will continue to work closely with service directorates to redesign services in 
response to public service reform, place based delivery, new and emerging technologies and new 
ways of working. Ensuring appropriate workforce development plans are in place to ensure we have 
people in the right place with the right skills maximising the opportunities that the apprenticeship 
levy provides. 

Page 9

mailto:joanne.hardman@salford.gov.uk
mailto:paula.summersfield@salford.gov.uk
mailto:tony.thompstone@salford.gov.uk
mailto:paul.hutchings@salford.gov.uk
mailto:chris.mee@salford.gov.uk


2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Executive summary 

10

5.CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:

Michael Hemingway – Principal Officer Climate Change 

The revenue and capital budget supports the Council’s efforts to both mitigate and adapt to climate 
change in line with the council’s commitments through the 5 Year Environment Plan for Greater 
Manchester and in the light of the Climate Emergency the council declared in July 2019. The 
budget is supporting capital works to retrofit LED lighting; Install PV on council buildings; Support 
the Unlocking Clean Energy in GM programme which will see Salford CC develop a solar farm and 
hydro-electric Scheme and supports energy efficiency improvements in homes through the 
affordable warmth programme. The budget also supports adaptation to deal with more extreme 
weather made more likely because of Climate Change including Flood Risk Management.

WARD(S) TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:

All wards

Page 10



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Contents 

11

1 Table of Contents
PART 1................................................................................................................................................1
The Budget Report ..............................................................................................................................6
1 Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 2020/21 .................................................14

1.1 The strategic planning and budget framework process...................................................15
1.2 Review of 2019/20 financial performance .......................................................................15
1.3 The medium-term financial strategy ................................................................................16
1.4 Level of general reserves 31 March 2020.......................................................................17
1.5 The local government finance settlement 2020/21..........................................................17
1.6 Other government funding - New Homes Bonus (NHB)..................................................20
1.7 Other government funding - Schools funding..................................................................21
1.8 Other government funding - Public Health ......................................................................24
1.9 Other government funding - adult social care .................................................................25
1.10 Levies and charges .........................................................................................................25
1.11 Council tax.......................................................................................................................26
1.12 Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS) ...................................................................27
1.13 Collection Fund ...............................................................................................................29
1.14 Summary of total available resources .............................................................................31
1.15 2020/21 spending requirement........................................................................................32
1.16 Savings requirement - bridging the budget gap ..............................................................33
1.17 2020/21 balanced budget projection and assumptions ...................................................34
1.18 Reserves .........................................................................................................................36
1.19 The council tax levy.........................................................................................................38
1.20 Budget assumptions and risks ........................................................................................40
1.21 Legal considerations .......................................................................................................45

2 Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue budget 2020/21 .................................47
2.1 Introduction......................................................................................................................48
2.2 Housing priorities.............................................................................................................48
2.3 Review of 2019/20...........................................................................................................49
2.4 The 2020/21 estimate......................................................................................................49
2.5 Recommendation ............................................................................................................51

3 Part 3 Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 and Capital programme 2020/21 .......................52
3.1 Purpose and aims ...........................................................................................................53
3.2 Objectives........................................................................................................................53
3.3 Key Principles..................................................................................................................53
3.4 Capital expenditure .........................................................................................................54
3.5 Development Capital Investment Projects ......................................................................55
3.6 Funding Streams.............................................................................................................55
3.7 Governance arrangements..............................................................................................56
3.8 Knowledge and Skills ......................................................................................................57
3.9 Review of 2019/20...........................................................................................................58

Page 11



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Contents 

12

3.10 Capital expenditure proposals 2020/21...........................................................................58
3.11 Capital expenditure proposals 2021-2023.......................................................................60
3.12 Underlying assumptions ..................................................................................................61
3.13 Risks................................................................................................................................61

4 Part 4 Prudential indicators 2020/21 to 2022/23 ....................................................................62
4.1 Background .....................................................................................................................63
4.2 Prudential limits 2020/21 to 2022/23 ...............................................................................63

5 Part 5 Summary of recommendations ....................................................................................65
6 Appendices.............................................................................................................................66
Appendix 1 2019/20 financial performance.......................................................................................68
Appendix 2 - Risk assessment of general reserves ..........................................................................71
Appendix 3 2020/21 revenue budget ................................................................................................77
Appendix 4 Formal resolutions - 2020/21 council tax........................................................................79
Appendix 5 Housing revenue account (HRA) forecast outturn 2019/20 and budget 2020/21 ..........81
Appendix 6 2020/21 Capital programme - by service .......................................................................82

Page 12



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Introduction

13

Introduction

This report is presented in 5 main parts and is designed to pull together the key components of the 
council’s budget into a single document.

It is also presented in this format in order to ensure that interrelated decisions between the revenue 
budget and the capital programme, and between the general fund and HRA revenue budgets, are 
taken at the same time and can be seen to be consistent between the different funding sources.

Finally, it also allows the requirement for the council to set three year forward prudential indicators 
under the Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance to be 
integrated with the budget setting process, as required by the Code.

Parts 1 to 4 seek the approval of members of the council to the following:

Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 2020/21 14

Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue budget 2020/21 47

Part 3 Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 and Capital programme 52

Part 4 Prudential indicators 2020/21 to 2022/23 62

In addition

Part 5 Summary of recommendations 65

Page 13



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

14

1 Part 1 The revenue budget and council tax levy for 
2020/21

Page 14



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

15

1.1 The strategic planning and budget framework process

1.1.1 The council’s approach to strategic planning and budget framework planning is set out in 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, which is being considered by council alongside the 
budget report.  A three year budget strategy has been developed with the aim of 
smoothing the impact of changes to local authority funding over the life of the strategy – 
this produces balanced budgets in 2020/21 and 2021/22 with a forecast savings gap in 
2022/23 of £3.456m.

1.2 Review of 2019/20 financial performance

1.2.1 On 27 February, 2019, the council set a budget for 2019/20 of £205.241m with an 
expectation that un-earmarked, general reserves at 31 March 2020 would be £13.2m. 

1.2.2 Throughout 2019/20, the Overview and Scrutiny Board has received regular reports on 
expenditure against the 2019/20 budget and forecast outturn, together with an update on 
the approved savings programme. The overall forecast full year position as at 30 
November 2019, is summarised in the table below and set out in detail in Appendix 1 

£'000 £'000

People (Children’s) - GF 0.364
People (Adults) -
Place 0.133
Service Reform (0.221)
Public Health (0.276)
Integrated Fund - Risk Share 4.914
Precepts and Charges -
Capital Financing (1.645)
Net cost of services 3.269

Centrally held items:
Call on central budgets (3.269)

(3.269)
Projected overall position 0 
Approved use of general reserves 0 
Estimated outturn variation 0 

2019/20 variations from the approved budget
Over/(under)spend

1.2.3 The forecast overall position is a balanced budget. However, as indicated above there has 
been a significant budget pressure within the integrated fund – risk share.  The majority of 
children’s and adults (adult social care) expenditure is incurred via joint commissioning 
arrangement through the integrated fund.  The position of the integrated fund is detailed in 
paragraph 1.2.7.

1.2.4 The council has been able to avoid resorting to the use of general balances by using the 
receipt of Manchester Airport Group income in excess of estimates, releasing residual 
central budgets related to pay and price increases and grant funding, releasing the 
balance of social care grant money held centrally and making savings within treasury 
managem80ent from the re-profiling of capital spend.

Page 15



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

16

1.2.5 The forecast year end position is based on projections as at the end of November 2019 
and is subject to potential fluctuations by year end. Any further major variation in service 
group expenditure is expected to be made good in 2020/21 and therefore there should not 
be a continuing impact on the budget.

1.2.6 The schools budget funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is projected to have an 
in-year negative variation of £5.313m at the year end. This variance is mainly due to 
pressures within the High Needs block resulting from increasing demand and additional 
council statutory duties for 19 to 25 year olds as a result of the Children’s and Families Act 
for which no additional funding has been provided by central government. The outturn 
variance will be carried forward and will be an added pressure to the High Needs block in 
2020/21. A recovery plan, developed during 2019/20, sets out how financial pressures 
could be managed and is subject to further discussion with the relevant government 
department. 

Integrated fund

1.2.7 In 2019/20 the Council and Salford CCG expanded its pooled budget arrangements 
through the creation of an integrated fund covering a range of Children’s, Adults and 
Primary Care services. Both Adults and Children’s social care services continue to face 
significant pressures, however, the financial impact of these pressures is shared with 
Salford CCG under the terms of the risk share agreement. The risk sharing split between 
the council and CCG of the combined budgets is shown below, with the impact upon the 
Council revenue budget in 2019/20.

Forecast 
Overspend

Service £m % £m % £m
Children's 6.651 68% 4.517 32% 2.134
Adults 1.876 21% 0.397 79% 1.479
Total 8.527 4.914 3.613

Salford Council Salford CCG

1.2.8 Children’s services forecast an adverse position of £6.7m largely due to the continued 
demand pressures within the looked after children areas of the budget. The most 
significant drivers of this pressure are outside placements (£4.7m) and in house Foster 
Care and Children’s homes provision (£1.4m). The service has implemented new models 
of service delivery such as Route 29 which should help to stabilise and then reduce 
demand going forwards. However, in the short term the council will contribute £4.5m 
towards the forecast overspend of £6.7m with the CCG meeting 32% of the financial 
pressure.

1.2.9 Adult social care services face pressures of £6.1m with a forecast adverse net position of 
£1.9m on the integrated fund. Should this be the position at year end the council would be 
expected to contribute approximately £0.4m towards the net overspend with the CCG 
meeting the remaining pressure.

1.3 The medium-term financial strategy 

1.3.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) takes a three year view from 2020/2021 to 
2022/2023 and links the revenue budget, capital programme and treasury management 
strategy. The MTFS sets how the City Council will fund Salford’s ambitions and priorities. 
The MTFS is the central document for our future financial planning:

 Plays a key role in the council’s annual budget setting process – the MTFS sets the 
financial and wider context in which the council’s annual resource allocation and 
budget setting is considered

Page 16



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

17

 Ensures the budget and our future financial plans are in line with Salford priorities

 Covers a three year period but is updated and reviewed regularly and will be approved 
annually by Council

 Identifies sustainable, alternative and increased sources of income
1.3.2 The strategy is a separate document that is considered by council alongside the budget 

report.

1.3.3 There is a degree of uncertainty about local government funding after 2020/21 with a 
business rate reset, a new fair funding model and a spending review all impacting on the 
resources available to the council.

1.4 Level of general reserves 31 March 2020

1.4.1 The level of non-earmarked general reserves as at 31 March 2020 is estimated to be as 
follows.

£m
Balance as at 31 March 2019 13.2
Add:
Planned call on reserves in 19/20 0.0
Estimated balance as at 31 March 2020 13.2

General fund reserves

1.4.2 Section 25(1) (b) of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the chief finance officer (or 
“s151 officer”) to report to the authority on the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves. Guidance from CIPFA is that local authorities, on the advice of their chief finance 
officer, should make their own judgement on a minimum level of reserves, taking account 
of the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the authority. 

1.4.3 A risk assessment has therefore been undertaken to establish what should be a minimum 
level of general reserves for Salford. The details are provided at Appendix 2. While the 
assessment is not an exact science, and views may differ on what constitute key financial 
risks and their evaluation, the assessment indicates that the level of general reserves 
during 2020/21 should range between a minimum of £12.7m and a desirable target of 
£22.1m.

1.4.4 A reserves strategy, which potentially can include the potential use of reserves in support 
of the revenue budget, is considered later in this report and in the MTFS.

1.4.5 The projected level of reserves at paragraph 1.4.1 above does not include balances 
related to Dedicated Schools Grant as outlined in 1.2.6 above. As outlined above, work will 
be ongoing in 2020/21 to address the current deficit and ongoing budget pressures.

1.5 The local government finance settlement 2020/21

1.5.1 The government published its provisional settlement on 20 December 2019. Following 
consultation, the final settlement was published on 6 February 2020, with confirmation 
expected in late February following a parliamentary debate. There were no material 
changes affecting Salford between the provisional and final settlement. The headlines of 
the settlement and its impact on Salford are set out below. The public health grant for 
2020/21 has not been announced yet, so the figures used are the government’s place-
holders, based on 2019/20 allocations.

Page 17



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

18

National headlines

1.5.2 The 2020/21 settlement funding assessment indicated a headline rise of 1.5% in local 
authority funding. 

 

2019/20 2020/21
£m £m £m %

Local share 15,305 14,586 -719
Revenue Support Grant 653 1,612 959
Settlement Funding Assessment 15,958 16,198 240 1.5%

National Data - 2020/21 settlement
Change 

1.5.3 Other key headlines in the settlement are as follows:

 an increase to RSG of 1.63%

 upholding the decision to eliminate "negative RSG" in 2020-21

 maintaining Rural Services Grant in 2020-21 at £81m

 confirming the proposals for Council Tax referendum limits for 2020/21 as 2% core 
increase and 2% adult social care precept

 an additional £1 billion Social Care Grant for adult and children's service whilst 
maintaining improved Better Care funding at 2019-20 levels

 New homes bonus to continue in 2020/2021 however there is no commitment to pay 
related legacy payments in future years.  The government announced a further review 
of the scheme with consultation to be undertaken in Spring 2020. 

Local headlines

1.5.4 The headlines for the council are as follows:

Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) – revenue support grant, business rates 
growth and top up.

 Settlement Funding Assessment increase of 1.3%

 Like-for-like increase in SFA from 2019/20 £1.5m

Council tax 

 Referendum limit 2%

 Adult social care precept 2% 

Spending power 

 Spending power +7.8%

 Net increase in spending power +£19.2m

 (spending power is SFA plus council tax plus NHB plus Improved Better Care Fund 
plus social care grants)

Schools funding 

 DSG +6.6% 

Page 18



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

19

 Increased by £10.5m

Social care grants 

 New social care grant £5.8m 

 £2.3m social care support grant rolled into social care grant to give a new social care 
grant total of £8.1m

 £1.3m winter pressures rolled into improved better care fund grant

 Continuation of improved better care fund existing allocations at £12.4m
1.5.5 The council, along with other Greater Manchester authorities, is a 100% BR retention pilot. 

As such, its local share of business rates includes sums that for non-pilot local authorities 
would be distributed separately as RSG and public health grant.  The council is not 
disadvantaged by this, as shown below:

Unadjusted 100% pilot Difference
£m £m £m

Business rates baseline
SCC Local share 38.529 77.843 39.314
Top up grant 34.104 35.811 1.707
Total 72.633 113.654 41.021

Revenue Support Grant 
RSG before grant adjustments 20.810 0.000 -20.810

Settlement funding assessment 93.443 113.654 20.211

PH grant 20.211 0.000 -20.211

Total 113.654 113.654 0.000

SCC Data 2020/21 Settlement

1.5.6 The change from last year’s settlement is shown below.

SCC Data 2020/21 Settlement
2019/20 2020/21

£m £m £m %
Business rates baseline:
SCC Local share 76.595 77.843 1.248 1.6%
Top up grant 35.561 35.811 0.250 0.7%
Total 112.156 113.654 1.498 1.3%

Revenue Support Grant 
RSG before grant adjustments 0.000 0.000 0.000 na

Settlement funding assessment 112.156 113.654 1.498 1.3%

Annual change - like for like

1.5.7 Overall, the one year financial settlement was better than had been assumed in medium 
term projections which had reflected a continuing reduction in revenue support grant based 
upon year on year reductions since 2010.. 

Page 19



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

20

Core Spending Power

1.5.8 The government continues to use its core spending power calculations to report the 
changes in councils funding. The figures for the council are given in the following table. 
The council increase of 7.8% compares to a national increase of 6.3%. In the 2020/21 
Salford has done relatively well because of the growth of the council tax base and new 
homes bonus but 1% of the increase is due to an overestimate of the actual growth in the 
council’s tax base in the government’s calculation of core spending power.

 

2019/20 2020/21 Change 
£m £m %

Settlement Funding Assessment        112.156        113.654 
Compensation for under-indexing BR multiplier            2.329            2.911 
Council Tax Requirement        107.909        116.461 
New Homes Bonus            6.046            8.691 
Improved Better Care Fund          12.355          13.673 
Adult Social Care Support Grant                 -                   -   
Winter pressures Grant            1.318                 -   
Social Care Support Grant            2.251 
Social Care Grant            8.124 

       244.364        263.514 7.84%

Spending Power Calculation

1.5.9 The government’s calculation of core spending power as the headline figure in its reporting 
of local government funding is misleading. It does not demonstrate the impacts of 
inflationary increases and the increasing demands on services, which increase councils’ 
requirement to spend just to maintain a continuing service. 

1.6 Other government funding - New Homes Bonus (NHB)

1.6.1 The new homes bonus is to continue for another year but, based upon the government’s 
recent announcements, it is likely to be phased out in its current form by 2023/24. The 
government is to consult on the future of the housing incentive in the Spring. There is a 
significant risk that Salford will not receive an equivalent level of funding from any 
replacement scheme. 

1.6.2 The major change in NHB for 2020/21 is that the new amounts earned in Year 10 will only 
attract an NHB reward for one year in 2020/21. In the following year 2021/22, rewards will 
only be paid in respect of years 8 and 9, and in year 2022-23 only for year 9. NHB will 
effectively end by 2023/24.

1.6.3 The allocation of New Homes Bonus to Salford is set out in the table below.

 
New Homes Bonus funding 
Build year 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£m £m £m £m
Year 6, 2016/17 1.655
Year 7, 2017/18 0.743 0.743
Year 8, 2018/19 1.881 1.881 1.881
Year 9, 2019/20 1.767 1.767 1.767 1.767
Year 10, 2020/21 4.300
Totals 6.046 8.691 3.648 1.767

Page 20



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

21

1.7 Other government funding - Schools funding

1.7.1 School funding is provided by a ring-fenced specific grant, the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG), which is paid by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) to local 
authorities.

1.7.2 While the overall Dedicated Schools budget has increased, this increase has largely been 
in the Schools and High Needs blocks, partly as a result of the continued pupil growth 
within both mainstream and special schools within the city and the impact of the increase 
in funding announced in 2019 spending review of £2.6bn. There has been significant 
pressure on the High Needs block since 2017/18 caused by both increased demand and 
additional council statutory duties for 19 to 25 year olds as a result of the Children’s and 
Families Act for which no additional funding has been provided by central government. 
These pressures have continued in 2019/20, alongside additional pressures within the 
Early Years block resulting from National Funding formula changes and the restrictions on 
funding which can be centrally retained.

1.7.3 DSG funds have to either be delegated to schools or used for centrally retained services 
for pupils. Local authorities are required to provide returns on both the budget and outturn 
DSG to demonstrate that the grant has been allocated and expended within the overall 
grant conditions.

1.7.4 There have been changes to the distribution methodology of the DSG since 2013-14 to 
reflect the first phase of school funding reforms. The reforms affect the whole of the school 
funding system, including funding for local authority maintained schools, early years 
providers, local authority centrally retained budgets, academies, free schools and post 16 
special educational needs provision. The government’s central priority of the reforms is to 
simplify and standardise local school funding arrangements, ahead of the introduction of a 
national funding formula. The introduction of the national formula was originally intended 
for 2015/16 but has been delayed for various reasons. The full implementation has been 
delayed to 2021/22. 

1.7.5 The DSG allocation to the city council for 2020/21 has been allocated based on a rate per 
pupil for Primary of £4,355 (£4,178 2019/20) and Secondary of £5,642 (£5,378 2019/20) in 
the schools block .The full time equivalent per pupil amount for the early years block is 
£4,351 (£4,275 2019/20), which is an increase from 2019/20 of £76. As detailed above the 
high needs block is now based on the National Funding Formula.

1.7.6 Salford’s indicative DSG for 2020-21, based on the October 2019 pupil numbers for the 
schools block, an estimated allocation for the early years block and a cash sum for the 
high needs block, is set out below. 

Page 21



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

22

DSG block allocations

Note 2019-20 2020-21
Block Revised allocation Initial allocation Increase

£m £m £m

Schools block 161.692 171.378 9.686

Early years block 1,2 19.188 19.507 0.319

High needs block 28.016 31.486 3.470

Central Schools Services Block 2.781 2.444 -0.337
sub-total 211.677 224.815 13.138

Grand Total 211.677 224.815 13.138

Notes

1

2

The 2019/209 allocation is provisionally based on the January 2019 pupil census only. It will be adjusted 
in July 2020 to reflect (7/12ths of) the January 2020 census.

The 2020/21 allocation is provisionally based on the January 2019 pupil census. It will be adjusted in July 
2020 to reflect the January 2020 census (5/12ths of) and again in July 2021 to reflect the January 2021 
census (7/12ths)

1.7.7 The allocation is provisional and, as noted in the table above, subject to a number of 
changes. 

1.7.8 The main factors contributing to the increase in DSG are:

 Increase in pupil numbers and places.

 National schools funding uplift announced in 2019 spending review
1.7.9 The changes are analysed in more detail below.

Page 22



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

23

DSG increase 2019-20 to 2020-21
(excluding non-block funding)

£m £m
2019-20 revised allocation 211.677

Increases in schools block:
Pupil number growth 2.365
Schools Funding Uplift 7.321

9.686

National 20% reduction in historic commitments funding
-0.337 -0.337

Increases/Decreases in early years block
Increase in hourly rate for both 2 and 3/4 year old funding 0.319

0.319

Increases/Decreases in high needs block:
Increase in Special School Pupils 0.464
Impact of implementation NFF 3.006

3.470

2020-21 initial allocation 224.815

1.7.10 Two year old funding has moved to participation funding from 2015/16 based on the 
January census of children accessing funded places. Salford’s initial allocation for 2020/21 
is based on January 2019 census and is based on an hourly rate of £5.38. The allocation 
will be updated to reflect January 2020 and 2021 census information.

1.7.11 There is protection in place, in the form of a guaranteed minimum amount LAs will receive 
per pupil in 2020/21. It is calculated by dividing the schools block adjusted baseline total by 
the LAs 2019/20 schools block pupil count (without the deductions for pupils in high needs 
places).

1.7.12 There is a degree of protection in place for schools with falling budgets. The minimum 
funding guarantee (MFG) per pupil for schools is set at +1.84% for 2020-21 (was 0% in 
2019/20). For schools where pupil numbers are reducing, aggregate budgets can still fall in 
excess of this amount.

1.7.13 The Pupil Premium targets additional money at pupils from the most deprived backgrounds 
to help them achieve their full potential. The pupil premium is in addition to DSG funding 
and is calculated based on pupil eligibility for free school meals using the “Ever 6” measure 
(any pupil eligible for free school meals on any of the previous six years) and eligible 
service children and post looked after children  based on the January 2020 school census 
(excludes nursery pupils). In addition, there will be funding for looked-after children as 
recorded on the council’s looked after children return as at 31st March 2020.

1.7.14 Schools have the freedom to spend the Pupil Premium, which is additional to the schools 
budget, in any way they think best to support the raising of attainment for the most 
vulnerable pupils.

1.7.15 The Pupil Premium rates for 2020/21 have been announced and they are shown below:

 Primary schools free school meals Ever 6 rate £1,345 (2019/20 rate was £1,320)

 Secondary schools free school meals Ever 6 rate £955 (2019/20 rate was £935)

 Primary and secondary schools looked after children rate £2,345 (2019/20 rate was 
£2,300

Page 23



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

24

 Primary and secondary schools post looked after children rate £2,345 (2019/20 rate 
was £2,300

 Primary and secondary schools service children rate £310 (2019/20 rate was £300)
1.7.16 Early Years Pupil Premium (EYPP) was introduced in 2015/16. 3 and 4-year-olds in state-

funded early education will attract EYPP funding if they meet certain criteria.

1.7.17 Children must be eligible for free early education in order to attract EYPP funding. They 
will become eligible at different points in the year depending on when they turn 3. 

1.7.18 Salford’s indicative EYPP allocation for 2020-21 is £0.249m.

1.7.19 In addition to the schools budgets, the DSG also funds some central activities e.g. pupil 
referral units, early years provision, high cost special educational needs pupils. Any 
under/over spending in these areas in 2019/20 will be carried to the 2020/21 financial year 
and adjusts the overall funds available for use in that year.

1.7.20 The council also receives capital grant allocations from DfE in respect of schools. These 
are:

 Basic need allocation, £9.840m for 2020/21, (nil in 2019/20) based upon DfE 
calculation of need to create placements.

 Capital maintenance indicative allocation £1.6m, (£1.6m in 2019/20).

 Devolved formula capital grant, indicative allocation £0.4m (£0.4m in 2019/20).

Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant

1.7.21 The government makes a grant allocation to fund free meals for children in reception, year 
1 and year 2 in state-funded schools. Whilst no details of 2020/21 allocations / rate per 
pupil have yet been released, it is anticipated that the council will continue to receive 
universal infant free school meals grant in 2020/21, at the same rate as in previous years 
of £2.30 per pupil per day. The allocation is based on the average number of meals 
recorded in the October 2020 and January 2021 school censuses.

1.8 Other government funding - Public Health

1.8.1 The majority of public health commissioning responsibilities transferred from the NHS to 
local authorities in April 2013.  These responsibilities contain a set of mandated services 
which include population healthcare advice to the NHS, the national child measurement 
programme, sexual health services and cardiovascular health checks.

1.8.2 In addition to the transfer explained above, with effect from 1st October 2015, the 
responsibility for the commissioning of 0-5 public health services transferred from NHS 
England to local authorities. This involves the commissioning of health visitors and the 
Family Nurse Partnership.

1.8.3 The public health grant has been subject to reductions over recent years with a £3.454m 
reduction from the 2015/16 grant allocation (re-based to reflect the full year effect of the 
transfer of commissioning responsibilities for 0-5 public health services) to the 2019/20 
grant allocation which was rolled into 100% Business Rates retention in 2017/18.  The 
Spending Round 2019 indicated a real terms increase to the public health grant in 2020/21 
however confirmation of the 2020/21 allocation has not yet been provided.

Page 24



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

25

1.9 Other government funding - adult social care

Local Reform and Community Voices Grant and Social Care in Prisons Grant

1.9.1 Local Reform and Community Voices (LRCV) and Social Care in Prisons (SCiP) grants 
provide funding for a number of additional duties and responsibilities of local authorities, 
arising from the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

1.9.2 The LRCV grant allocation for 2020/21 has not yet been confirmed (2019/20 £189k). It will 
provide funding to support Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS) in hospitals, Local 
Healthwatch and the Independent Complaints Advocacy Service.

1.9.3 The SCiP grant allocation for 2020/21 has not yet been confirmed (2019/20 £180k) It will 
provide funding for meeting the care needs of offenders.

Better Care Fund / Integrated Fund for Health and Social Care 

1.9.4 The Better Care Fund (BCF) supports the transformation and integration of health and 
social care services and improves outcomes for patients, service users and carers.

1.9.5 The BCF/improved BCF plan for Salford will be presented in the context of the integrated 
care system. The four partners: Salford City Council, NHS Salford CCG, Salford Royal 
NHS Foundation Trust and Greater Manchester Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust 
develop a Service and Financial Plan for the integrated care programme which 
incorporates the use of BCF.

1.9.6 From 2019/20 expanded integration arrangements have been in place.  These integrated 
arrangements incorporate BCF and are set out in more detail at section 1.20.21.

Independent Living Fund (ILF)

1.9.7 The council received £0.786m ILF funding in 2019/20. The provisional local government 
finance settlement has confirmed the total value and individual local authority allocations of 
the grant will be maintained at 2019/20 values. The 2020/21 budget assumes that the 
grant will be allocated to adult social care for this specific purpose, will be sufficient to fund 
commitments and will enable the council to discharge its ILF responsibilities.

Social care grants

1.9.8 The council receives funding to address demand in social care. The grants are non-
recurrent pending the government’s forthcoming green paper on social care funding. It is 
not a viable long term solution to the critical national problem of social care funding.

1.9.9 Part of the grant is distributed to local authorities on an assessment of need. The council 
will receive £8.1m social care grant funding and improved better care funding of £13.7m. 
Both grants will be deployed via the integrated fund for health and social care.  

1.10 Levies and charges

1.10.1 The council contributes its share to the costs of the following bodies:

 Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA)

 Waste levy

 Transport levy

 Economic development and regeneration functions

Page 25



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

26

 AGMA functions

 DEFRA Environment Agency
Bus reform

1.10.2 The financial case for the bus reform proposals include a full assessment of how the 
GMCA could afford to make and operate the proposed scheme. The assessment set out a 
range of credible funding sources which exceed the net modelled costs to operate the 
scheme over the proposed transition period. The assessment also concluded the proposed 
franchising scheme was affordable and would represent value for money. Following the 
audit of the assessment the GMCA agreed in October to commence consultation on the 
proposed franchising scheme which included a proposed funding package.

1.10.3 The forecast net costs over the transition period up to 2024/25 are approximately £134.5m. 
The sources of funding include £78.0m of mayoral ‘earn back’ funds (provided by central 
government as part of Greater Manchester’s Devolution Agreement), £11.0m raised by the 
existing precept as part of the Mayor’s 2019/20 budget for bus reform purposes and 
£22.7m from the mayoral precept in future years budgets, £5m of existing and forecast 
business rates receipts held by GMCA and £17.8m of contributions by Local Authorities as 
a proposed one off increase in the statutory contribution in 2020/21. Any differences 
between the cash-flowed spend and profiled funding requirement will be covered through 
prudential borrowing rather than being an additional funding ask. Discussions are also 
ongoing with Government around their level of support to deliver bus reform which could 
potentially reduce the local funding required including from the mayoral precept.

1.10.4 The full business case will be included in the consultation documentation and includes the 
indicative profile of the costs and funding requirement.

1.10.5 .The actual waste levy for 2020/21 is £19.572m compared with £20.184m in 2019/20. 

1.10.6 The transport levy for 2020/21 is £9.568m and a transport statutory charge of £7.842m for 
a total of £17.410m compared with £17.284m in 2019/20. 

1.10.7 The council’s contribution to the other GMCA functions is expected to be £0.824m in 
2020/21 (£0.800m in 2019/20).

1.10.8 The council will contribute £0.059m to AGMA activities in 2020/21 (£0.072m in 2019/20). 

1.10.9 The Environment Agency levy is estimated to be £0.132m in 2020/21 compared with 
£0.128m in 2019/20. This levy includes the cost of funding new flood defence schemes, 
the maintenance of the river system and existing flood defences together with the 
operation of a flood warning system.

1.11 Council tax

1.11.1 A tax base of 69,945 (68,413 in 2019/20) band D equivalent dwellings was approved by 
the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services on 6 January, 2020 under delegated 
powers, an increase of 1,532 dwellings from 2019/20.

1.11.2 The increase in band D equivalent dwellings is attributable to new developments and a 
reduction in the number of single person discounts. 

1.11.3 The estimated council tax revenue includes the effect of the revised council tax reduction 
scheme under consideration alongside the budget report.

Page 26



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

27

2% council tax increase for adult social care 

1.11.4 The government has allowed councils to levy up to 2% above the referendum limit for a 
social care precept, The council invests these funds in adult social care services through 
its integrated care arrangements, where it is used to manage existing pressures and 
growth in costs, for example living wage costs which impact of the contracting of places for 
adult social care. The council intends to raise council tax by the 2% permitted in 2020/21.

1.11.5 The council tax levy for Salford’s services will increase by 3.99% in 2020/21 including 2% 
for adult social care. This is within the referendum level set by the government which is 
described as follows: 

1.11.6 “For 2020-21, the relevant basic amount of council tax of an authority which belongs to the 
category mentioned in paragraph 2(a) is excessive if the authority’s relevant basic amount 
of council tax for 2020-21 is 4% (comprising 2% for expenditure on adult social care, and 
2% for other expenditure), or more than 4%, greater than its relevant basic amount of 
council tax for 2019-20.”

1.11.7 The share of the expected revenue from council tax in 2020/21 for Salford’s services from 
a 3.99% increase is as follows:

Band D council tax for the council's services 2019/20 £1,577.32 

Band D council tax 2020/21 with 2% ASC increase £1,608.87 

Impact on band D council tax £31.55 

£1,640.26 

£m
Estimated council tax revenue 2020/21 114.728 

2020/21 council tax revenue - council services

multiplied by the tax base of 69,945 band D equivalent properties

Band D council tax 2020/21 (3.99% overall increase including ASC)

1.11.8 The government requires that the council includes a narrative on the council tax bill to 
show the increase attributable to the adult social care precept. The council has levied a 2% 
precept in 20/21. Based on the council tax level shown above the application of this 
increase will add £31.55 to the band D equivalent council tax charge and generate £2.2m 
in council tax revenues.

1.12 Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRRS)

1.12.1 Under the BRRS the government has assumed that the council’s net business rates yield 
in 2020/21 will be £77.843m (at 99% retention - for comparison equivalent to £38.528m on 
a 49% retention basis).

1.12.2 The council’s 2020/21 estimate is based on the estimated outturn position for 2019/20 and 
takes into account the following:

 The latest rateable value list.

 An estimate of growth. 

Page 27



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

28

 The national business rates multiplier and small business rates multiplier. The 
provisional small and main business rates multipliers for 2020/21 are 49.1p and 50.4p 
respectively.  

 Estimates of the impact of various statutory and discretionary reliefs.

 Potential losses on appeal.
1.12.3  The council’s 2020/21 estimate as shown in the NNDR1 return to the government forecast 

that our business rates yield will be £90.960m to be shared as shown below.

Impact on 
yield
£m

Gross rates payable (including growth) 126.543
Small business rate relief -8.975
Mandatory relief -8.874
Empty property relief -6.414
Discretionary relief -0.395
Retail discount relief -1.344
Other relief -0.013
Estimated losses in collection -3.529
Costs of collection allowance -0.442
Estimated cost of appeals -5.597
Net business rate yield 90.960

To be distributed as follows:
 Council share, govt assumption 77.843
 Council share, excess over govt assumption 6.042
 GM and other 6.165
 GMCA (fire element) share (1%) 0.910

90.960

2020/21 business rates estimate

1.12.4 The business rates projections continue to be calculated using a prudent approach which 
takes into account estimated growth arising in particular from our regeneration initiatives, 
but also factors in the financial risk to the council arising from potential losses of income 
due to appeals, possible charitable relief claim increases and the escalation of business 
rate avoidance schemes, whereby companies exploit loopholes in the existing law. In 
particular, it is difficult to establish a trend for the impacts on our business rate yield 
resulting from the cost of appeals. This area is of national concern to local authorities as it 
is having a dramatic impact on the level of growth. 

100% Business rates retention 

1.12.5 In 2020/21 Salford will again be part of the 100% rates retention pilot scheme operating 
across Greater Manchester. As a pilot authority, the council retains 99% of locally-raised 
business rates with the remaining 1% being distributed to GMCA in relation to its fire 
responsibilities. To ensure that this is fiscally neutral, pilot councils have additional 
responsibilities. Revenue support grant and Public Health Grant are no longer receivable, 
but are funded instead through the increased local share. Councils’ tariffs and top-ups are 
adjusted to ensure cost neutrality.

Page 28



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

29

1.12.6 In addition, all authorities have a power to reduce the business rates multiplier. Within 
Greater Manchester, the elected mayor has the power to levy 2p in the pound to fund new 
infrastructure projects.  

1.12.7 The system takes account of the changing shape of local government, including the role of 
combined authorities. In the underpinning agreement, pilots are required to deliver at least 
some elements of: 

 devolution of new responsibilities

 needs and resource redistribution

 the new 100% rates retention system [ie some of the technical and financial 
mechanics for how it should operate]

1.12.8 Greater Manchester (GM) cannot be any worse off than under the previous 50% system.  
The basis of the pilot is that this is to be without detriment to the resources that would have 
been available to the individual local authorities within GM. The calculation is at GM level, 
with the aggregate position of local authorities plus any levy payments retained through the 
continuation of the business rates pooling arrangement. Any gain from the overall GM 
position set out is first used to make good any losses at an individual district level. A 
decision is then required whether any remaining gain is retained at GM level. In 2019/20, 
the council shared the benefit of the pilot on a 50:50 basis with GMCA, however resources 
were subsequently redistributed from GMCA to districts. 

1.12.9 The table below shows the impact of the changes in the 2020/21 government funding as a 
result of the 100% business rates retention pilot. It confirms that the pilot arrangements are 
without detriment to the council.

 

Unadjusted 100% pilot Difference
£m £m £m

Business rates baseline
SCC Local share 38.529 77.843 39.314
Top up grant 34.104 35.811 1.707
Total 72.633 113.654 41.021

Revenue Support Grant 
RSG before grant adjustments 20.810 0.000 -20.810

Settlement funding assessment 93.443 113.654 20.211

PH grant 20.211 0.000 -20.211

Total 113.654 113.654 0.000

SCC Data 2020/21 Settlement

1.13 Collection Fund 

1.13.1 The Collection Fund is the account in which the council tax and business rates raised must 
be balanced with that collected. Each year the council is required by legislation to 
determine whether it has a surplus or deficit in collection on the account, taking into 
account its overall expected collection (not just the collection within the year).

1.13.2 Any surplus or deficit arising on the fund must be shared as follows:

Page 29



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

30

 Council tax balance – to be shared with the precepting authorities in proportion to each 
authority’s share of the council tax

 Business Rates balance - to be shared by the government (prior to the 100% retention 
pilot), council, GM business rate pool and GMCA (fire authority) based on the 
proportionate share in accordance with the rules governing the Business Rates 
Retention Scheme

Council tax

1.13.3 As at 31 March 2020, it is expected that in respect of council tax the Collection Fund will 
have a surplus of £0.963m and this position was formally approved by the Lead Member 
for Finance and Support Services on 6 January 2020 under delegated powers.

 

Collection Fund - council tax estimated balance 31 March 2020
Impact on 

yield
£m

Council tax estimated surplus 31 March 2020 0.963

To be distributed in 2020/21 based on the 2019/20 council
tax levels:
 Council share 0.820
 GMCA (police element) 0.103
 GMCA (general mayoral and fire & rescue element) 0.040

0.963

Business rates

1.13.4 As at 31 March 2020, it is expected that in respect of business rates the Collection Fund 
will have a £2.001m surplus; with the council’s share being £1.981m.This position was 
formally approved by the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services on 6 January 
2020 under delegated powers. The surplus will be distributed in 2020/21 as indicated in 
the following table:

Page 30



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

31

 

Original 
estimate

Estimated 
outturn

Variance

£m £m £m
Gross rates payable including growth 124.568 125.000 0.432
Small business rate relief -8.349 -9.200 -0.851
Mandatory relief -8.922 -9.121 -0.199
Empty property relief -5.882 -6.100 -0.218
Discretionary relief -0.352 -0.471 -0.119
Other relief -2.285 -1.369 0.916
Estimated losses in collection -3.512 -4.000 -0.488
Costs of collection allowance -0.442 -0.442 0.000
Estimated cost of appeals -5.510 -4.250 1.260
2018/19 adjustment 0.000 1.269 1.269
Net business rate yield 89.314 91.316 2.002
To be distributed as follows:
 Council share (99%) 88.421 90.403 1.982
 GMCA (fire element) share (1%) 0.893 0.913 0.020

89.314 91.316 2.002

2019/20 outturn estimate business rates 

1.13.5 The main factors in this surplus position the difference between the estimated and actual 
outturns for 2019/20 are:

 The 2018/19 adjustment relates to the difference between the estimated and actual 
outturns for 2018/19. The main reason for the positive difference was an increase in 
gross rates payable of an additional £1m to that which had been estimated.

 Several outstanding appeals with large rateable values have either been dismissed or 
settled favourably this year for a lower cost than had been provided for them. This has 
resulted in a reduced contribution being needed to top the provision for estimated 
appeal costs back up to the required level for appeals still outstanding.

1.14 Summary of total available resources

1.14.1 The local government financial settlement and other government funding can now be 
brought together with the resource assumptions in the financial strategy, particularly over 
the level of council tax and business rates yield, to determine the available resources for 
revenue expenditure in 2020/21.

1.14.2 The total available resources arising from the sections above are shown in the table below.

Page 31



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

32

2020/21 
Original

2020/21 
Revised

Variation in 
core funding

£m £m £m
Forecast resources:

Council funding:
   Council tax 113.564 114.728 1.164
   Retained business rates:
         > Council share, govt assumption 68.532 77.843 9.311
         > Council share, excess over govt assumption 1.215 6.042 4.827

   Collection fund estimated balances 31/03/2020:
         > Council tax surplus 0.000 0.820 0.820
         > Business rates surplus 0.000 1.982 1.982

183.311 201.415 18.104
Government funding:
         > Revenue support grant 0.000 0.000 0.000
         > Business rates top up 39.503 35.811 -3.692

39.503 35.811 -3.692

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -20.211 -20.211 0.000

Total available resources 202.603 217.015 14.412

2020/21 total available resources (core funding - final financial settlement)

1.15 2020/21 spending requirement

1.15.1 Last year’s budget report included a continuation of service budget for 2020/21 at 
£217.563m which was £14.960m above the estimated total available resources. This is 
shown in the following table.

2020/21
£m

Forecast resources:
Council funding:
   Council tax 113.564
   Retained business rates:
         > Council share, govt assumption 68.532
         > Council share, excess over govt assumption 1.215
   Government funding:
         > Business rates top up 39.503
Total resources 222.814

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -20.211
Total available resources 202.603

Total spending requirement 217.563
Funding gap 14.960

Original financial projection 2020/21

Page 32



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

33

1.15.2 A continuous review of medium-term spending requirements has been maintained as 
developments have unfolded during the year. Requirements have been built up from this 
base position to develop a continuation of service budget which takes into account:

 any expected new spending pressures

 changes in the level of specific government grants

 issues emerging from 2019/20 budget monitoring

 latest forecasts of business rates retained income and council tax
1.15.3 This review has led to a revised funding gap, after reviewing council tax and business 

rates income assumptions, of £9.812m as set out in paragraph 1.16.1 below.

1.16 Savings requirement - bridging the budget gap

1.16.1 The 2019/20 budget report forecast a funding gap/savings requirement of £14.960m for 
2020/21. With a budget settlement better than expected the pressure on the council’s short 
term position is eased. There is therefore an opportunity to step back and take a longer 
term view, managing resources over three years.

2020/21 proposed savings summary
2020/21

£m
Funding gap 
Estimate in 2019/20 budget report 14.960
Projection changes before provisional settlement -1.986
Projection changes following provisional settlement -9.359
Additional funding from the provisional settlement -0.333
Collection fund outturn -2.802
Service investment - street cleaning 0.585
Participatory budgets 0.250
Three year smoothing strategy 8.497
Revised funding gap prior to savings and efficiencies 9.812

Urban Vision savings -1.230
Integrated fund contribution -4.420
2018/19 GM business rates growth share -2.400
Levy adjustments -1.762
Savings and efficiencies -9.812

Savings surplus or shortfall 0.000

1.16.2 The Council will still need to make difficult choices and further changes to services if it is to 
deliver on the balanced three year forecasts set out in the MTFS  Changes announced in 
the Spending Round have also only been confirmed for one year – with no clear guide on 
funding beyond 2021.  

1.16.3 The medium term strategy as set out within this agenda aims to deliver balanced budgets 
for 2020/21, 2021/22 and allow time to develop savings to meet the savings requirement in 
2022/23 of £3.456m. 

Page 33



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

34

1.17 2020/21 balanced budget projection and assumptions

1.17.1 The proposals for a balanced budget produce a net spending requirement of £217.015m 
are shown below and do not require any use of existing general fund reserves. 

 

Original 
estimate 
2020/21

Revised 
estimate 
2020/21

Savings / 
budget 

reductions

Budget 
Assumptions

£m £m £m Note ref.
Forecast resources
Council tax 113.564 114.728 1.164 1
Retained business rates: 2
   > Council share, govt assumption 68.532 77.843 9.311
   > Council share, excess over govt assumption 1.215 6.042 4.827
Government funding:
   > Business rates top up 39.503 35.811 -3.692 3
Collection Fund estimated balances 31/03/2020: 4
   > Council tax estimated surplus 0.000 0.820 0.820
   > Business rates estimated surplus 0.000 1.982 1.982
Total resources 222.814 237.226 14.412
Public Health grant funded from BRRS -20.211 -20.211 0.000 5
Total available resources 202.603 217.015 14.412
Spending requirement
Base budget 205.241 205.241 0.000 6
Capital financing requirement 1.000 1.000 0.000 7
Pay inflation 1.862 3.391 1.529 8
Price inflation 0.386 0.262 -0.124 9
Service investment - Street cleaning 0.000 0.585 0.585 10
Participatory budgets 0.000 0.250 0.250 11
Pension contribution rate 0.759 0.025 -0.734 12
Increments 0.220 0.220 0.000 13
Other funding issues -2.671 0.080 2.751 14
Residual cost - national living wage 0.247 0.247 0.000 15
New Homes Bonus 0.000 -2.645 -2.645 16
Adult social care provision 3.306 2.380 -0.926 17
Children's social care provision 0.000 6.273 6.273 18
Government specific grant changes 7.324 -5.768 -13.092 19
Business Rates reserve changes -5.933 0.967 6.900 20
Three year smoothing strategy 0.000 8.497 8.497 21
2020/21 savings and efficiencies 0.000 -9.812 -9.812 22
Removal of one off efficiencies from 2019/20 5.822 5.822 0.000 23
Total spending requirement 217.563 217.015 -0.548

Funding gap 14.960 0.000 -14.960

2020/21 balanced budget projection

1.17.2 The key assumptions made in constructing the continuation of service budget shown 
above are as follows.

Note ref Budget assumption

Page 34



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

35

Note ref Budget assumption

1. Council tax – assumes a council tax increase of 3.99% but on an increased 
council tax base of 69,945 band D equivalent dwellings.

2. Retained business rates – reflects growth and changes in the level of reliefs 
and the appeals provision. 

3. Originally assumed 75% retention in 2020/21 but the pilot continued.

4. Collection fund estimates:

Council tax – reflects the council’s share of a £0.963m surplus arising mainly 
from buoyancy in the property base.

Business rates – reflects the council’s share of a £2.001m surplus arising 
from the increased tax base and change to the appeals provision

5. Estimate based upon 19/20 allocation. Now funded from within the BRRS 
rather than as a specific grant.

6. Base budget - the base position is the approved budget for 2019/20.

7. Revenue consequences of capital spend, including for the provision of 
repayment of debt and interest rate forecast. 

8. Pay – budgeted for a pay award from 01/04/2020 – awaiting outcome of 
employer and union discussions.

9. Prices - 0% for general items, 2.5% for energy costs, 2% for specific external 
items and as per budget models for levies.  

10. Mayoral priorities street cleaning 

11. Mayoral priorities participatory budget

12. Pension contribution rate –pressure on LGPS pension rates expected to 
ease because of fund performance and the employers contribution rate is 
unchanged.

13. Increments - No automatic allocations of increments. A lump sum set aside 
for specific requirements..

14. * Other funding issues – including in 2020/21 the unwinding of non-recurrent 
2019/20 funding, in particular the social care grant continued and airport 
income estimate did not increase.

15. The cost of the increase associated with government updates to living wage 
rates that is not covered by the adult social care precept (within 17 below).

16. New Homes Bonus –Year 10 will attract an NHB reward for one year in 
2020/21. This is the net impact, with legacy payments relating to 2016/17 
coming to an end.

17. * The council’s contribution to the adult’s pool is modelled to reflect pay and 
other inflation pressures, 2020/21 assumes continuation of short term 

Page 35



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

36

Note ref Budget assumption

funding. 

18. * Additional social care grant announced by the government on a non-
recurring basis, this will be transferred to the integrated fund to meet existing 
pressures and consider new priorities for 2020/21.

19. * Assumptions around business rates reset and ending of social care grants 
were revised in the light of the settlement, additional social care grant 
funding announced. 

20. Business rates reserve

2020/21 includes the reversal of the non-recurrent application of the reserve 
in 2019/20. The original estimate included the use of £6.9m to smooth the 
impact of the business rate reset due to be implemented in 2020/2021. 
However with the government postponement of the reset this is not required 
until 2021/2022. 

21. Three year smoothing  strategy as detailed in the MTFS in order to achieve 
a balanced budget and mitigate the risks associated with changes in core 
funding and business rates over the life of the strategy.

22. 2020/21 savings proposals are set out in section 1.16.1.

23. Previous savings met by non-recurrent measures that need to be addressed 
recurrently, for example the use of reserves, net of future savings already 
planned. 

* these budget assumptions are connected and should be considered alongside one 
another.

1.18 Reserves

1.18.1 As part of the budget’s development, the position with reserves needs careful 
consideration to ensure that risks are adequately covered and that the budget plans do not 
put them under undue strain.

1.18.2 The risk assessment undertaken for the 2019/20 revenue budget identified minimum and 
desirable levels of general fund non-earmarked reserves as follows:

 Minimum level of reserves £12.705m

 Desirable level of reserves £18.845m
1.18.3 The assumptions made in the 2019/20 revenue budget with regard to the forecast level of 

general reserves over the next three years were as follows:

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
£m £m £m

Balance at 31 March 13.2 13.2 13.2

2019/20 reserves assumptions

Page 36



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

37

1.18.4 An assessment of the outturn expenditure for 2019/20 currently shows an anticipated 
variation on service expenditure of £3.269m against budget, arising through demand 
pressures. The council has identified central resources to meet this overspend and the 
forecast net position for 2019/20 is a nil variation. The balanced budget is expected to be 
achieved without a call on general reserves, leaving reserves in hand at 31 March 2020 of 
£13.2m. 

Reserves strategy for 2019/20 to 2022/23

1.18.5 A full risk assessment of reserves is included at Appendix 2 but, in summary, an indication 
of the level of reserves likely to be needed based upon the degree of risk considered 
appropriate is set out below.

 

Risk assessment of general fund non-earmarked reserves

Minimum Desirable Minimum Desirable
£m £m £m £m

0.000 0.000 Pay 1.130 3.955
0.530 0.795 Prices 0.500 0.750
0.750 1.000 Property maintenance 0.750 1.000
1.000 2.000 Adult Social Care 1.000 2.000
0.250 0.350 Service income and charges
2.000 2.500 Looked-after children 1.500 2.000
0.200 0.400 SEN transport 0.200 0.400
0.375 0.500 Waste levy / recycling
1.000 1.200 Government funding 4.000 6.000
0.900 1.200 Capital financing 0.900 1.200
1.200 2.500 Business rates retention scheme 1.200 2.500
3.500 4.900 Non-achievement of savings 0.500 0.750
1.000 1.500 Other unforeseen expenditure 1.000 1.500

12.705 18.845 Total 12.680 22.055

2020/21 2019/20 Risk
(for comparison)

1.18.6 Based on this assessment, the level of reserves to be held by 31 March 2021 would be:

 Minimum level of reserves £12.680m

 Desirable level of reserves £22.055m
1.18.7 The projected level of reserves at 31 March 2021 is £13.2m.

1.18.8 The use of reserves to reduce net expenditure should be done in a planned manner that 
adopts the following principles:

 Does not support recurring expenditure

 Is only therefore used in a one-off manner 

 Identifies a strategy for ensuring reserves are maintained at an appropriate level
1.18.9 The proposed reserves strategy for 2019/20 to 2022/23 is to maintain the current level of 

general fund reserves. The reserves strategy is shown in the MTFS.

Page 37



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

38

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
£m £m £m £m

Previous forecast 13.2 13.2 13.2 na

Revised forecast
Opening balance 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.2
Use of reserve to cover overspend 0 0 0 0
Reductions in reserve to reflect reducing risks 0 0 0 0
Additions to reserve to provide for increase risk 0 0 0 0
Closing balance 31 March 13.2 13.2 13.2 13.2

Proposed reserves strategy 2019/20 to 2022/23

1.18.10 The projected level of reserves in the table above does not include DSG schools funding 
or HRA funding which is maintained separately.

1.19 The council tax levy

1.19.1 If the revenue budget is set at £217.015m then this would lead to a council tax requirement 
calculated as follows:

 

£m
Net budget 217.015
PH grant funded by BRRS 20.211

237.226

35.811
77.843
6.042
0.820
1.982

114.728

69,945

 Band D  £1,640.26
 Band A £1,093.50

3.99%Council tax increase 2020/21

 Collection Fund surplus 31/03/2020 – Business rates

Council tax for council services 2020/21
Divided by the council tax base (number of band D dwellings)

 Collection Fund surplus 31/03/2020 – Council tax

2020/21 council tax requirement 

 Retained business rates - council share per government estimate
 Retained business rates - council share in excess of government estimate

 Government funding via SFA top-up grant

Adjusted net budget
Less:

Council tax requirement 2020/21

1.19.2 The level of council tax for the council’s services will be £1,640.26 (for a band D property) 
which represents a 3.99% increase. It should be noted that the final council tax increase is 
also dependent on precepts:

 Mayoral police and crime commissioner precept

 Mayoral general precept (including fire services)
1.19.3 The precepts for 2020/21 as proposed by the Greater Manchester mayor and agreed by 

GMCA are set out in the table below.

Page 38



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

39

£m £ £m £ %
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 14.570 208.30 1.004 10.00 5.04
Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 6.361 90.95 1.097 14.00 18.19
Total 20.931 299.25 2.101 24.00 8.72

Council tax level increase
2020/21 precepts and impact on the council tax level 

Precept Precept at 
Band D

Precept 
increase

1.19.4 Salford’s overall council tax for 2020/21 will therefore be as follows.

2019/20 2020/21
£ £ £ %

Salford City Council 1,577.32 1,640.26 62.94 3.99
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept 198.30 208.30 10.00 5.04
Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services) 76.95 90.95 14.00 18.19
Total council tax at band D 1,852.57 1,939.51 86.94 4.69

Increase
2020/21 council tax level (Band D)

1.19.5 For most tax payers in Salford, who live in band A properties, the bill will be £1,292.99.

1.19.6 Single persons will pay 25% less.

1.19.7 Council tax amounts at each tax band are as shown in the following table:

Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount)

2 or more 
person 

households

Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount)

2 or more 
person 

households

Single 
person 

households 
(25% 

discount)

2 or more 
person 

households

£ £ £ £ £ £
Band A minus 771.91 1,029.21 808.13 1,077.50 36.22 48.29
Band A 926.28 1,235.04 969.74 1,292.99 43.46 57.95
Band B 1,080.65 1,440.87 1,131.38 1,508.50 50.73 67.63
Band C 1,235.04 1,646.72 1,292.99 1,723.99 57.95 77.27
Band D 1,389.43 1,852.57 1,454.63 1,939.51 65.20 86.94
Band E 1,698.20 2,264.26 1,777.88 2,370.50 79.68 106.24
Band F 2,006.95 2,675.93 2,101.13 2,801.50 94.18 125.57
Band G 2,315.71 3,087.61 2,424.38 3,232.50 108.67 144.89
Band H 2,778.86 3,705.14 2,909.27 3,879.02 130.41 173.88

Change from 2019/202020/212019/20
Council tax levels 2020/21

Council tax referendum

1.19.8 The Localism Act places a requirement on local authorities to hold a referendum on the 
level of council tax if the increase in any year is considered to be excessive.

1.19.9 The Secretary of State has announced the principles for 2020/21 which state that the 
following would be deemed excessive: 

Page 39



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

40

 the relevant basic amount of council tax of an authority which belongs to the category 
mentioned in paragraph 2(a) is excessive if the authority’s relevant basic amount of 
council tax for 2020-21 is 4% (comprising 2% for expenditure on adult social care, and 
2% for other expenditure), or more than 4%, greater than its relevant basic amount of 
council tax for 2019-20.

 The Greater Manchester Combined Authority in relation to:
o Police and Crime Commissioner component – any increase at more 

than £10.00 greater than its relevant basic amount of council tax for 
2019/20 (applicable to the police element of the mayoral precept).

o Mayoral general (including fire) component – no referendum principles 
were set, meaning that there are no limitations to an increase in precept 
for this element. 

1.19.10 The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 includes a definition for the relevant basic 
amount of council tax used in the referendum principles. Effectively it means the cap will 
be based simply on the increase in the level of the council’s band D council tax.   

1.19.11 The council’s increase of 3.99% and the precept increases are within the applicable 
referendum threshold and therefore neither the council nor the precepting authorities will 
be required to hold a referendum for this purpose.

Council tax empty homes premium

1.19.12 Government legislation has amended the long term empty homes premium scheme for 
2020/21. In 2019/20 all properties within the scope of the scheme were charged a 100% 
premium. From 1 April 2020 onwards properties that have been empty for more than 5 
years will be charged a 200% premium with those below 5 years remaining at a 100% 
premium. From 1 April 2021:100% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 2 and 5 
years, 200% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 5 and 10 years and 300% for 
a dwelling that has been empty for 10 years or more

1.19.13 The purpose of the premium is to incentivise owners to bring long-standing empty 
properties back into use to help to meet the need for housing within the city. 

1.19.14 Increasing the premium to the maximum levels permitted by the newly amended legislation 
will temporarily generate additional income into the collection fund. Additional income is 
likely to be short term as the premium achieves its aim of incentivising properties to be 
brought back into use, at which point the premium is no longer chargeable.

1.20 Budget assumptions and risks

1.20.1 It is a requirement under Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 that the Chief 
Finance Officer (the council’s s151 officer) reports to the council on the robustness of the 
estimates and the assumptions made in compiling the budget and the adequacy of 
reserves. This section of the report seeks to fulfil that requirement.

Financial health

1.20.2 The financial health of the council will remain relatively strong by maintaining a satisfactory 
level of general reserves during 2019/20.  

1.20.3 Reserves are expected to be approximately £13.2m by 31 March 2020. A risk assessment 
has been undertaken which identifies that the level of reserves would still be below the 
desirable level, taking account of key risks, but above the minimum requirement.

Page 40



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

41

1.20.4 In addition, provisions for irrecoverable bad debts on sundry debtor accounts continue to 
remain at appropriate levels, and reserves to provide against other future liabilities are 
maintained to reflect the higher levels of risk within our overall finances. 

1.20.5 As part of the budget setting process, the  the level of reserves is assessed with the 
intention of  releasing reserves to support the revenue budget when safe to do so using a 
risk rated approach.. 

1.20.6 Council tax and business rates are key funding sources for the council. The local council 
tax support scheme and the business rates retention scheme are being managed 
effectively, but there is a degree of risk inherent in them, in particular associated with the 
collection of income required to meet budget targets and in appeals against the rating 
system. The calculations of council tax and business rates revenue therefore continue to 
include prudent provisions for irrecoverable amounts.

1.20.7 There are significant funding risks after 2020/21. The government has initiated 
consultations into the local government funding formula and the business rates retention 
system. The council has identified risks in relation to the certainty of NHB funding, 
sustainable funding for social care, potential changes in the factors included within future 
funding models  and likely loss of retained growth within the business rates system. The 
risk is exacerbated by the lack of a clear indication from government of its intentions 
following the one year  settlement for 2020/21.

1.20.8 The medium term financial strategy will continue to address these and other issues in a 
structured and considered manner to ensure that the financial health of the council is 
maintained

Inflation

1.20.9 Adequate allowance has been made for the impact of inflation based on current estimates.

1.20.10 Whilst the outcome of pay discussions is not yet known, a prudent estimate has been 
provided for within the  base position. 

1.20.11 Increases for price inflation have been limited to meeting specific risks relating to energy 
costs, external levies, highway maintenance, further increases for the national living wage 
and contract increases. Otherwise, no inflationary increases have been allowed and 
service groups will be expected to absorb any price increases that may arise from within 
the budget allocations made. Actual inflationary increases will require close monitoring and 
scrutiny as any new budget pressures flow through the budget, and the risk of inflation 
greater than allowed for is reflected in our general fund reserve.

Other budget assumptions 

1.20.12 Key assumptions made in drawing up the revenue budget are contained at section 1.17.2 
above. These assumptions have been made on the latest available information and with 
prudence in mind. Assumptions will be revisited throughout the budget monitoring process.

Potential spending pressures

1.20.13 Demand needs continue to place financial pressures on children’s and adult’s care 
services. Services are developing strategies to manage needs-led pressures through the 
council’s transformation programme.  

1.20.14 The areas of greatest risk from spending pressures have been addressed in the risk 
assessment of reserves.

Page 41



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

42

Savings

1.20.15 It is assumed that service groups will achieve  savings and efficiency targets and have 
appropriately robust action plans in place to deliver them or can take alternative steps to 
achieve them and keep within budget. This will require rigorous monitoring during the year 
by lead members, strategic directors and scrutiny boards.

1.20.16 Regular reports on the progress being made by service groups will be reviewed by 
Corporate Management Team, Cabinet, and the Overview and Scrutiny Board.

1.20.17  As a final resort, a risk of funding unachieved savings has been reflected in the general 
fund reserve.

Partnerships

1.20.18 Partnerships with other external public, voluntary and private sector organisations play an 
increasing role in the council’s budget plans. Clearly, funding changes by such 
organisations can impact the council’s financial plans.

1.20.19 Budget plans assume the appropriate provision based upon the most up-to-date 
information regarding the likely level of commitment to these partnerships and 
collaborative arrangements.  Any variation to the budget provision will need to be managed 
by the relevant service groups within the allocation provided to them.

1.20.20 Key formal partnerships exist with the following organisations.

1.20.21 Health and social care related partnerships:

a. Integrated Commissioning 

In 2019/20, Salford City Council and Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group 
(SCCG), implemented an Integrated Fund for Health and Social Care. This Integrated 
Fund brings together the majority of those budgets for services currently funded by 
Children’s, Adults, Public Health and Primary Care funding across the two organisations.

The Integrated Fund, is managed in three elements – Children’s, Adults and Primary 
Care. Within each element of the Fund, monies areeither formally pooled (under a formal 
s75 agreement), aligned or in-view. 

To ensure accountability at all levels a joint governance and decision making framework 
has been agreed and four joint decision making committees oversee the fund:

 An overarching Health and Care Commissioning Board

 A Children’s Commissioning Committee

 An Adults Commissioning Committee 

 A Primary Care Commissioning Committee
The Integrated Fund covers budgets in excess of £600m.

Contributions into the fund are agreed annually by partners at the start of each financial 
year and take into account funding changes, efficiency/savings requirements and 
transformational benefits of integration.

Management of the Fund is supported by a risk share arrangement.  A differential risk 
share operates across the Fund, with the risk (and potential benefit) reflecting each 
organisations level of investments in each of children’s, adults, and primary care.

Page 42



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

43

b. Pooled budgets

[NHS Salford CCG]

Within the integrated commissioning arrangements are pooled budget arrangements 
under section 75 of the NHS Act 2006. These enable the council and NHS Salford CCG 
to bring resources together to both commission and provide services jointly, allowing 
flexible and integrated support and care to be offered.

c. Integrated care organisation (ICO)

[Salford Royal NHS Foundation Trust (SRFT)]

Under a contract for services and a section 75 agreement. The ICO is the provider 
partner in the integrated care system. Bringing provision into one organisation allows the 
full integration of a broad range of health and social care services and transformational 
change envisaged by the partners in the system. 

1.20.22  Other partnerships:

d. Salford Community Leisure (SCL)

A not-for-profit trust, providing leisure and cultural services and managing leisure and 
community centres, libraries and museums owned by the council, for which a budgeted 
management fee of £3.640m is included in current council budget plans.

e. Urban Vision Partnership Ltd

A joint venture between the council, Capita Symonds and Galliford Try. The partnership 
provided architectural, engineering, planning, property and highway services which 
included managing budgets on behalf of the City Council. The contract came to an end in 
February 2020 with the activities being brought back in house.

f. Shared legal service 

[Manchester City Council]

The shared legal service is a service arrangement to provide legal services to Salford 
and Manchester, hosted by Manchester CC. 

g. GMCA / AGMA 

[Other Greater Manchester councils]

The Corporate Procurement team work collaboratively with a range of partner 
organisations on a wide range of projects and contracts, including our approach to Social 
Value, along with contracts covering areas such as:

 Mobile phones

 Fresh and frozen food for school kitchens 

 Staffing services

 Highways and infrastructure services

 Construction and regeneration projects

 ICT services and equipment

Page 43



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

44

The above list is not exhaustive but highlights the range of contract areas that we both 
lead on, and participate in, across AGMA, with an emphasis on delivering value money, 
improving service delivery and creating efficiencies.

h. Greater Manchester, Cheshire East and Cheshire West Business Rates Pool 2020/21. 

The pooling arrangement started in 2015/16 and was expanded in 2016/17 to include 
Cheshire West. The pool was formed for the purpose of maximising the retention of 
locally-generated business rates and to ensure that it further supported the economic 
regeneration of Greater Manchester, Cheshire East and Cheshire West councils by 
retaining any levy that might be payable by certain ‘tariff’ authorities to central 
government.

Capital Programme

1.20.23 Capital receipts in 2020/21 are estimated to be £10m, compared to the current estimate for 
2019/20 of £8m. The existing policy is to utilise such receipts to pay down debt.

1.20.24 To maintain continued capital investment in essential service improvement the capital 
strategy has needed to focus upon the use of unsupported borrowing to replace capital 
receipts as the prime source of generating the council’s own funds, particularly where 
match funding is required to complement grant available from government and other 
sources.

1.20.25 The revenue budget incorporates the provision for capital financing costs on the use of 
£20.937m of new general unsupported borrowing in funding the 2020/21 capital 
programme, in addition to the use of £33.804m of unsupported borrowing for invest to save 
and self-financing proposals. 

1.20.26 The revenue budget makes provision for future annual maintenance costs from completed 
schemes, and any additional running costs from new facilities, together with savings from 
invest to save schemes, but otherwise assume that there will be no significant revenue 
implications arising.

Control of Risk

1.20.27 Risk will be controlled through a combination of:

 The detailed tracking of physical and financial progress with the implementation of 
savings proposals;

 Regular service group level budget monitoring reports to service groups’ senior 
management and lead members;

 Meetings between the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and other lead 
members as appropriate, to agree action plans from issues arising from monthly 
budget monitoring and other developments not budgeted for; 

 Regular corporate budget monitoring reports will be reviewed by Corporate 
Management Team, Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Board. These will identify 
issues, agree appropriate action and call for special reports on issues of concern; 

 Within those reports, a commentary on the progress being made with the 
implementation of savings proposals by service groups;  

Page 44



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

45

1.21 Legal considerations

1.21.1 In coming to decisions in relation to the revenue budget and council tax, the council has 
various legal and fiduciary duties. The council is required by the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 to make specific estimates of gross revenue expenditure and anticipated 
income leading to the calculation of the council tax requirement, the basic amount of 
council tax and the setting of the overall budget and council tax. The amount of the council 
tax requirement must be sufficient to meet the council’s legal and financial commitments, 
ensure the proper discharge of its statutory duties and lead to a balanced budget.

1.21.2 In exercising its fiduciary duty, the council should be satisfied that the proposals put 
forward are a prudent use of its resources in both the short and long term; that the 
proposals strike a fair balance between the interests of council tax payers and ratepayers 
on the one hand and the community’s interests in adequate and efficient services on the 
other; and that they are acting in good faith for the benefit of the community whilst 
complying with all statutory duties. The City Mayor has addressed the duty to strike a fair 
balance between different elements of the community and the interests of council tax 
payers in developing the proposals in the report.

Duties of the Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer)

1.21.3 The Local Government Finance Act 2003 requires the section 151 officer to report to the 
authority on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the calculations and 
the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. The council has a statutory duty to have 
regard to the section 151 officer’s report when making decisions about the calculations. 
The section 151 officer’s report in relation to the reasonableness of the estimates and 
adequacy of the reserves is set out in section 1.18 of this report.

1.21.4 Section 28 of the Local Government Act 2003 imposes a statutory duty on the council to 
monitor during the financial year its expenditure and income against the budget 
calculations. If the monitoring establishes that the budgetary situation has deteriorated, the 
council must take such action as it considers necessary to deal with the situation. This 
might include, for instance, action to reduce spending in the rest of the year, or to increase 
income, or to finance the shortfall from reserves.

1.21.5 Under Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, where it appears to the 
section 151 officer that the expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it 
proposes to incur) in a financial year is likely to exceed the resources (including sums 
borrowed) available to it to meet that expenditure, the section 151 officer has a duty to 
make a report to the council. The report must be sent to the council’s external auditor and 
every member of the council and the council must consider the report within 21 days at a 
meeting where it must decide whether it agrees or disagrees with the views contained in 
the report and what action (if any) it proposes to take in consequence of it. In the 
intervening period between the sending of the report and the meeting which considers it, 
the authority is prohibited from entering into any new agreement which may involve the 
incurring of expenditure (at any time) by the authority, except in certain limited 
circumstances where expenditure can be authorised by the section 151 officer. Failure to 
take appropriate action in response to such a report may lead to the intervention of the 
council’s external auditor.

Other Statutory Duties

1.21.6 In considering its budget, the council must also consider its ongoing duties under the 
Equality Act to have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination and advance 
equality of opportunity between all, irrespective of whether they fall into a protected 
category such as race, gender, religion, etc.

Page 45



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 1. Revenue budget and council tax levy 

46

1.21.7 Having due regard to these duties does not mean that the council has an absolute 
obligation to eliminate discrimination, but that it must consider how its decisions will 
contribute towards meeting the duties in the light of all other relevant circumstances such 
as economic and practical considerations.

1.21.8 In determining the final set of proposals, the City Mayor has had regard to the equality 
duty. Equality impact assessments will be identified and completed where required by 
each service group prior to final decisions being made.

Reasonableness

1.21.9 Finally, the council has a duty to act reasonably taking into account all relevant 
considerations and not considering anything which is irrelevant. This report, together with 
the other budget related reports on the agenda, set out a total picture of the proposals from 
which members can consider the risks and any arrangements for their mitigation.

Governance

1.21.10 The budget approval procedure is that the City Mayor, in consultation with the Cabinet, 
recommends the budget calculations (as set in Appendix 4) to council for approval. If the 
majority of council does not approve the budget calculations, they are referred back to the 
City Mayor who should then present alternative budget calculations. The council can only 
further reject the alternative budget calculations by a two thirds majority. In accordance 
with section 30(6) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 the budget must be fixed 
before 11 March.

Page 46



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 2. Housing revenue account (HRA)

47

2 Part 2 The housing revenue account (HRA) Revenue 
budget 2020/21

Page 47



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 2. Housing revenue account (HRA)

48

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 From 1 April 1990 it became a statutory requirement for local authorities to maintain a 
separate ‘ring-fenced’ account, known as the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) which sets 
out the expenditure and income relating to the provision, supervision and management of 
council housing, flats and accommodation. 

2.1.2 Under the ‘ring-fencing’ arrangements the council cannot call upon the general fund or 
council tax related services to subsidise any losses that may be incurred by the HRA.

2.2 Housing priorities

2.2.1 The notable achievements in 2019/20 (incorporating HRA and general fund services) have 
been: 

 Working towards delivering a total of 365 new affordable homes by the end of the 
financial year.

 1st Derive properties (20 in total) handed over and let at Charlestown. 

 Demolition of High Street Estate, Pendleton following the rehousing of the remaining 
tenants. 

 £7.7M of Homes England funding awarded to deliver 101 council homes. 

 Approval and publication of the City’s new Housing Strategy ‘ Our Home Our City 2020-
2025’. 

 Significant ongoing work regarding resolving fire safety issues at Pendleton which will 
result in a programme of works. 

 £1.368M of Rough Sleeping funding to continue and enhance the existing rough 
sleeping and rapid rehousing initiatives – 9th highest award nationally and highest in 
GM.

 Ongoing reduction in rough sleeping from 49 in November 2017 to 10 in November 
2019. 

2.2.2 The highlighted actions for 20/21 can all be linked to the three priorities identified in the 
Council’s new housing strategy which will help to deliver the Council’s housing vision that ‘ 
Salford will be a great place to live, work and prosper. Where a range of affordable, good 
quality and energy efficient homes can be found within well planned and desirable 
neighbourhoods.’ 

 To continue to support partners to access funding to deliver more rented and shared 
ownership homes and to build on our future funded programme of 1,158 affordable 
homes. 

 To carry out the required fire safety works to council-owned homes in Pendleton – 
including sprinklers.

 To continue to deliver the regeneration of Pendleton through investment in new homes, 
infrastructure and environmental improvements including 120 market and affordable 
homes in the Amersham St area. 

 To continue to deliver Derive’s existing business plan including completion of new 
homes at Duchy (8 homes), and Montford St (10 homes) and to consider new funding / 
governance structures for Derive to increase future delivery.

 To commence start on site of 101 council homes and the potential to deliver more 
housing.. 

Page 48



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 2. Housing revenue account (HRA)

49

 To implement actions from our newly approved Housing Strategy including reporting 
progress to Cabinet on a 6 monthly basis. 

 To continue to provide a range of homeless services including A bed Every Night 
(ABEN) and Rough Sleeping and Rapid Rehousing Initiatives. 

2.3 Review of 2019/20

2019/20 Approximate Outturn

2.3.1 The original HRA budget for 2019/20 was approved by council on 27 February 2019 and 
provided for gross expenditure of £15.849m. This expenditure was to be funded by income 
from rents, service charges and credits relating to the Pendleton PFI scheme, and 
proceeds from the transfer to Salix Homes. 

2.3.2 Appendix 5 shows the variations between the original HRA budget and the anticipated 
position at the end of the year. As can be seen from the appendix, there are some 
significant variations in certain areas with the impact being an increase in the contribution 
to balances from £0.749m to £1.845m.

2.3.3 The increased contribution to balances against plan has been as a result of the following:

 Higher than anticipated rental income.

 Increase in proceeds from the VAT arrangements established on the transfer of 
housing stock to Salix Homes

 Lower than expected PFI charge linked to inflationary increases.
2.4 The 2020/21 estimate

2.4.1 The 2020/21 estimate reflects gross HRA expenditure of £14.870m including a contribution 
from balances of £0.387m. 

2.4.2 A summary of the HRA budget for 2020/21 is shown in Appendix 5.

Resources

2.4.3 Rental income projections are based upon a 2.7% rent increase (based upon the 
government’s model of inflationary index CPI as at September 2019 plus 1%).  

2.4.4 The projected impact is that rent would increase from its current average level of £79.92 
per week on a 52 week basis to £82.08.  Tenants currently pay rent on a 48 week basis 
giving a weekly increase of £2.33 from £86.58 to £88.92

2.4.5 The government has reaffirmed that authorities are expected to set reasonable and 
transparent service charges which reflect the cost of services being provided to tenants.  
During 2019/20, Pendleton Together have continued to review current service charge 
levels and have proposed revised charges which address any imbalances between 
expenditure and income at a local level. Good practice requires a comparison of the costs 
of service provision with the income generated from service charges with the aim of 
ensuring that the charging policy is fair and equitable and that general rental income is not 
subsidising the cost of services to individual tenants.

2.4.6 The average combined impact of changes to rents and service charges per block is as 
follows.

Page 49



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 2. Housing revenue account (HRA)

50

 Average 
Service Charge 

2019/20 £

Average 
Service Charge 

2020/21 £

Variation £ Variation %

High Rise 22.38 23.32 0.94 4.20

Low Rise 4.25 4.62 0.37 8.71

Sheltered 23.10 24.52 1.42 6.15

2.4.7 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) credits have been included within the HRA on the basis of 
the agreement finalised during 2013/14.  A contribution from the PFI smoothing reserve 
has also been assumed in line with the contractual commitments associated with the PFI 
contract.

2.4.8 An on-going income stream is assumed relating to the transfer VAT arrangements.  Further 
work is being undertaken with Salix Homes to determine the value of future receipts.

Expenditure

Central Internal charges

2.4.9 These costs mainly represent transactions between the HRA and the Council’s other funds 
such as the General Fund and the Insurance Fund.  Further reductions have been 
assumed in future years with the intention of managing down the charge in a planned and 
sustainable manner. 

Pendleton PFI

2.4.10 There are two elements of costs relating to the PFI scheme.

 Team costs relating to monitoring of the scheme 

 Charges relating to the operational phase of the scheme based upon the contractual 
agreement.

Bad Debt Provision

2.4.11 The contribution to the bad debt provision reflects the rental income base within the HRA 
and equates to approximately 3% of rental and service charge income. 

HRA Reserves

2.4.12 When the budget was set in February 2019, it was anticipated that the general HRA 
reserve would be £5.802m at 31/03/2019.  Confirmation of the accounting treatment of 
debt charges resulted in the outturn position on the HRA reserve improving to £6.011m. 
Taking into account the 2019/20 budget requirement as reported above, it is anticipated 
that general balances will be £7.856m at 31/03/2020.   

Page 50



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 2. Housing revenue account (HRA)

51

£m

Reserves as at 31 March 2018 4.697

Contribution to balances 2018/19 1.314

Reserves as at 31 March 2019 6.011

Estimated contribution to balances 2019/20 1.845

Estimated reserves as at 31 March 2020 7.856

2.4.13 Reserves held are required to ensure the long term sustainability of the HRA. The long 
term HRA business plan indicates this current level of reserves is essential for the future 
operation of the HRA. 

2.4.14 Members are reminded of the volatile nature of the HRA and the need, particularly under 
ringfencing, to maintain reserves to meet unforeseen circumstances which might arise and 
to minimise the effects of:

 Any risk that costs associate with building  new HRA housing may exceed current 
estimates

 Right to buy applications

 Any possible adverse performance issues

 Budget variations identified during the year

 Trends in void properties

 New legislative requirements

 Environmental and estate investment
2.4.15 In addition to the general reserve three other reserves are currently held for HRA 

purposes:-

 PFI reserve, the main function of which is to smooth out the timing of PFI contractual 
costs and credits. This reserve built up at the start of the PFI scheme and will gradually 
reduce in later years. It is anticipated that the full balance will be used by the end of the 
scheme.

 Stock transfer reserve. This provision was established to meet costs associated with 
the stock transfer. The current balance of £0.564m has been maintained to cover 
potential costs such as insurance claims.

 Major Repairs Allowance. Due to profiling of capital expenditure and funding, an 
element of the Major Repairs Allowance was carried forward into 2019/20. A review of 
public sector housing capital costs is being undertaken to determine whether there will 
be any residual balance to be released into the HRA during 2019/20 or 2020/21.

2.4.16 Given the pressures facing the HRA in future years it is anticipated that any funds released 
from these reserves will be transferred to the general HRA reserve.

2.5 Recommendation

2.5.1 Being mindful that, under Section 76(3) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
on the basis of the best available information, the Housing Revenue Account will not be in 
deficit, members are asked to approve the proposed HRA budget for 2020/21.

Page 51



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

52

3 Part 3 Capital strategy 2020/21 to 2022/23 and Capital 
programme 2020/21

Page 52



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

53

3.1 Purpose and aims

3.1.1 The overarching aim of the council’s Capital Strategy is to optimise the availability and 
effective use of resources to support capital projects. The Capital Strategy is intended to 
benefit the council, its partners, Salford residents and businesses by providing a framework 
for optimising and managing the capital resources available to the Council, develop its 
overall asset infrastructure and support the achievement of its priority outcomes.

3.1.2 The council has a number of strategies and plans that influence the Capital Strategy. Many 
of these include assessments of the value, sufficiency and suitability of assets utilised by 
the council in delivering its services. They also include indications of future capital 
investment that the council will need to make to achieve their stated objectives and provide 
information around bids and submissions for resources to various external sources of 
finance.

3.1.3 The main outcome of the Capital Strategy is to ensure capital investment and associated 
activities provide value for money and are in line with the Council’s priority outcomes. This 
strategy will develop and maintain firm foundations and clear guidelines and objectives for 
the council’s capital activities. 

3.2 Objectives

3.2.1 The key objectives of the Capital Strategy are as follows:-

 Facilitate the allocation of available capital resources in line with the Council policies, 
strategies and plans;

 Direct resources towards high priority areas to support the Council’s policies, strategies 
and plans;

 Enable the identification and optimisation of all sources of capital funding and ensure 
its effective utilisation;

 Promote the development of capital projects that demonstrate value for money, 
generate efficiencies and deliver improved performance, planned outputs and 
outcomes;

 Enable the production of deliverable three-year rolling programme;

 Ensure clear and understandable links between the capital programme and the 
revenue budget in relation to financing costs and the running costs associated with 
capital projects;

 Ensure that the approval and subsequent funding of capital projects has regard to the 
Council’s sound financial standing, including the maintenance of sufficient reserves and 
balances, and sustainable and affordable levels of debt; and

 Ensure that property and other tangible asset management issues are fully reflected in 
the Council’s policies, strategies and plans.

3.3 Key Principles

3.3.1 There are a number of key guiding principles that underpin the application and ongoing 
development of the Capital Strategy:-

 Accountability – to be promoted and demonstrated by Officers and Members 
throughout the capital planning processes, including the use of effective monitoring and 
reporting mechanisms.

 Affordability – future revenue consequences of capital projects, including the cost of 
capital financing will be taken in to account in determining the council’s revenue budget

Page 53



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

54

 Prudence – the council will deliver a capital programme that is financially affordable, 
prudent and sustainable.

 Efficiency – the Capital Strategy will support ways to minimise costs and generate 
efficiencies, particularly through invest to save initiatives, taking account of local and 
national targets and regional strategies and initiatives. 

 Improvement – the Capital Strategy will promote and support achievement of 
improvements in service delivery and the use of resources

 Priorities – the Capital Strategy will enable resources to be directed into council 
priorities arising from the great eight

 Sustainability – the Capital Strategy is a key component of the council’s drive to 
ensure all its resources are utilised and managed in a sustainable manner.

 Provision for the repayment of debt over the life of the underlying debt as set out in the 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy in the Treasury Management Strategy.

 Value for Money – projects will be effectively appraised to ensure they promote, 
achieve and demonstrate value for money in the provision of services and the use of 
resources.

 Realistic and Deliverable – capital investment projects must be developed with 
realistic timescales and budgets.

 Risk Management – in accordance with the Council’s risk management strategy, risk 
assessment and management principles and activities will be embedded throughout all 
aspects of the Capital Strategy and programming processes.

3.4 Capital expenditure

3.4.1 An understanding of what constitutes capital expenditure is fundamental to realising the 
benefits that an authority can obtain under the prudential framework. Unless expenditure 
qualifies as capital it will normally fall outside the scope of the framework and be charged 
to revenue in the period that expenditure is incurred. If expenditure meets the definition of 
capital, there may be opportunities to finance the outlay from capital receipts or by 
spreading the cost over future years’ revenue.

3.4.2 There are three ways in which expenditure can qualify as capital under the Prudential 
framework:

 The expenditure results in the acquisition, construction or enhancement of fixed assets 
(tangible and intangible) in accordance with 'proper practices'.

 The expenditure meets one of the definitions specified in regulations made under the 
2003 Local Government Act.

 The Secretary of State makes a direction that the expenditure can be treated as capital 
expenditure.

3.4.3 The capital strategy defines and outlines the Council's approach to capital investment and 
is fundamental to the financial planning process. It aims to ensure that:-

 Capital expenditure contributes to the achievement of the "Great Eight" priorities within 
the strategic plan

 An affordable and sustainable capital programme is delivered

 Use of resources and value for money is maximised

 A clear framework for making capital expenditure is provided

 A corporate approach to generating capital resources is established 

Page 54



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

55

 Access to sufficient long term assets to provide services are acquired and retained

 Borrowing to fund invest to save or self-financing proposals is also a realistic 
proposition, provided a business case is made that savings through efficiency or 
income can meet the capital financing costs of the borrowing.

3.5 Development Capital Investment Projects

3.5.1 There are a number of activities and mechanisms that may instigate capital investment 
proposals, key elements include:

 Specific allocation of capital resources – the council receives notification from 
government departments and other funding bodies of capital grant awards and 
contributions, which are allocated for specific purposes;

 Submission of funding bids – the council is invited to submit bids and plans for capital 
funding available through Government Departments and other funding bodies, usually 
to address specific aims and objectives;

3.5.2 Individual capital investment projects are identified that will deliver specific priority 
outcomes within a given timeframe. Often, there is no specific funding stream available for 
these projects.

3.5.3 Proposed capital investment projects must clearly demonstrate how the investment will 
address specific needs or achieve certain outcomes, including how they will support 
specific council priorities (Salford's Great Eight), strategies and plans. Key steps in 
developing capital investment projects include:

 Project Appraisal – proposed projects will need to demonstrate that they are the best 
option available to deliver the expected outcomes, provide value for money and assess 
the impact of risks associated with  cost assumptions  and funding sources. This 
includes the affordability within the revenue budget of any direct additional revenue 
implications of implementing the capital project. It also includes the affordability within 
the revenue budget over the long term of the debt repayment and interest costs 
associated with any prudential borrowing undertaken to fund capital projects.

 Project Management – project management is essential in delivering effective capital 
projects.

 Capital Programme Control and Monitoring – an essential element of overall project 
management requires that regular reports and updates are produced to provide 
information on the progress and outcomes of capital projects to ensure they are being 
delivered effectively. 

 Post Project Evaluation – all major capital projects should be subject to a final 
evaluation, setting out what it delivered against what was planned. 

 Strategy Review – the Capital Strategy and Capital Programme will be reviewed and 
updated annually.

3.6 Funding Streams

3.6.1 The capital programme is funded from a mix of sources including:-

Page 55



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

56

 Prudential borrowing – the introduction of the Prudential Code in 2004 allowed the 
council to undertake unsupported borrowing itself. This borrowing is subject to the 
requirements of the Prudential Code for Capital Expenditure for Local Authorities. The 
Council must ensure that unsupported borrowing is affordable, prudent and cost 
effective. This funding can also be used to front fund development to stimulate growth. 
This has provided the Council with the flexibility to raise capital funding as demand and 
business need have dictated. This form of borrowing has revenue implications for the 
council in the form of financing costs. It will be necessary to continue to use 
unsupported borrowing to provide the necessary resource in 2020/21 to deliver a fully 
funded capital programme that delivers the desired priority outcomes. Unsupported 
borrowing continues to be the primary source of the council generating its own 
resources towards funding capital investment, with capital receipts being used to repay 
debt as and when asset disposals can be realised and give fair value. 

 External grants – the largest form of capital funding comes through as external grant 
allocations from central government departments 

 External contributions (including Section 106) – elements of the capital programme are 
funded by contributions from private sector developers and partners. Growth in Salford 
has resulted in Section 106 contributions from developers accounting for significant 
elements of funding of the capital programme in recent years.

 Revenue funding – the council can use resources to fund capital projects on a direct 
basis. However, the impact of austerity on the Council’s revenue budget has reduced 
options in this area and therefore the preference is for invest to save options to be 
adopted where feasible.

 Capital receipts – the council is able to generate capital receipts through the sale of 
surplus assets such as land and buildings. The Council seeks to maximise the level of 
these resources and are applied in the first instance to repay debt when they are 
received.

3.7 Governance arrangements

3.7.1 The Authority’s constitution and financial regulations govern the capital programme as set 
out below:

 All capital expenditure must be carried out in accordance with the financial regulations 
and the Council’s Constitution.

 The expenditure must comply with the statutory definition of capital purposes as 
defined within this document and wider financial standards.

 The Capital Programme approved by Full Council as part of the Council’s annual 
budget report sets the capital funding availability for the Council, the prioritisation of 
funding and the schemes receiving entry into the Capital Programme.

 All schemes are formally approved into the capital programme by following a process 
as set out in the financial regulations.

 Officers are not authorised to commit expenditure without prior formal approval as set 
out in the financial regulations.

 Each scheme must be under the control of a responsible person/project manager.

 Any agreements (such as section 106) which contractually commit to procure capital 
schemes will need to follow the same approval process as other capital expenditure 
before it can be formally incorporated into the capital programme.

Page 56



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

57

 The prudential system requires the chief finance officer to recommend prudential 
borrowing indicators to the council, the determination of the capital programme needs 
to be aligned with the revenue budget by considering and approving them at the same 
council meeting

 That an absolute ceiling is placed upon the total value of general unsupported 
borrowing in use in any financial year where it has been used to replace capital 
receipts, and that annual ceiling should be £20.937m in 2020/21 with a commitment to 
further reduce in future years (Note: unsupported borrowing used on an invest to save 
or self-financing basis would be treated as long-term borrowing funded from revenue 
savings or income and therefore be excluded from this ceiling)

3.7.2 The main internal bodies that are responsible for the governance and management of the 
capital programme are the Full Council and Budget Strategy Group. 

3.8 Knowledge and Skills

3.8.1 The Council utilises the knowledge and skills of its internal officers when considering 
capital investment decisions and where necessary it also relies on the expert knowledge of 
specialist external advisors.

3.8.2 The Council employs professionally qualified legal, finance and property officers who are 
able to offer advice and guidance when considering any capital investment decisions.

Finance

3.8.3 Finance staff are professionally qualified to advise the Council on all financial aspects of 
capital decisions. They also have the necessary experience of how the Council works 
having been in post for a number of years. Finance staff also undertake Continuous 
Professional Development and the Council is an accredited body of the CIPFA (Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance Accountancy) CPD scheme. They maintain knowledge and skills 
through regular technical updates from appropriate bodies.

Property

3.8.4 Urban Vision support the Council on all property matters, with their property team made up 
of a number of Chartered Surveyors. They are all members of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) and comply with the RICS’s rules in relation to Continuing 
Professional Development. The team have extensive property knowledge and have worked 
in partnership with the Council for a number of years.

Legal

3.8.5 Legal Staff are professionally qualified as either solicitors or legal executives and are 
regulated by their respective professional bodies (Solicitors Regulation Body/Institute of 
Legal Executives). The staff undertake Continuing Professional Development and their 
rules of conduct require that they have an appropriate level of skill and expertise to deal 
with the particular matter with which they are dealing. All staff are aware of the operational 
structure of the Council. They maintain knowledge and skills through regular technical 
updates from appropriate bodies.

External Advice

3.8.6 The Council uses external advisors where necessary in order to complement the 
knowledge its own officers hold.

Page 57



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

58

3.9 Review of 2019/20

3.9.1 A capital programme of £105.682m for 2019/20 was originally approved by council last 
February, funded by government grant of £34.166m, unsupported borrowing of £30.919m, 
invest to save of £38.608m and other contributions of £1.989m.

3.9.2 Variations to the original programme occurred when previously estimated government 
grant funding was confirmed and unspent allocations were rolled forward from 2018/19 to 
2019/20. All programme adjustments have been reported and approved as part of the 
monthly budget monitoring process.

3.9.3 Based on the December 2019 capital monitoring, outturn capital expenditure is expected to 
be £98.720m, funded by government grant of £18.903m, unsupported borrowing of 
£76.924m and other contributions of £2.893m. A further £44.499m of the programme has 
been re-profiled from the 2019/20 programme into 2020/21 of which £28.633m is funded 
from unsupported borrowing and £15.866m from grant/other.

3.10 Capital expenditure proposals 2020/21

3.10.1 On the basis of the council’s priorities for capital investment, and having regard to the 
estimate of available resources, a capital programme amounting to £115.789m is 
proposed, as summarised in the table below:

Self-financing General Grant/ other Total
£m £m £m £m

Place 31.937 19.937 61.048 112.922
People - 1.000 - 1.000
Service reform 1.867 - - 1.867
Total Requirement 33.804 20.937 61.048 115.789

Sources of Funding
Unsupported borrowing

A schedule of the schemes contained in the proposed capital programme is included at 
Appendix 6.

3.10.2 All new capital proposals have been subjected to scrutiny by Budget Strategy Group and 
Mayoral Team.

3.10.3 Approval to the proposed capital programme at this stage should therefore be seen as 
giving consent to an initial programme of those schemes that are at present contractually 
uncommitted proceeding to design and tender stage. Approval to commit capital 
expenditure on individual projects will continue to be referred to Procurement Board, as at 
present, to ensure that projects will only be committed if funding is available or certain to 
become available. 

3.10.4 It should be noted at this stage that the capital programme can be subject to change as the 
year unfolds, with new schemes being introduced as funding sources are confirmed, 
schemes being removed if the expected funding proves not to be available and 
expenditure forecasts changing.

3.10.5 The capital programme will be continuously reviewed during 2020/21 to reflect any 
significant variations that may arise, any new priorities that may emerge and the impact of 
2019/20 capital outturn.  

Page 58



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

59

3.10.6 The capital programme of £115.789m represents a £10.107m increase from the 2019/20 
programme. A programme of this level will enable the following capital priorities to be 
delivered in 2020/21:

Regeneration 

3.10.7 Growth is a key priority for the city, of which regeneration is at the heart of the council’s 
priorities and a major driver for delivering the council’s economic growth agenda. The 
ability to influence and achieve economic growth in the city defines the council’s priorities 
for capital investment.

3.10.8 In the next 5 years, based on the current development pipeline, £4bn private sector 
investment into Salford is expected with 18,000 new houses and accompanying 
employment floor space being developed. Salford’s exceptional level of growth is forecast 
to continue at more or less the equivalent rate of the past decade with:

 An extra 20,000 residents living in the city

 Over £2bn GVA growth, 

 An additional 15,000 jobs

 Increases in council tax and business rate revenue over the next decade
3.10.9 The Quays, the Western Gateway and Salford City Centre, are the focus for investment, 

economic growth and job creation in the city, poised to deliver 40,000 new homes and 
40,000 new jobs by 2040.

3.10.10 The council is also working with a number of partners to deliver major housing change 
across the city, notably in Pendleton, Ordsall, Lower Broughton, Seedley and Langworthy 
and Charlestown/ Kersal. 

3.10.11 The presence of many major developers, house builders and financial institutions investing 
within the city and working in partnership with the council creates the opportunity for the 
council to integrate resources and programmes effectively and to gear the use of the 
council’s own resources to maximise this investment potential. Careful targeting of the 
council’s resources can stimulate other investment to promote the regeneration and 
economic growth of the city and better services.

3.10.12 There are a significant number of projects underway or planned that will have major long 
term impact on the city, creating new employment, training opportunities and industries of 
the future. Current developments include MediaCityUK, Port Salford, New Bailey, 
Middlewood, Greengate and RHS Bridgewater set to open on the 30 July sitting alongside 
new development opportunities such as the Salford Crescent and University Masterplan.

3.10.13 The Greater Manchester Strategy and the devolution agenda bring new opportunities for 
investment; funds such as the Greater Manchester Investment Fund (GMIF), Northern 
Powerhouse Investment Fund and Housing Investment Fund will support business, 
investment and major infrastructure projects, alongside government funding opportunities 
such as Housing Infrastructure Funding. 

Transport and Infrastructure

3.10.14 Significant and continued economic growth is creating significant transport and 
infrastructure challenges for Salford, but by meeting these challenges head on with 
commitment and creativity, transport and infrastructure can be an engine for economic 
growth whilst helping us achieve carbon reduction targets and improve the quality of life for 
everyone in Salford. 

Page 59



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

60

3.10.15 The Greater Manchester Transport Strategy 2040 sets out an Infrastructure Programme 
that will, over the next decade, continue to underpin the overall Regeneration programme 
providing the critical infrastructure to enable major regeneration programmes to proceed 
and ensuring that we have a transport network that is fit for purpose, reliable, cost effective 
and safe for our residents and businesses alike. The majority of capital investment needed 
will come from sources outside the Council including Department for Transport and other 
government funding (Including Network Rail and Highways England) matched with private 
sector investment driven by major regeneration schemes. 

3.10.16 Significant government transport and infrastructure funding will be devolved to Greater 
Manchester and we are working closely with TfGM, other districts, the GM LEP and other 
partners (network Rail and Highways Agency) to ensure that our priorities are understood, 
embedded in the wider GM programme and that our funding needs are met. 

Schools

3.10.17 The Education Asset Management Plan (AMP) sets out the need to provide high quality 
education in accommodation that stimulates a learning environment for school pupils and 
members of the community.  

3.10.18 The council’s capital programme for schools is largely driven by government funding 
initiatives to address increasing demand for primary pupil places within the city and capital 
maintenance grant to improve primary school conditions.

Health and Social Care

3.10.19 The small amount of capital funding received from government grants is applied through 
the capital strategy with the aim of improving life chances and promoting the independence 
of people in Salford. There is a whole system approach towards health and social care in 
partnership with users and carers, Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS Trusts, the 
voluntary sector, independent providers and others to shape services across all areas.

Environment 

3.10.20 The capital strategy is targeted at supporting the regeneration of the city, promoting health 
and wellbeing through the Parks for People strategy, addressing national targets with 
regards to waste management and recycling, meeting health and safety requirements in 
cemeteries and crematoria, and providing investment in the sustainability of key heritage, 
community assets and services.

Property

3.10.21 The capital strategy aims to provide office accommodation and other facilities that are fit for 
purpose in supporting services to meet their plans and priorities, focussing currently on 
core operating sites, supported by other satellite offices. The office accommodation 
strategy also embraces the property requirements of new ways of working, opportunities to 
rationalise the estate, share accommodation with partners together with the identification of 
surplus assets.

3.11 Capital expenditure proposals 2021-2023

3.11.1 Capital expenditure beyond for 2021/22 and 2022/23 has been identified by services, but 
no commitment at this stage has been given to these schemes. The following table 
summarises the indicative amounts required, totalled by internal and external sources of 
finance:

Page 60



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 3. Capital

61

Internal External Internal External
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Requirement 38.516 39.753 38.463 13.824 130.556

2021/22 2022/23 Total

3.12 Underlying assumptions

3.12.1 A total of £54.741m will be borrowed using unsupported borrowing powers.

 £33.804m will be used on invest to save basis. 

 The remaining £20.937m will be used in general support and the capital financing 
charges on that unsupported borrowing can be met from the revenue budget. 
Appropriate provision has been made in the General Fund revenue budget to fund the 
unsupported borrowing to be used in funding of the capital programme. 

3.12.2 Usable capital receipts estimated at £10m from asset disposals will be applied in the first 
instance to the repayment of historic unsupported borrowing accumulated from previous 
years in respect of General Fund capital expenditure 

3.13 Risks

The key risks and the way in which they will be mitigated are set out below:-

3.13.1 Any over-commitment of resources is not managed within the resources available. The 
management of individual service allocations allows for the tendency of capital 
programmes to under spend. Services are permitted to set over-programming levels to 
reflect this in the expectation that the outturn expenditure will be managed within the 
resource made available. This approach runs the risk of expenditure over-shooting the 
resources available, but limits are applied to the over-programming that reflects the level of 
contractually committed expenditure and provision for new starts.

3.13.2 Unsupported borrowing will be over-committed and become unaffordable to the revenue 
budget. Parameters have been established within which the use of unsupported borrowing 
as replacement for capital receipts will be managed so as to be affordable to the revenue 
budgets of both the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account.

3.13.3 Government grants not being realised. Capital projects which are reliant on grant support 
will not be commissioned unless a grant approval has been received or is confidently 
expected. All proposed capital expenditure will be subject to the approval of the 
Procurement Board, who must be satisfied with the certainty of grant support. 

3.13.4 Cost overruns. Expenditure on capital schemes is monitored regularly and project 
managers are required to report any cost increase to the City Mayor. Where possible, cost 
overruns will be managed within resource allocations to services. Where an increase in 
resource is required this will be considered by the City Mayor.

Page 61



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 4. Prudential indicators

62

4 Part 4 Prudential indicators 2020/21 to 2022/23

Page 62



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 4. Prudential indicators

63

4.1 Background 

4.1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires each local authority to determine its own 
affordable borrowing limits and to have regard to specified codes of practice when 
determining these limits.

4.1.2 Regulations issued pursuant to the Act endorsed a code of practice produced by CIPFA 
(the Prudential Code for Capital Finance) which a local authority should follow in 
determining its borrowing limits. 

4.1.3 This report therefore sets out the limits for 2020/21, and indicative values over the medium 
term, to establish the affordability of the council’s capital investment and treasury 
management plans. More detail is set out in the Treasury Management Strategy, Annual 
Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement which is also being 
presented to council. Limits are continuously monitored by the Chief Finance Officer.

4.2 Prudential limits 2020/21 to 2022/23

Prudential Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£M £M £M £M £M
Capital Expenditure
  Non-HRA 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3
  HRA 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
  Total 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3

Capital financing requirement (CFR)
  Non-HRA 642.1 685.7 886.7 881.0 874.2
  HRA 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5
  Total 643.6 687.2 888.2 882.5 875.7

The capital financing requirement is a measurement of the council’s underlying need to borrow to 
support its capital programme. 

4.2.1 Financing costs include the principal and interest costs of servicing debt.

4.2.2 The operational boundary limit for external debt reflects a prudent, but not worst case, 
scenario without the additional headroom included within the authorised limit. It is possible 
that the limit will be breached for specific, operational reasons, but any such breach would 
be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the first opportunity.

Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Operational boundary for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 558.7 621.8 626.9 630.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 215.2 208.8 359.8 350.2 321.0
Total 774.0 830.6 986.7 981.0 935.7

4.2.3 The authorised limit represents an absolute boundary that should meet all possible 
eventualities that may arise in the council’s treasury management activities. Authority is 
delegated to the Chief Finance Officer as Section 151 Officer to effect movement between 
the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long term liabilities, in urgent 
circumstances to exceed these limits without council approval, and to report any such 
changes to the council at its next meeting following the change.  (NB. Such a course of 
action, if deemed necessary, is permitted within the CIPFA code).

Page 63



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 4. Prudential indicators

64

Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 680.6 698.8 685.4 650.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 245.2 238.8 389.8 380.2 331.0
Total 925.9 937.5 1,075.2 1,031.0 945.7

4.2.4 It has not been necessary to invoke this delegation since the inception of prudential 
borrowing on 1st April 2004 and, accordingly, there have been no breaches of these limits 
in 2019/20.

4.2.5 Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after 
each year-end.

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Estimated 
position at 
year end

Upper Limit for Investments beyond 365
days £40m £40m £40m £40m £0 

4.2.6 Maturity structure of borrowing - These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper 
and lower limits.

Estimated 
position at 
year end

Maturity structure for fixed rate
borrowing

Upper Limit Lower Limit % £M

Under 12 months 75% 0% 32% 268.1
12 and within 24 months 50% 0% 8% 65.2
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0% 13% 110.9
5 years and within 10 years 50% 0% 19% 157.4
10 years and above 100% 25% 28% 236.5

Maturity structure for variable rate
borrowing

Upper Limit Lower Limit % £M

Under 12 months 10% 0% 0% 0.0
12 and within 24 months 0% 0% 0% 0.0
24 months and within 5 years 0% 0% 0% 0.0
5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 0% 0.0
10 years and above 0% 0% 0% 0.0

Treasury Indicators

All Years

Page 64



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme 5. Recommendations

65

5 Part 5 Summary of recommendations
5.1.1 Members are requested to:

1. Note and support the risk assessment of reserves and assumptions made in preparing the 
revenue budget for 2020/21, and accordingly approve a revenue budget of £217.015m

2. Approve in accordance with the formal resolution set out in Appendix 4:

a) a council tax requirement in accordance with section 31A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (LGFA 1992)

b) a basic amount of council tax and an amount for each valuation band in accordance with 
section 31B and 36 of the LGFA 1992

c) an amount of council tax for each valuation band in accordance with section 30 of the 
LGFA 1992

d) an empty property premium in accordance with the Rating (Property in Common 
Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018

3. Approve the HRA budget for 2020/21 as set out in Part 2

4. Request that each Lead Member and Strategic Director monitors rigorously the implementation 
of the accepted savings and expenditure against budget to ensure that overall net expenditure 
is contained within budget, and for the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the 
Chief Finance Officer (s151 officer) to report to Overview and Scrutiny Board on progress with 
the budget on a corporate basis

5. Approve a capital programme of £115.789m for 2020/21 and the proposed sources of funding 
as set out in Part 3 and detailed in Appendix 6, and require all capital proposals to be referred 
to the Procurement Board for approval, supported by detailed funding arrangements, prior to 
contractual commitments being made.

6. Approve the treasury management prudential indicators for 2020/21 to 2022/23 as set out in 
Part 4. 

7. Approve the delegation of authority to the Chief Finance Officer (S151 Officer) after 
consultation with Lead Member for Finance and Support Services and the City Mayor, to make 
any necessary technical adjustments to the figures upon receipt of any further details 
associated to the final Local Government Finance Settlement.

Paul Dennett

City Mayor

Page 65



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendices

66

6 Appendices

Page 66



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendices

67

Appendices

Re: part 1 – The revenue budget and council tax levy 2020/21

1. 2019/20 financial performance

2. Risk assessment of general reserves 

3. 2020/21 revenue budget 

4. Formal resolutions – 2020/21 council tax

Re: part 2 – Housing Revenue Account (HRA) revenue budget 2020/21

5. Summary of HRA forecast outturn 2019/20 and budget 2020/21

Re: part 3 –Capital programme 2020/21

6. Capital programme 2020/21 – proposed programme 

Page 67



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 1 financial performance

68

Appendix 1 2019/20 financial performance

Services 

Revised 
estimate 
2019/20

Provisional 
outturn 
2019/20

Variation 

£'000 £'000 £'000
People (Children's) - GF 86,975 91,856 4,881
People (Adults) 63,813 64,210 397
Place 46,354 46,487 133
Service Reform 13,564 13,343 -221
Public Health 19,275 18,999 -276
Precepts and Charges 38,768 38,768 0
Capital Financing 36,081 34,436 -1,645
Net cost of services 304,830 308,099 3,269

Central costs:
Reversal of depreciation charges -36,934 -36,934 0
Contribution to / (from) specific reserves, funds and provisions -931 -931 0
Use of PFI, new homes bonus and other specific non ring fenced grants -46,624 -46,624 0
Dividend income -5,530 -6,429 -899
Pay/price inflation/efficiencies and centrally held grants 8,482 6,307 -2,175
Other non distributed costs including prior year pension costs and notional 
financing adjustments

2,159 1,964 -195

Central costs total -79,378 -82,647 -3,269

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -20,211 -20,211 0
205,241 205,241 0

Transfer to / (from) General Fund reserves 0 0 0

Net expenditure 205,241 205,241 0

2019/20 service group allocations and variations from the approved budget

The revised estimate is the council’s budget forecast at November 2019. It is an updated version of 
the budget originally approved for 2019/20, adjusted for the latest information at the time. Revisions 
include allocations from the provision for inflation and contingencies for items which were provided 
for in the original budget but not allocated to service groups at that time.

The variation between the revised estimate and the forecast outturn relate to items identified in the 
budget monitoring exercise and detailed in the following table.

Page 68



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 1 financial performance

69

£'000 £'000
Approved budget 2019/20 205,241

Major service variations
People (Children's) - GF

Youth Service / Localities 364
Integrated Fund (Childrens) - Risk Share
Looked After Children 6,480
Child in Need 504
Complex Needs - SEN 559
Other -81
Risk share adjustment -2,945

4,881
People (Adults)

Integrated Fund (Adults) - Risk Share 397
397

Place
Planning and Transport Income -940
Transformation 793
Operational and Commercial Services 421
Citywide -481
Culture and Leisure 136
Regeneration 68
Property 149
Other -13

133
Service Reform

Service Reform -221
-221

Public Health
Public Health -276

-276
Precepts and Charges

0
0

Capital Financing
Minimum Revenue Provision -624
Public Works Loan Board borrowing -547
Temporary borrowing -474

-1,645

Variation in service costs 3,269

Central costs
Additional airport dividend -899
Surplus central provision for pay and prices -384
Centrally held grants -1,791
Surplus provision for pension increase charges -195

-3,269

Outturn budget 2019/20 205,241

Variation from the approved budget to provisional outturn budget

 

Page 69



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 1 financial performance

70

Forecast general fund reserves are shown below

 

£m
Balance as at 31 March 2019 13.2
Add:
Planned call on reserves in 19/20 0.0
Estimated balance as at 31 March 2020 13.2

General fund reserves

Page 70



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

71

Appendix 2 - Risk assessment of general reserves

P
age 71



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

72

Minimum Desirable Explanation of Risk/Justification for Reserves Minimum Desirable
£000s £000s £000s £000s

              -                 -   Pay The joint trade union side (Unison, GMB and Unite) , have claimed a real living
wage of £10 per hour to be introduced for NJC scp 1 and a 10% increase on all
other NJC/GLPC pay points. An extra days paid leave and a two hour reduction to
the working week. The unions have rejected an offer of a 2% rise. The budget
provides for a prudent increase. 

           1,130               3,955 

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £1.130m, Medium £3.955m, High £7.909m

Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Low
The budget assumes that price inflation can be managed by service groups within
a zero cash-limited increase or specific inflation allowances. It is acknowledged
that the level of recent and expected future savings requirements, together with the
policy of no increases for general inflation makes it increasingly difficult for services 
to absorb price inflation pressures. 

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.250m, Medium £0.500, High £0.750
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
The requirement to make previous savings relating to our property portfolio while at
the same time absorbing price inflation and applying restrictions on discretionary
spending areas has resulted in a substantial reduction in the level of repairs and
maintenance in recent years. There is an increasing risk that the condition of our
assets will deteriorate resulting in an increased cost to rectify or to address health
and safety factors. 

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.500m, Medium £0.750m, High £1.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium

750 1,000 Repairs and 
maintenance

750 1,000

2019/20 Provision Risk assessment of reserves 2020/21
Reserves requirement

Area of 
Expenditure

530 795 Prices 500 750

 

P
age 72



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

73

Experience demonstrates that key areas of service provision to adults and the
elderly can come under pressure from increasing demand. The council and its
integrated care system partners have successfully worked over many years to
rethink and redesign services to make support to our residents more economic,
efficient and effective and person-centred. Nevertheless, there continues to be
pressure on care for adults with learning difficulties as a consequence of longer life
expectancy and through children in care with such difficulties transferring to the
adult service. In addition, dementia and an ageing population lead to pressures in
older people’s services.  

The council, in alliance with its NHS partners, manages all these pressures
through an integrated care system encompassing pooled budget and other
partnership arrangements. The reserve makes a financial provision for the timing
difference between investment in service transformation and the savings it will
ultimately deliver.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.500m, Medium £1.000m, High £2.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
The service budgets assume a level of income generation, which could be affected
by wider economic factors.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.150m, Medium £0.250m, High £0.350m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
In recent years the council has strenghtened its budget provision for looked after
children services however cost pressures remain reflecting the national trend.
Whilst we have a strategy for managing existing pressures there is a risk that
demand will continue to increase.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £1.000m, Medium £1.500m, High £2.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium

250 350 Service income 
budgets

2,000 2,500 Looked-after 
children 
(Integrated 
health and care 
pooled budget)

1,500 2,000

1,000 2,000 Adult Social Care 
(Integrated 
health and care 
pooled budget)

1,000 2,000

P
age 73



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

74

There is a continual risk of demand pressures from a potential increase in the
number of special needs children requiring transport provision. Improved controls
reduce the risks but there still remains a chance that the budget may be exceeded. 

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0m, Medium £0.200m, High £0.400m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
This area has seen significant investment in recent years linked to a substantial
increase in recycling and a consequential reduction in the waste levy. This
investment has delivered the required outcomes and substantial savings in recent
years. However, the impact of these initiatives is still reliant on our residents
continuing to buy in to the proposals and increasing their recycling activities. Our
waste management costs are linked to other Greater Manchester authorities
through an inter authority agreement. Other districts improved performance can
have a significant adverse impact on the waste levy. The budget includes a
provision to cover these increases but there is a potential risk that actual recycling
performance falls short of increasingly stretching targets. Recent renewal of the
inter authority agreement reduces the severity of the risk this year.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.000m, Medium £0.000m, High £0.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
This risk relates to a wholesale review of local government funding for 2021/22 and
thereafter. The outcome of current consultations is uncertain, but indications are
that the council may be detrimentally affected by a number of factors, including:
Universal Credit, the lessening of the impact of deprivation as a formula factor, a
review of New Homes Bonus; revision of the business rates support scheme and
the likely ending of the current, advantageous 100% pilot scheme. This risk is
usually recognised in advance in our budget projections but the degree of
uncertainty is greater than normal in 2021/22.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £2.000m, Medium £4.000m, High £6.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium

1,000 1,200 Government 
funding

4,000 6,000

200 400 Children – SEN 
Transport

200 400

375 500 Waste Levy / 
recycling

0 0

 

P
age 74



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

75

The level of the council’s temporary borrowing and its plans to increase borrowing
means that we are particularly vulnerable to interest rate changes. This risk is
reflected in our financial projections, but additional uncertainty is arising in
consequence to potential destabilisation as a result of Brexit. The risk control
measures built into our treasury management strategy mitigate these risks,
however the medium term forecast is for interest rates to increase and therefore
the risk is increasing. The assessment is based on the impacts of marginal
changes in interest rates.
Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.600m, Medium £0.900m, High £1200m

Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
The council has seen an increase in both the cost of appeals and aggressive
business rate avoidance tactics. There is an emerging risk around categories of
the relief status of certain categories of assets. The assessment also includes a
provision for risks to businesses relating to Brexit.
Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.600m, Medium £1.200m, High £2.500m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Medium
The risk assessment continues to recognise the pressure put on council services
by the cumulative effects of savings proposals.

Assessment:
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed : Low £0.500m, Medium £0.750m, High £1.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Low

900 1,200 Capital Financing 900 1,200

3,500 4,900 Non-achievement 
of savings

500 750

1,200 2,500 Business Rates 
Retention 
Scheme (BRRS)

1,200 2,500

 

P
age 75



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 2 Risk assessment of general reserves

76

 
There is a risk that unexpected events may arise which require expenditure to be
incurred or income to be foregone, that have not been budgeted for. In this regard,
CIPFA recommend that sufficient contingency is kept to meet emergencies that
are not covered by other means such as insurance, e.g. the extreme wet weather
conditions experienced in our area in December 2015. The risk assessment is
based broadly on 0.5% of the net revenue budget for cover for low risk, 0.75% for
medium risk and 1% for high risk. The overall risk has been reassessed to low to
reflect the recognition of risks in other categories above.

Assessment :
Degree of Risk/Reserve Needed: Low £1.000m, Medium £1.500m, High £2.000m
Assessment of Likelihood of Risk Occurring : Low

12,705 18,845 Total 12,680 22,055

1,000 1,500 Other 
unforeseen 
expenditure or 
income shortfall

1,000 1,500

P
age 76



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 3 revenue budget

77

Appendix 3 2020/21 revenue budget
 

£'000 £'000 £'000
People (Children's) - GF 86,975 92,701 5,726
People (Adults) 63,813 64,114 301
Place 46,354 46,095 -259
Service Reform 13,564 14,005 441
Public Health 19,275 18,375 -900
Precepts and Charges 38,768 38,763 -5
Capital Financing 36,081 37,081 1,000
Net cost of services 304,830 311,134 6,304

Central costs:
Reversal of depreciation charges -36,934 -36,934 0
Contribution to / (from) specific reserves, funds and provisions -931 10,439 11,370
Use of new homes bonus and other specific non ring fenced grants -46,624 -54,933 -8,309
Dividend income -5,530 -5,530 0
Unallocated pay/price inflation/efficiencies and centrally held grants 8,482 10,891 2,409
Other non distributed costs including prior year pension costs and notional 
financing adjustments

2,159 2,159 0

Central costs total -79,378 -73,908 5,470

Public Health grant funded from BRRS -20,211 -20,211 0
205,241 217,015 11,774

Transfer to / (from) General Fund reserves 0 0 0

Net expenditure 205,241 217,015 11,774

2020/21 service group allocations and variations from the approved budget

Services 

Revised 
estimate 
2019/20

VariationRevised 
estimate 
2020/21

A subjective analysis of the above variation is shown in the following table:

Page 77



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 3 revenue budget

78

£m £m
2019/20 approved budget 205.241

Inflationary and other increases outside the direct control of the council
Pay awards 3.391
Pay - increments 0.220
Pensions change in contribution rate 0.025
Residual cost of living wage 0.247
Price inflation 0.262

4.145
Service issues

Other service commitments – revenue maintenance of capital projects etc 0.080
Service investment - Street cleaning 0.585
Participatory budgets 0.250
Adult social care provision 2.380
Children's social care provision 6.273

9.568
Government funding issues

New Homes Bonus grant -2.645
New Social Care grant -5.873
Other specific grant changes 0.105

-8.413
Efficiencies and savings

2020/21 savings and efficiencies -9.812
Reversal of one off efficiencies from 2019/20 5.822

-3.990
Financing adjustments

Capital Financing costs 1.000
Three year smoothing strategy 8.497
Business Rates reserve changes 0.967

10.464

2020/21 revenue budget 217.015

Analysis of budget changes 2019/20 to 2020/21

Page 78



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 4 formal resolutions

79

Appendix 4 Formal resolutions - 2020/21 council tax
1. That the revised revenue estimates for the year 2019/20 and 2020/21 as set out in this report 

be approved.

2. That the council confirms the decision of the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services 
on 6 January 2020 to approve the calculation of 69,945 as the council’s council tax base for the 
year 2020/21 (Item T in the formula in Section 31B (1) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, as amended).

3. That the council confirms the action of the chief finance officer (s151 officer) in approving a 
business rates estimate which shows £90.050m as the council’s share of its retained business 
rates for 2020/21. 

4. That the following amounts be now calculated by the council for the year 2020/21 in 
accordance with Sections 31 to 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (the Act):

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

A B D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

1,093.50 1,275.76 1,640.26 2,004.76 2,369.26 2,733.76 3,280.52

£694,061,793 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the
items set out in Section 31A (2) of the act representing the gross
revenue budget of the council.

£579,333,807 being the aggregate of the amounts which the council estimates for the
items set out in Section 31A (3) of the Act 

£114,727,986 being the amount by which the aggregate at 4(a) above exceeds the
aggregate at 4(b) above, calculated by the council, in accordance with
Section 31A (4) of the Act, as its council tax requirement for the year.
(Item R in the formula in Section 31A (4) of the Act). 

£1,640.26 being the amount at 4(c) above, divided by Item T (2 above) calculated
by the council, in accordance with Section31B (1) of the Act, as the
basic amount of its council tax for the year.

A minus C
£ £

The amounts attributable to the valuation bands as shown in the following table being the amounts given by 
multiplying the amount at 4(d) above by the number which, in the proportion set out in Section 5(1) of the Act, is 
applicable to dwellings listed in a particular valuation band divided by the number which in that proportion is 
applicable to dwellings listed in valuation band D, calculated by the council, in accordance with Section 36(1) of 
the Act, as the amounts to be taken into account for the year in respect of categories of dwellings listed in 
different valuation bands.

911.26 1,458.00

Page 79



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 4 formal resolutions

80

5. That it be noted that for the year 2020/21 the Greater Manchester mayor has stated the 
following amounts in precepts issued to the council, in accordance with Section 40 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992, for each of the categories of the dwellings shown below.

A minus A B C D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

115.72 138.86 162.01 185.15 208.30 254.58 300.87 347.16 416.60

A minus A B C D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

50.52 60.63 70.73 80.84 90.95 111.16 131.37 151.58 181.90

Precept valuation bands

Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept

Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services)

6. That, having calculated the aggregate in each case of the amounts at 4(e) and 5 above, the 
council, in accordance with Sections 30 and 36 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
hereby sets the following amounts as the amounts of council tax for the year 2020/21 for each 
of the categories of dwellings shown below:

A minus A B C D E F G H
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

1,077.50 1,292.99 1,508.50 1,723.99 1,939.51 2,370.50 2,801.50 3,232.50 3,879.02

2020/21 council tax

7. That the council tax empty property premium charged in accordance with the Rating (Property 
in Common Occupation) and Council Tax (Empty Dwellings) Act 2018 shall be:

 From 1 April 2020: 100% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 2 and 5 years 
and 200% for a dwelling that has been empty for 5 years or more 

 From 1 April 2021:100% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 2 and 5 years, 
200% for a dwelling that has been empty for between 5 and 10 years and 300% for a 
dwelling that has been empty for 10 years or more.

Page 80



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 5 HRA revenue budget 

81

Appendix 5 Housing revenue account (HRA) forecast outturn 
2019/20 and budget 2020/21

 HRA

2019/20 
Original 
Budget

2019/20 
Outturn 
Forecast

2020/21 
Estimated 
Budget

 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Recharge to HRA including strategy 290 287 296

Private Finance Initiative - implementation 286 225 284

Central Internal Recharges 219 219 219

Contribution to capital programme 150 150 150

Provision for bad debts 184 171 187

Other costs including SLAs 86 83 87

Loan charges/interest 49 49 49

PFI 13,836 13,547 13,985

Contribution to/(from) balances 749 1,845 (387)

Expenditure - total 15,849 16,576 14,870

 

Income

Rental income (5,229) (5,581) (5,296)

Other income (950) (984) (1,013)

PFI credits (7,511) (7,511) (7,511)

Proceeds from Salix transfer (1,789) (2,500) (910)

Contribution from PFI reserves (369) 0 (140)

Income - total (15,849) (16,576) (14,870)

Net budget 0 0 0

Page 81



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 6 Capital programme 

82

Appendix 6 2020/21 Capital programme - by service

Scheme Name 2020-21
Self 
financing Unsupported

Grant/ 
other Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Place - Regeneration
Pre-imp. Regeneration and Infrastructure 0.300 - 0.300 - 0.300
Strategic place making 0.050 - 0.050 - 0.050
Strategic development 0.050 - 0.050 - 0.050
Strategic connections 13.276 - - 13.276 13.276
Western gateway 0.150 - 0.150 - 0.150
City Centre Salford 22.560 - 0.460 22.100 22.560
Salford Quays & MediaCityUK 8.963 - 0.182 8.781 8.963
RHS Garden Bridgewater 6.705 - 0.937 5.768 6.705
Strategic environmental infrastructure plan 0.050 - 0.050 - 0.050
Buile Hill Mansion 1.225 - 1.100 0.125 1.225
Capitalised salaries 1.257 - 1.257 - 1.257

Total - Regeneration 54.586 - 4.536 50.050 54.586

Place - Environment
Waste containers 0.162 - 0.162 - 0.162
Fleet replacement 0.510 - 0.510 - 0.510
Bereavement services 0.050 - 0.050 - 0.050
Greenspace and streetscene 1.121 - 0.380 0.741 1.121

Total - Environment 1.843 - 1.102 0.741 1.843

Place - Salford Community Leisure
Salford sport village 0.285 - - 0.285 0.285
Salford Museum and Art Gallery 0.160 - 0.067 0.093 0.160
Brookhouse changing rooms adult wing 0.070 - 0.070 - 0.070
Lowry investment 0.274 - 0.274 - 0.274
Pendleton Leisure Centre 0.625 - 0.625 - 0.625

Total - Salford Community Leisure 1.414 - 1.036 0.378 1.414

Place - Housing Regulatory Services
Affordable warmth 0.100 - 0.100 - 0.100
Empty properties 0.150 - - 0.150 0.150
Housing enforcement 0.500 - 0.500 - 0.500
Handyperson 0.350 - 0.350 - 0.350
Home Improvement Agency 0.100 - 0.100 - 0.100
Housing crime reduction 0.221 - 0.221 - 0.221
Salford money line 0.040 - 0.040 - 0.040
Winter welfare 0.070 - 0.070 - 0.070
Capitalised salaries 0.505 - 0.505 - 0.505

Total - Housing Regulatory Services 2.036 - 1.886 0.150 2.036

Source of finance
Internal External

Page 82



2020/21 Revenue budget and capital programme Appendix 6 Capital programme 

83

Scheme Name 2020/21
Self 
financing Unsupported

Grant/ 
other Total

£m £m £m £m £m

Place - Planning & Low Carbon
Trend BEMS controls 0.026 - 0.026 - 0.026
LED Lighting retrofit 0.074 - 0.074 - 0.074
Solar PV on public buildings 0.400 0.400 - - 0.400
Unlocking clean energy in Grtr Manchester 3.076 1.784 - 1.292 3.076
Capitalised salaries 0.583 - 0.583 - 0.583

Total - Planning & Low Carbon 4.160 2.184 0.683 1.292 4.160

Place - Property
Property - general maintenance 2.500 - 2.500 - 2.500
Property - new premises 0.200 - 0.200 - 0.200
Embankment 2.220 2.220 - - 2.220
Capitalised salaries 0.244 - 0.244 - 0.244

Total - Property 5.164 2.220 2.944 - 5.164

Place - Housing Strategy & Enabling
Housing development and delivery 22.237 22.237 - - 22.237
Derive 3.397 1.377 2.020 - 3.397
Duchy Gypsy and Travellers Site 0.250 - 0.250 - 0.250
HRA New Build 9.657 3.919 - 5.738 9.657
Pendleton 0.505 - 0.505 - 0.505
Project development 0.100 - 0.100 - 0.100
Capitalised salaries 0.106 - 0.106 - 0.106

Total - Housing Strategy & Enabling 36.252 27.533 2.981 5.738 36.252

Place - Highways
Block 3 programme 1.872 - - 1.872 1.872
Capitalisation of highway maintenance 1.980 - 1.980 - 1.980
Crash Barrier Investment Programme 0.091 - 0.091 - 0.091
Highway Investment Programme 1.800 - 1.300 0.500 1.800
Adopted Structures 0.625 - 0.484 0.141 0.625
Non-Adopted Structural Assets 0.827 - 0.640 0.187 0.827
Flood Risk Management (CIP & DIP) 0.273 - 0.273 - 0.273

Total - Highways 7.468 - 4.768 2.700 7.468

Total - Place 112.922 31.937 19.937 61.048 112.922

People - Children & Adults
Social care management software 1.000 - 1.000 - 1.000

Total - People 1.000 - 1.000 - 1.000

Service reform
Strategic investment 1.867 1.867 - - 1.867

Total - Service reform 1.867 1.867 - - 1.867

Total Capital Requirement 115.789 33.804 20.937 61.048 115.789

Source of finance
Internal External

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ITEM NO. 

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES

TO THE CITY COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 26 FEBRUARY 2020

Subject: 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum 
Revenue Provision Policy Statement

RECOMMENDATION:

Council is asked to approve the strategy for 2020/21 including:

 The Treasury Management Strategy
 Annual Investment Strategy for Treasury management and non- Treasury management 

investments and specifically:
 Approve the policy for the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision 
 Approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

The Treasury Management Strategy details the expected activities of the treasury function for the 
coming financial year 2020/21. Its production and submission to the council is required under the 
CIPFA Code, which requires this to cover non-treasury management investments.

The Annual Investment Strategy is a separate requirement under the Local Government Act 2003. 
This includes non-treasury management investments.

It is logical, convenient and informative to consider these three strategies together. They are 
presented to council alongside the budget report for the forthcoming year. Any changes in the 
budget report could impact on the details of this report.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

Local Government and Housing Act 1989
Local Government Act 2003
Guidance on Local Government Investments (CLG 2018) (“CLG Investment Guidance”)
Capital finance, guidance on Minimum Revenue Provision (CLG 2018) (“MRP guidance”)
Treasury Management in the Public Services, Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance 
Notes (CIPFA 2018) (“the CIPFA Treasury Management Code”)
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (CIPFA 2017) (“the Prudential Code”)
Treasury Management Practice statements TMP1 to TMP12
Other working papers within the Finance Division.

KEY DECISION: YES / NO

Page 85

Agenda Item 5



2

DETAILS:   per report continued over

Page 86



3

2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

1.1.1 The council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available 
when it is needed. Surplus monies are invested in low risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity before 
considering investment return.

1.1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
council’s capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the council can meet 
its capital spending commitments. This management of longer term cash may involve 
arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses. On occasion 
any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet council risk or cost objectives.

1.1.3 CIPFA defines treasury management as:

1.1.4 “The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and Capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.”

1.1.5 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the authority is critical, as 
the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet 
spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital 
projects. The treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the 
investment income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget. Since cash 
balances generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate 
security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the 
General Fund Balance.

1.1.6 Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury 
function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually 
from capital expenditure), and are separate from the day to day treasury management 
activities.

2 Capital strategy

2.1.1 The CIPFA revised 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare an additional report, a capital strategy report, which will provide the 
following: 

 a high-level long term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed

 the implications for future financial sustainability
2.1.2 The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council 

fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy 
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite.

Page 87



4

2.1.3 This capital strategy is reported separately from the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement; although non-treasury investments will be reported in the TMSS. This brings 
together the reporting of the core treasury function under security, liquidity and yield 
principles, and the policy and commercialism investments usually driven by expenditure 
on an asset. The capital strategy will show:

 The corporate governance arrangements for these types of activities;

 Any service objectives relating to the investments;

 The expected income, costs and resulting contribution; 

 The debt related to the activity and the associated interest costs; 

 The payback period (MRP policy); 

 For non-loan type investments, the cost against the current market value; 

 The risks associated with each activity.
2.1.4 Where a physical asset is being bought, details of market research, advisers used, (and 

their monitoring), ongoing costs and investment requirements and any credit information 
will be disclosed, including the ability to sell the asset and realise the investment cash.

2.1.5 Where the Council has borrowed to fund any non-treasury investment, there should also 
be an explanation of why borrowing was required and why the MHCLG Investment 
Guidance and CIPFA Prudential Code have not been adhered to. 

2.1.6 If any non-treasury investment sustains a loss during the final accounts and audit process, 
the strategy and revenue implications will be reported through the same procedure as the 
capital strategy.

2.1.7 To demonstrate the proportionality between the treasury operations and the non-treasury 
operation, high-level comparators are shown throughout this report.

3 Reporting Requirements

3.1.1 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports each 
year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and actuals. 

3.2 Prudential and Treasury Indicators and Treasury Strategy

3.2.1 The first, and most important report covers:

 the Capital plans (including prudential indicators);

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual Capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time);

 the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to be 
organised) including treasury indicators; and 

 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be managed).
3.3 A Mid-Year Treasury Management Report

3.3.1 This will update members with the progress of the Capital position, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision. 

3.4 An Annual Treasury Management Report

3.4.1 This provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and actual 
treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy.

Page 88



5

3.4.2 The council has adopted the following reporting arrangements in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code:

Area of Responsibility Council/Committee/
Officer

Frequency

Treasury Management Policy 
Statement 

Full council Annually

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board

Annually before the start 
of the year

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy – midyear report

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board

Reported in the third 
quarter

Treasury Management Strategy / 
Annual Investment Strategy / MRP 
policy – updates or revisions at other 
times 

Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board

As required

Annual Treasury Outturn Report
Full council and 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Board

Annually by 30th 
September after the end 
of the year

Treasury Management Practices
Chief Finance Officer Whenever amendments 

are required

Scrutiny of treasury management 
performance

Overview and 
Scrutiny Board

As part of mid-year and 
outturn reports

4 Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21

4.1.1 The strategy for 2020/21 covers:

4.2 Capital issues

 Capital plans and the prudential indicators

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy
4.3 Treasury management issues

 the current treasury position

 prudential and treasury indicators and treasury limits 

 prospects for interest rates

 the borrowing strategy

 policy on borrowing in advance of need

 debt rescheduling

 the investment strategy

 creditworthiness policy 

Page 89



6

 policy on the use of external service providers.
4.3.1 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA 

Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management Code and 
MHCLG Investment Guidance.

4.4 Training

4.4.1 The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with 
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury 
management. This especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny and a training 
session will be arranged in 2020/21. 

4.4.2 The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed and a 
record of all training is kept and officers attend Link training events scheduled throughout 
the year.

4.5 Treasury management consultants

4.5.1 The council uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury management advisors.

4.5.2 The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains 
with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
our external service providers. 

4.5.3 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury management 
services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The council will ensure 
that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value will be assessed are 
properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review. 

5 CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2020-21 TO 2023-24

5.1.1 The council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management activity. 
The outputs of the capital expenditure plans are reflected in the prudential indicators, 
which are designed to assist member overview and confirm Capital expenditure plans. 

5.2 Capital Expenditure

5.2.1 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s Capital expenditure plans, both 
those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle. 2019/20 revised 
estimates are based on November budget monitoring and 2020/21 figures reflect the 
potential re-profiling of 2019/20 capital expenditure based on this and the 2020/21 capital 
programme. This table does not include assets acquired by leases. Members are asked to 
approve the Capital expenditure forecasts:

Capital expenditure 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
£m Actual Estimate - 

revised
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Non-HRA 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3 20.0
HRA 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3 20.0

5.2.2 The table below summarises how the capital expenditure is being financed by capital or 
revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results in a funding (borrowing) need (the 
council’s policy is to use capital receipts to pay down debt). 

Page 90



7

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate - 

revised
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Capital receipts 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Capital grants 21.5 21.8 76.9 39.8 13.8 0.0
Capital reserves 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Revenue 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Net financing need for the year 63.0 76.9 83.4 38.5 38.5 20.0

Financing of capital expenditure £m

5.3 The Capital Financing Requirement

5.3.1 The second prudential indicator is the council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). 
The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding Capital expenditure which has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or Capital resources. It is essentially a measure of the 
council’s underlying borrowing need. Any Capital expenditure in the table above, which 
has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR. Increases in the CFR will lead to 
an increase in the budget required for capital financing.

5.3.2 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with 
each assets life, and so charges the economic consumption of Capital assets as they are 
used.

5.3.3 The CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance leases). Whilst 
these increase the CFR, and therefore the council’s borrowing requirement, these types of 
scheme include a borrowing facility and so the council is not required to separately borrow 
for these schemes. The council currently has £178.8m of such schemes within the CFR.

5.3.4 IFRS 16 is an accounting standard that replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 regarding 
leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or 
the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or 
finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting remaining substantially unchanged 
from the IAS 17 approach. 

5.3.5 In December 2018, CIPFA/LASAAC announced its plans to delay implementation of IFRS 
16 in the Code until 1 April 2020. The Council will therefore adopt IFRS 16 from 1 April 
2020. 

5.3.6 The impact of adopting IFRS 16 will be disclosed in the financial statements for the year 
ending 31 March 2021. Since it will require all leased assets to be recorded on the 
council’s balance sheet and will need to be applied retrospectively the council’s prudential 
indicators on other long term liabilities will need to reflect these changes. As a 
consequence the prudential indicators have been revised to take into account an initial 
estimate of the likely effect of these changes. The assets identified as affected so far are 
vehicles, the council leases (car club vehicles), multi-function printers and property leases 
which include the non- financial investments detailed in paragraph 9.7. The anticipated 
impact of leased in assets on the capital financing requirement is shown below.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Actual Estimate - 
revised

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Assets acquired under leases 0.0 0.0 159.9 0.0 0.0 0.0

Leased in assets affect on CFR £m

5.3.7 The council is asked to approve the CFR projections below:

Page 91



8

 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate - 

revised
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Capital Financing Requirement
CFR – non housing 642.1 685.7 886.7 881.0 874.2 846.6
CFR – housing 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5
Total CFR 643.6 687.2 888.2 882.5 875.7 848.1
Movement in CFR 18.1 43.6 201.0 -5.6 -6.8 -27.6

Movement in CFR represented by
Net financing need for the year 63.0 76.9 243.3 38.5 38.5 20.0
Less MRP/ARP and other financing 
movements

-44.9 -33.3 -42.3 -44.2 -45.3 -47.6
Movement in CFR 18.1 43.6 201.0 -5.6 -6.8 -27.6

£m

5.4 Core funds and expected investment balances 

5.4.1 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an ongoing 
impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from new sources 
(asset sales etc.). Detailed below are estimates of the year-end balances for each 
resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow balances. The difference between total 
core funds and investments arises primarily because timing differences in premiums paid 
on debt rescheduling and their ultimate recognition in the CIES lead to a deficit in long 
term capital over the medium term. 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate - 

revised
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Fund balances/reserves 139.9 139.9 179.1 175.8 167.1 167.1
Capital receipts (are used to pay down debt) 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2
Provisions 21.7 21.7 21.7 21.7 21.7 21.7
Total Core Funds 161.7 161.7 201.0 197.7 189.0 189.0
Working and long term working Capital 
deficits*

-76.3 -75.8 -74.3 -72.8 -71.3 -69.8
(Under)/over borrowing -9.7 -10.2 -50.1 -47.3 -39.1 -39.7
Expected investments 75.7 75.7 76.7 77.7 78.6 79.6

Year end resources £m

*Working capital balances shown are estimated year-end; these may be higher mid-year 

5.5 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

5.5.1 The council is required to make an annual charge to its income and expenditure account 
to provide for the repayment of debt incurred as a result of financing Capital expenditure. 
Local authorities are required to make this charge by regulations issued under statute by 
central government (Local Government Act 2003). The council’s policy for determining the 
MRP is set out in Appendix A to this report.

6 BORROWINGThe treasury management function ensures that the council’s cash is 
organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is 
available to meet the council’s capital payments obligations. This will involve both the 
organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of 
appropriate borrowing facilities. The strategy covers the relevant treasury/prudential 
indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 

6.2 Current Portfolio Position

6.2.1 The council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2019, with forward projections are 
summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury management 
operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing 
Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.

Page 92



9

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate - 

revised
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

External Debt
Debt at 1 April 432.4 448.7 498.2 508.3 515.1 525.5
Expected Change in debt 16.3 49.5 10.2 6.8 10.4 -18.4
Other long term liabilities 191.8 185.2 178.8 329.8 320.2 311.0
Expected Change in OLTL -6.5 -6.4 151.0 -9.6 -9.2 -9.8
Actual Gross debt at 31 March 633.9 677.0 838.1 835.3 836.6 808.4
The capital financing requirement 643.6 687.2 888.2 882.5 875.7 848.1
Under/(over) borrowing 9.7 10.2 50.1 47.3 39.1 39.7

£m

6.2.2 The gross debt includes internal fund borrowings as shown in 5.4 which has reduced the 
amount required to be borrowed externally and as a consequence the capital financing 
requirement is in excess of the gross debt. By borrowing less externally, the council would 
save on interest and borrowing costs. 

6.3 Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

6.3.1 The following borrowing limits are detailed in Appendix B.

6.4 The Operational Boundary

6.4.1 This is the limit which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. 

Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Operational boundary for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 558.7 621.8 626.9 630.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 215.2 208.8 359.8 350.2 321.0
Total 774.0 830.6 986.7 981.0 935.7

6.5 The Authorised Limit

6.5.1 This prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of debt. This is a 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects 
the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term but 
is not sustainable in the longer term. 

Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Authorised limit for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 680.6 698.8 685.4 650.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 245.2 238.8 389.8 380.2 331.0
Total 925.9 937.5 1,075.2 1,031.0 945.7

6.5.2 The Operational Boundary and Authorised limit are detailed in Appendix B.

6.6 Prospects for Interest Rates

6.6.1 The council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and part of the 
service is to assist the council to formulate a view on interest rates. The following table 
gives their view.

6.6.2 The implications have been factored into the council’s revenue budget projections. 

Page 93



10

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

12 Month LIBID 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30

25yr PWLB Rate 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.80 3.90 3.90

50yr PWLB Rate 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.80

6.6.3 A more detailed view on interest rate forecasts is contained within Appendix C to this 
report.

6.6.4 The forecasts above are based on assumptions that there is an agreed deal on Brexit, 
including agreement on the terms of trade between the UK and EU, at some point in time. 
The result of the general election has removed much uncertainty around this major 
assumption. However, it does not remove uncertainty around whether agreement can be 
reached with the EU on a trade deal within the short time to December 2020, as the prime 
minister has pledged.

6.6.5 The longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB rates, to rise, albeit 
gently. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB rates, can be subject to 
exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political, sovereign debt crisis, emerging market 
developments and sharp changes in investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any 
time during the forecast period. 

6.6.6 In addition, PWLB rates are subject to ad hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to change the 
margin over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates: such changes could be up or down. It is 
not clear that if gilt yields were to rise back up again by over 100bps within the next year 
or so, whether H M Treasury would remove the extra 100 bps margin implemented on 9 
October 2019.

6.6.7 Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many external influences 
weighing on the UK. The above forecasts, (and MPC decisions), will be liable to further 
amendment depending on how economic data and developments in financial markets 
transpire over the next year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also 
have a major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the three-year 
time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political developments. 

6.7 Investment and borrowing rates

6.7.1 Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2020/21 with little increase in the 
following two years subject to the caveats highlighted earlier regarding wider factors such 
as Brexit. 

6.7.2 Borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half of 2019-20 but 
then jumped up by 100 bps on 9 October 2019 due to HM Treasury direction. In recent 
years the council’s strategy has been to utilise cash balances and use temporary 
borrowing whilst recognising the need to use PWLB borrowing, where appropriate, to 
finance elements of the capital programme. The increase in the PWLB rate makes is less 
likely that long term borrowing will be pursued, however, decision-making would be 
supported by a robust business case.

6.7.3 A detailed view of the current economic background is contained within Appendix H to this 
report.

Page 94



11

6.8 Borrowing Strategy

6.8.1 The gross debt of the council at £838.1m is estimated to be lower than the capital 
financing requirement, at £888.2m. The councils investments at the year end are 
estimated at £76.7m to be below the level of its forecast reserves and provisions 
£179.1m. The main factor is a deficit on long term working capital, due to the balance of 
outstanding premiums of £66m which will be amortised until 2058/59 and also the use of 
additional reserves to increase the amount of under borrowing. 

6.8.2 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2020/21 treasury operations. The Chief Finance Officer will monitor 
interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing 
circumstances:

6.8.3 If it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short term rates 
(e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into recession or of risks of 
deflation), then long term borrowings will be postponed, and potential rescheduling from 
fixed rate funding into short term borrowing will be considered.

6.8.4 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long and short term 
rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the start date 
and in the rate of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world 
economic activity or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be 
re-appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower 
than they are projected to be in the next few years. This would increase the budget 
required by capital financing for interest costs. 

6.9 Policy on Borrowing in Advance of Need 

6.9.1 The council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely to profit from the 
investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 
considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the council 
can ensure the security of such funds.

6.9.2 In determining whether borrowing will be undertaken in advance of need the council will:

 Ensure that there is a clear link between the Capital programme and maturity 
profile of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need to take funding in 
advance of need

 Ensure the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the future 
plans and budgets have been considered

 Evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and 
timing of any decision to borrow

 Consider the merits and demerits of alternative forms of funding

 Consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate periods 
to fund and repayment profiles to use.

 Consider the impact of borrowing in advance on temporarily increasing investment 
cash balances and the consequent increase in exposure to counterparty risk, and 
other risks, and the level of such risks given the controls in place to minimise them.

6.10 Debt Rescheduling

6.10.1 As short term borrowing rates will continue to be considerably cheaper than longer term 
rates, there may be opportunities to generate savings by switching from long term debt to 
short term debt. However, these savings will need to be considered in the light of the 
current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt repayment premiums incurred. 

Page 95



12

6.10.2 The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:

 The generation of cash savings and/or discounted cash flow savings

 Helping to fulfil the treasury strategy 

 Enhancing the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 
balance of volatility).

6.10.3 The nature of the council’s current debt portfolio is such that the opportunities for debt 
rescheduling are likely to be extremely limited. Should any rescheduling be undertaken it 
will be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the earliest 
briefing meeting thereafter.

6.11 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing

6.11.1 Following the increase in PWLB rates on 9 October 2019 to increase their margin over gilt 
yields by 100 bps to 180 basis points on loans lent to local authorities, consideration will 
also need to be given to sourcing funding at cheaper rates from the following: 

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but also 
some banks, out of spot or forward dates)

 Municipal Bonds Agency (no issuance at present but there is potential)
6.11.2 The degree which any of these options proves cheaper than PWLB Certainty Rate is still 

evolving at the time of writing but our advisors will keep us informed.

7 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY (Treasury management)

7.1 Investment policy – management of risk

7.1.1 The MHCLG and CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both 
financial and non-financial investments. This section deals solely with financial 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team). Non-financial investments, 
essentially the purchase of income yielding assets, are at section 9

7.1.2 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: -

 MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”)

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”) 

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018  
7.1.3 The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then 

yield, (return).

7.1.4 The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the 
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and 
defines its risk appetite by the following means: -

7.1.5 Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of highly 
creditworthy counterparties. This also enables diversification and thus avoidance of 
concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and 
long-term ratings. 

7.1.6 Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; 
it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and 
macro basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which 

Page 96



13

institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings. 

7.1.7 Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most robust 
scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties.

7.1.8 This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the treasury 
management team are authorised to use. There are two lists in appendix D under the 
categories of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments. 

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and subject to 
a maturity limit of one year.

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be for 
periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments which require 
greater consideration by members and officers before being authorised for use.

7.1.9 However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will 
monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment 
performance, (see paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be 
carried out during the year.

7.1.10 There have been no changes in risk management policy from last year.

7.2 Creditworthiness Policy

7.2.1 The council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings from the three 
main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. The credit ratings 
of counterparties are supplemented with the following overlays: 

 credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies;

 Credit Default Swaps (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in 
credit ratings;

 sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries.

7.2.2 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit Watches and credit Outlooks in a 
weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay of CDS spreads for 
which the end product is a series of colour coded bands which indicate the relative 
creditworthiness of counterparties. These colour codes are used by the council to 
determine the suggested duration for investments. The council will therefore use 
counterparties within the following durational bands: 

 Yellow/dark pink/light pink 5 years

 Purple 2 years

 Blue 1 year (nationalised or semi nationalised UK banks)

 Orange 1 year

 Red 6 months

 Green 100 days

 No colour not to be used

Page 97



14

7.2.3 The Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information than 
just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring system, it does not 
give undue preponderance to just one agency’s ratings.

7.2.4 All credit ratings will be monitored weekly, and also on each decision to transact with any 
counterparty. The council is alerted to changes to ratings from all three agencies through 
its use of the Link Asset Services creditworthiness service.

7.2.5 If a downgrade results in the counterparty or investment scheme no longer meeting the 
council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new investment will be withdrawn 
immediately. Conversely, if a counterparty is upgraded to a level that meets the council’s 
criteria it will be added to the list.

7.2.6 In addition to the use of credit ratings the council will be advised of information in 
movements in Credit Default Swap against the iTraxx benchmark and other market data 
on a weekly basis. Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an 
institution or removal from the council’s lending list.

7.2.7 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service. In addition the council 
will also use market data and information, information on government support for banks 
and the credit ratings of that government support. The Chief Finance Officer, in 
consultation with the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services, currently has 
delegated authority to approve investments outside of the above parameters. This will be 
subject to the counterparties satisfying all due diligence with regard to security of the 
invested sums and the investment period being commensurate with the overall Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

7.3 Country Limits

7.3.1 The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from countries 
with a minimum sovereign rating of AA- with Fitch or equivalent from any of the three 
major rating agencies.  

7.3.2 Appendix E sets out the countries that currently satisfy these criteria.

7.3.3 In addition to approving the above sovereign ratings members are asked to approve the 
continued use of local authorities and financial counterparties registered in the UK which 
meet the criteria for inclusion on Link Asset Services’ creditworthiness list. 

7.3.4 For example, the Lloyds Banking Group is comprised of Lloyds TSB, Halifax, and Bank of 
Scotland. The limit of funds which may be placed in any of those three institutions was 
originally £15M but the group limit means that it may be invested with any one or in 
combination up to an overall maximum of £15M.

7.4 Investment Strategy

7.4.1 Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash flow requirements 
and the outlook for short term interest rates i.e. rates for investments up to 12 months.

7.4.2 The city council currently has no treasury management investments with a duration of 
more than 12 months.

7.4.3 Investment returns expectations. On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit 
deal including the terms of trade by the end of 2020 or soon after, then Bank Rate is 
forecast to increase only slowly over the next few years to reach 1.00% by quarter 1 2023. 
Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are: 

 Q1 2021  0.75%

Page 98



15

 Q1 2022  1.00%

 Q1 2023  1.25%  
7.4.4 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for 

periods up to about three months during each financial year are as follows: 

 2019/20 0.75%

 2020/21 0.75%

 2021/22 1.00%

 2022/23 1.25%

 2023/24 1.50%

 2024/25 1.75%

 Later years 2.25%
7.4.5 The overall balance of risks to these forecasts is currently, interest rates rising but this 

depends on how strong GDP growth turns out, how quickly inflation pressures rise and 
how quickly the Brexit negotiations move forward positively.

7.4.6 Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 365 
days. These limits are set with regard to the council’s liquidity requirements and to reduce 
the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds after 
each year-end.

7.4.7 The investment limits are detailed in Appendix B.

7.5 Investment risk benchmarking

7.5.1 Investments – internal returns above the 7 day LIBID (London Interbank bid rate) rate.

7.6 End of Year Investment Report

7.6.1 At the end of the financial year, the council will report on its investment activity as part of 
its Annual Treasury Report.

7.7 Scheme of Delegation

7.7.1 Please see Appendix F

7.8 Role of the S151 Officer

7.8.1 Please see Appendix G

8 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT AND PRACTICES

8.1.1 In accordance with the Code, it is recommended that the council approve a treasury 
management policy statement.

8.1.2 ‘The policies and objectives of treasury management activities in Salford City Council are 
defined as follows:- 

8.1.3 Salford City Council defines its treasury management activities as:

“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, 
its banking, money market and Capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks”.

Page 99



16

8.1.4 Salford City Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will 
be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities 
will focus on their risk implications for the City.

8.1.5 Salford City Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide 
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving best value in treasury management, and to 
employing suitable performance measurement techniques, within the context of effective 
risk management.’

8.1.6 Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) set out the manner in which the council will seek 
to achieve its treasury management policies and objectives (as set out in the Treasury 
Management Policy Statement) and how it will manage and control its treasury 
management activities.

8.1.7 The Chief Finance Officer has reviewed the council’s treasury management practices 
(TMPs), they are detailed in Appendix I.

9 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY GUIDANCE (Non-treasury investments- Loans 
and non-financial investments)

9.1 Loans

9.1.1 The council has 2 types of loans on its balance sheet, those originally forming part of the 
capital programme and other loans. The council is required to set limits for the types of 
loans it will make.

   

Capital 46.6 100.0
Non-capital 10.9 21.3
Total Loans 57.5 121.3

Current 
position £m

Maximum 
position £m

9.1.2 The limit for non-capital loans is lower because if these loans are not repaid they 
represent a charge to the general fund. The maximum position is set as the forecast value 
of the earmarked reserves relating to loans and general fund balances for that year.

9.1.3 The limit for capital loans is higher as the charge to the revenue account on these loans if 
they were not repaid would be the MRP due over the remaining useful asset life of the 
asset the loan was initially provided for.

9.1.4 The total loan book is proportionate to the council’s current total asset base at its current 
level and at its maximum level, with loans representing less than 6% of the council’s long 
term asset base.

Loans to asset base ratio Current 
position

Maximum 
position

Loans  £m 57.524 121.320
Long term assets £m 994.216 994.216
Loans to asset base % 5.8% 12.2%

9.2 Recognising Expected losses 

9.2.1 The council’s statement of account are prepared under IFRS 9. IFRS 9 uses an “expected 
credit loss model” for all financial instruments that are subject to impairment accounting. It 
requires that the council shall recognise a loss allowance for expected credit losses on an 

Page 100



17

asset that is measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income. IFRS 9 will be applied to the council’s financial assets which would include loans. 

9.3 When to recognise credit losses;

 Under IFRS9, expected losses would be recognised from the point at which the 
loan is originated. This means that, an event does not have to occur that would 
result in a default payment before expected losses are recognised.

 With limited exceptions, a 12month expected credit losses must be recognised 
initially for all assets subject to impairment. This means that the council would 
recognise a loss allowance at the initial recognition of the loan or loan 
commitment.

9.4 Overview of the model

9.4.1 The expected credit loss model comprises of three stages for recognising losses based on 
the changes in credit quality of the borrower from the initial dates to maturity 

9.4.2 Stage 1- As soon as a financial instrument is originated, a 12month expected credit loss is 
recognised in the income statement, and a loss allowance is given. This stage also 
includes financial instruments that have not had a significant increase in credit risk since 
initial recognition or, have low credit risk at the reporting date. For these assets, 12-month 
expected credit losses (‘ECL’) are recognised and interest revenue is calculated on the 
gross carrying amount of the asset (that is, without deduction for credit allowance). 12-
month ECL is the expected credit losses that result from default events that are possible 
within 12 months after the reporting date. It is not the expected cash shortfalls over the 
12-month period but the entire credit loss on an asset weighted by the probability that the 
loss will occur in the next 12 months.

9.4.3 Stage 2- includes financial instruments that have had a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition (unless they have low credit risk at the reporting date) but that do 
not have objective evidence of impairment. For these assets, lifetime ECL are recognised, 
but interest, revenue is still calculated on the gross carrying amount of the asset. Lifetime 
ECL are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the 
expected life of the financial instrument. Expected credit losses are the weighted average 
credit losses with the probability of default (‘PD’) as the weight. 

9.4.4 Stage 3- includes financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the 
reporting date. For these assets, lifetime ECL is recognised and interest revenue is 
calculated on the net carrying amount (that is, net of credit allowance).

9.5 Debt Recovery Process

9.5.1 The council has a debt recovery process in place, which would apply to loans. If a debt 
remains unpaid, after reminder notices have been issued, a proactive approach will be 
taken. It is important to note that as debts are raised for a variety of services, some of 
which may have contractual or lease obligations, a uniform approach to collection may not 
be possible. Therefore, the following information acts as a guide only:

9.5.2 Debts over £500 are referred to Manchester and Salford collaborative legal teams for 
action, with agreement from the relevant service group. It is important that the council 
retain all back-up documentation relating to the charge, as this will be required by legal 
services to support the claim. Once a County Court Judgement has been obtained, legal 
services will look to enforce the judgement.

Page 101



18

9.6 Write-offs

9.6.1 The council accepts that not all debts will be paid in full and may have to be written-off. 
Non-payment may for many reasons and are categorised as follows:

 Bankruptcy or liquidation

 Debtor absconded

 Special circumstances

 Debtor deceased 

 Uneconomical

 Irrecoverable after legal action

 Statute barred
9.6.2 The billing and recovery service seeks approval to have debts written off on a quarterly 

basis. Approval to write off a debt has to be obtained either from the Chief Finance Officer 
or from the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services. Write offs are then charged 
to the corporate business bad debt provision

9.7 Non-financial assets

9.7.1 The council has the following types of non-financial asset on its balance sheet at the 
31/03/2019:

£m
Land at the airport 9.515
telecom equipment 0.249
Other land 4.123
Total 13.886

9.7.2 As the land, land at the airport and the telecom equipment are made up of numerous 
smaller plots these are not considered to be material and are not referred to further in this 
report.

9.7.3  In addition to these assets the council has lease agreements for 1 New Bailey and a multi 
storey car park that are operational and will be accounted for in the 2019/20 statement of 
accounts. A further lease at 2 New Bailey is expected to be accounted for in the 2020/21 
statement of accounts.

9.7.4 The table below summarises the position for 1 New Bailey and the multi-storey car park.

Page 102



19

One New Bailey MSCP 2
Contribution toward service delivery objectives and/or 
place making role of the local authority

Support the economic development of 
the New Bailey area of Salford central

Support the economic development of the New 
Bailey area of Salford central

Amount invested 25 year lease only  transferable to 
another LA or government department 
development

35 year lease

If the fair value of the is not sufficient to provide 
against loss, the mitigating actions that the council is 
taking or proposes to take

Use of a inducement fund to cover the 
costs of initial rent free periods and an 
assumed level of voids

Use of a inducement fund to cover an assumed 
level of usage

How it has assessed the market that it is/will be 
competing in, the nature and level of competition, 
how it thinks that the market/customer needs will 
evolve over time, barriers to entry and exit and any 
ongoing investment requirements. 

property consultants were 
commissioned and the findings of the 
report were built into the financial 
model

property consultants, on behalf of English Cities 
fund, have provided market and investment 
advice

Whether and, if so how, a local authority uses 
external advisors be they treasury management 
advisors, property investment advisors or any other 
relevant persons

property consultants were 
commissioned and the findings of the 
report were built into the financial 
model

property consultants, on behalf of English Cities 
fund, have provided market and investment 
advice

should set out the procedures for ensuring that the 
funds can be accessed when they are needed, how 
can the asset be liquidated

25 year lease only  transferable to 
another LA or government department 
development

The risk of business failure has been assessed 
as minimal. Should this unlikely event occur, the 
Council could market the site to other operators, 
and the market analysis above suggests the 
market will remain strong, or operate the car 
park itself for the residual period of the lease and 
benfit from all income.

management of the risks, for example, of not 
achieving the desired profit

Use of the inducement fund to 
manage void periods

Use of a inducement fund to manage an 
assumed level of usage

steps taken to ensure that those elected members 
and statutory officers involved in the investments 
decision making process have appropriate capacity, 
skills and information to enable them to take informed 
decisions as to whether to enter into a specific 
investment, to assess individual assessments in the 
context of the strategic objectives and risk profile of 
the local authority and to enable them to understand 
how the quantum of these decisions have changed 
the overall risk exposure of the local authority. 

Report to City Mayor 15/07/2013 Report to Property and regeneration Nov 2017

9.8 Proportionality

9.8.1 The council is required to set a limit that cannot be exceeded for gross debt compared to 
the net budget. The limit for gross debt to net budget has been set as a multiplier of 5. The 
forecast for this measure over the coming years is shown below.

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Net revenue budget £m 202.8 205.2 217.8 210.3 214.9 214.9
gross debt £m 633.9 677.0 838.1 835.3 836.6 808.4
limit for gross debt to revenue budget at x5 1,013.9 1,026.2 1,089.1 1,051.6 1,074.6 1,074.6

9.8.2 The council is required to set a limit for commercial income as a percentage of net service 
expenditure. The Council is below the limit which has been set at 25%. 

2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Commerical income £m 1.277 3.067 4.395 5.289 7.320 13.011
net budget £m 202.779 205.241 217.015 210.325 214.910 214.910

investment cover ratio 0.630% 1.494% 2.025% 2.515% 3.406% 6.054%

9.9 Liquidity

9.9.1 For financial investments that are not treasury management investments or loans the 
maximum period that funds maybe committed is the useful economic life of the asset. At 
present the council’s investment property has been obtained by lease that can only be 

Page 103



20

assigned to another local authority or government department, so the asset is relatively 
illiquid but the council has an inducement fund which can be used to cover unforeseen 
void periods.

10 RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1.1 Council is asked to approve the strategy for 2020/21 including:

 The Treasury Management Strategy

 Annual Investment Strategy and specifically:

 Approve the policy for the calculation of Minimum Revenue Provision 

 Approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Practices

 Councillor Bill Hinds                                            
 Lead Member for Finance & Support Services        
                                                                 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES:    Budget Strategy, Treasury Management Policy 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:    N/A

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:     The monitoring and control of risk underpins treasury management 
activities. The main risks are of adverse or unforeseen fluctuations in interest rates and loss of 
Capital. Risk control measures mitigate these risks.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Tony Hatton, Principal Solicitor  Tel. 219 6323

The Treasury Management Strategy, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy and Annual Investment 
Strategy set out the Council's policies for managing its investments which includes giving priority to 
security and liquidity. It is effectively the management of the Council’s cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations require the Council to ‘have 
regard to’ the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Prudential Code 
and to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the next three years to ensure that the Council’s 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. The Council also has an 
obligation to comply with the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
Guidance under section 15(1)(a). 

The Act therefore requires the Council to set out its Treasury Management Strategy at the start of 
each new financial year and to prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by Investment 
Guidance subsequent to the Act and referred to at section 7 of this report); this sets out the 
Council’s policies for maintaining capital security whilst managing its investments and for giving 
priority to the security and liquidity of those investments to enable it to carry out its business. The 
borrowing strategy (at section 6 of the report) aims to minimise the revenue cost of debt whilst 
securing the Council from revenue pressures in the event of interest rate volatility.

Page 104



21

One revenue consequence of borrowing is the statutory requirement to set aside an amount for 
repayment of debt, known as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). Regulations require the 
authority to determine annually a principle by which MRP will be determined.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    May Sung (Finance Manager)

There is revenue budget provision for all TMSS related expenditure and there are no additional 
financial commitments resulting from this report.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    Christine Flisk Procurement Manager

There are no procurement implications arising from this report

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:    Steve Hulme Strategic HR & OD Manger

There are no direct employee relations matters arising from this report. The Leading Salford 
leadership development programme includes the Management Essentials programme for newly 
appointed managers which includes a financial management module to ensure that all managers 
and officers are aware of the financial regulations and their responsibilities, in addition further 
training is being delivered to existing managers to enhance their financial skills. 

CLIMATE CHANGE IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Michael Hemingway, Principal Officer Climate 
Change

When we make investments, they fully support the ethos of socially responsible investments. And 
therefore, where consistent with our fiduciary responsibilities, we will avoid direct investment in 
institutions with material links to environmentally harmful activities including fossil fuels.

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED:    N/A

CONTACT OFFICER:  Tony Thompstone TEL NO:    0161 793 2016
   May Sung TEL NO:    0161 793 2851

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES:    N/A

Page 105



22

APPENDICES

A MRP policy statement

B Prudential and Treasury indicators

C Interest rate forecasts 

D Specified and Non-Specified investments

E Approved countries for investments

F Treasury management scheme of delegation

G The treasury management role of the Chief Finance Officer as Section 151 officer 

H Economic background

I Treasury Management Practices

J Treasury Management Policy Statement

Page 106



23

APPENDIX A

1.1. Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2020/21

1.1.1. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) is an annual charge to the income and expenditure 
account to provide for the repayment of debt incurred as a result of financing Capital 
expenditure. Local authorities are required to make this charge by regulations issued 
under statute by central government (Local Government Act 2003).

1.1.2. The council will determine MRP in accordance with the following policy:

1.1.3. For the historic debt liability up to 31 March 2008, or subsequent supported Capital 
expenditure, as with previous years, we will adopt option 1 of The Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008, which 
allows for MRP to be charged at the rate of 4% of the reducing debt balance, with an 
adjustment to align the charge to the amount provided in the previous year, where that is 
greater.

1.1.4. For unsupported Capital expenditure, MRP will be charged over a period which is 
reasonably commensurate with the estimated useful life applicable to the nature of 
expenditure, using the annuity method, in accordance with option 3 of the above 
regulation. 

1.1.5. Estimated life periods will be determined by the Chief Finance Officer. To the extent that 
expenditure is not on the creation of an asset and is of a type that is subject to estimated 
life periods that are referred to in the guidance, these periods will generally be adopted by 
the council. However, the council reserves the right to determine useful life periods and 
prudent MRP in exceptional circumstances where the recommendations of the guidance 
would not be appropriate.

1.1.6. As some types of Capital expenditure incurred by the council are not capable of being 
related to an individual asset, asset lives will be assessed on a basis which most 
reasonably reflects the anticipated period of benefit that arises from the expenditure. Also, 
whatever type of expenditure is involved, it will be grouped together in a manner which 
reflects the nature of the main component of expenditure and will only be divided up in 
cases where there are two or more components with substantially different useful 
economic lives. 

1.1.7. There is no requirement on the Housing Revenue Account to make a minimum revenue 
provision but there is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made.

1.1.8. Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.

Page 107



24

APPENDIX B

1.1. Prudential and Treasury Indicators

 
Prudential Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£M £M £M £M £M

Capital Expenditure
  Non-HRA 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3
  HRA 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
  Total 84.5 98.7 160.3 78.3 52.3

Capital financing requirement (CFR)
  Non-HRA 642.1 685.7 886.7 881.0 874.2
  HRA 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5
  Total 643.6 687.2 888.2 882.5 875.7

Annual Change in CFR
  Non-HRA 63.0 76.9 243.3 38.5 38.5
  HRA 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
  Debt repayment provision MRP -44.9 -33.3 -42.3 -44.2 -45.3
  Total 18.1 43.6 201.0 -5.6 -6.8

1.2. The Operational Boundary

1.2.1. This is the limit which external debt is not normally expected to exceed. 

  
Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Operational boundary for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 558.7 621.8 626.9 630.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 215.2 208.8 359.8 350.2 321.0
Total 774.0 830.6 986.7 981.0 935.7

1.2.2. The operational boundary limits for external debt reflect the estimate of the most likely, 
prudent, but not worst case, scenario without the additional headroom included within the 
authorised limit.

1.3. The Authorised Limit

1.3.1. This prudential indicator represents a control on the maximum level of debt. This is a 
statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects 
the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the short term but 
is not sustainable in the longer term. 

 
Treasury Indicators 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
Authorised limit for external debt £M £M £M £M £M
Borrowing 680.6 698.8 685.4 650.8 614.7
Other long term liabilities 245.2 238.8 389.8 380.2 331.0
Total 925.9 937.5 1,075.2 1,031.0 945.7

 

1.4. Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 
365 days. These limits are set with regard to the council’s liquidity requirements and to 

Page 108



25

reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the availability of funds 
after each year-end.

 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

Estimated 
position at 
year end

Upper Limit for Investments beyond 365
days £40m £40m £40m £0 

1.5. Maturity structure of borrowing
1.5.1. These gross limits are set to reduce the council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums falling 

due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits

 

Estimated 
position at 
year end

Maturity structure for fixed rate
borrowing

Upper Limit Lower Limit % £M

Under 12 months 75% 0% 32% 268.1
12 and within 24 months 50% 0% 8% 65.2
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0% 13% 110.9
5 years and within 10 years 50% 0% 19% 157.4
10 years and above 100% 25% 28% 236.5

Maturity structure for variable rate
borrowing

Upper Limit Lower Limit % £M

Under 12 months 10% 0% 0% 0.0
12 and within 24 months 0% 0% 0% 0.0
24 months and within 5 years 0% 0% 0% 0.0
5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 0% 0.0
10 years and above 0% 0% 0% 0.0

Treasury Indicators

All Years

1.5.2. These indicators should be considered together. Whilst all the councils borrowing is fixed, 
the amount due to mature in the next 12m looks high at £268.1m, this is partly explained 
because the figure includes £83m of LOBO loans that are callable in 2020/21, it is unlikely 
that LOBO loans will be called over the next few years as the LOBO interest rates already 
exceed current market rates and the option to change lies with the banks. Temporary 
borrowing of £175.5m is due for renewal within the next 12 months; this is in-line with the 
council’s current strategy.

1.5.3. There is currently a 1.71% differential between short term interest rates and 10 year 
maturity PWLB rates. Although the current strategy is to utilise very low short term rates, 
as rates start to rise the case for switching from short term debt will need to be 
considered. With £175.5m of temporary borrowing, the additional call on the revenue 
budget of switching from temporary borrowing to a 10 year fix would be £3.0m per year. 
Each 0.25% rise in base rate increases the annual interest cost on a total of £178.5m in 
temporary borrowing by £0.439m.

1.5.4. For exceptional reasons only, such as a large scale voluntary transfer of assets, the 
indicators may be temporarily flexed to allow repayment and rescheduling of borrowing.

Page 109



26

APPENDIX C

INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 6.5.2 are predicated on 
an assumption of an agreement being reached on Brexit between the UK and the EU. On this 
basis, while GDP growth is likely to be subdued in 2019 and 2020 due to all the uncertainties 
around Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement on the detailed terms 
of a trade deal is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in subsequent years. This could, in 
turn, increase inflationary pressures in the economy and so cause the Bank of England to resume 
a series of gentle increases in Bank Rate. Just how fast, and how far, those increases will occur 
and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this report assume a modest recovery in the 
rate and timing of stronger growth and in the corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.

 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit in December 2020, it is likely that the Bank 
of England would take action to cut Bank Rate from 0.75% in order to help economic 
growth deal with the adverse effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to 
medium term gilt yields to fall. 

 If there was a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be likely to last for a 
longer period and also depress short and medium gilt yields correspondingly. Quantitative 
easing could also be restarted by the Bank of England. It is also possible that the 
government could act to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus. 

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.25 1.25

3 Month LIBID 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.30 1.30

6 Month LIBID 0.80 0.80 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.50 1.50

12 Month LIBID 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.20 1.30 1.30 1.40 1.50 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.70

5yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.70 2.80 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20

10yr PWLB Rate 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.90 3.00 3.10 3.20 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50

25yr PWLB Rate 3.20 3.30 3.40 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.70 3.70 3.80 3.90 4.00 4.00 4.10 4.10

50yr PWLB Rate 3.10 3.20 3.30 3.30 3.40 3.50 3.60 3.60 3.70 3.80 3.90 3.90 4.00 4.00

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably relatively even due to 

the weight of all the uncertainties over post-Brexit trade arrangements and the impact of an 
expansionary government spending policy (as expected in the Budget on 11th March).

 The balance of risks to increases or decreases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB rates 
are also broadly even. 

One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are now working in very 
different economic conditions than before the 2008 financial crash as  there has been a major 
increase in consumer and other debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that 
have prevailed since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, (i.e. the rate 
that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine definitively in this new 
environment, although central banks have made statements that they expect it to be much lower 
than before 2008. Central banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central 
interest rates.

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates currently include: 
 Post Brexit trade negotiations – if it were to cause significant economic disruption and a 

major downturn in the rate of growth.
 Bank of England monetary policy takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next three 

years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be 
weaker than we currently anticipate. 

Page 110



27

 A resurgence of the eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy was a major concern 
due to having a populist coalition government which made a lot of anti-austerity and anti-EU 
noise. However, in September 2019 there was a major change in the coalition governing 
Italy which has brought to power a much more EU friendly government; this has eased the 
pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether this new coalition based on an unlikely 
alliance of two very different parties will endure. 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian banks. 
 German minority government. In the German general election of September 2017, 

Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable minority position dependent on the 
fractious support of the SPD party, as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-
immigration AfD party. The SPD has done particularly badly in state elections since then 
which has raised a major question mark over continuing to support he CDU. Angela Merkel 
has stepped down from being the CDU party leader but she intends to remain as 
Chancellor until 2021.

 Other minority EU governments. Austria, Finland, Sweden, Spain, Portugal, Netherlands 
and Belgium also have vulnerable minority governments dependent on coalitions which 
could prove fragile.

 Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a strongly anti-immigration 
bloc within the EU. There has also been rising anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and 
France. 

 In October 2019, the IMF issued a report on the World Economic Outlook which flagged up 
a synchronised slowdown in world growth. However, it also flagged up that there was 
potential for a rerun of the 2008 financial crisis, but this time centred on the huge debt 
binge accumulated by corporations during the decade of low interest rates. This now 
means that there are corporates who would be unable to cover basic interest costs on 
some $19trn of corporate debt in major western economies, if world growth was to dip 
further than just a minor cooling. This debt is mainly held by the shadow banking sector i.e. 
pension funds, insurers, hedge funds, asset managers etc., who, when there is $15trn of 
corporate and government debt now yielding negative interest rates, have been searching 
for higher returns in riskier assets. Much of this debt is only marginally above investment 
grade so any rating downgrade could force some holders into a fire sale, which would then 
depress prices further and so set off a spiral down. The IMF’s answer is to suggest 
imposing higher capital charges on lending to corporates and for central banks to regulate 
the investment operations of the shadow banking sector. In October 2019, the deputy 
Governor of the Bank of England also flagged up the dangers of banks and the shadow 
banking sector lending to corporates, especially highly leveraged corporates, which had 
risen back up to near pre-2008 levels.   

 Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and the Middle East, 
which could lead to increasing safe haven flows. 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
 Brexit – if a comprehensive agreement on a trade deal was reached that removed all 

threats of economic and political disruption between the EU and the UK. 
 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate and, 

therefore, allows inflation pressures to build up too strongly within the UK economy, which 
then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently 
expect. 

 UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to sustained 
significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation premium inherent to gilt yields. 

Page 111



28

APPENDIX D 

1.1. Credit and Counterparty Risk Management Specified and Non-specified Investments

1.1.1. Specified Investments will be sterling denominated and fulfil the following criteria 
were judged by treasury officers to be appropriate having regard to the security of the 
principal sum invested and advice taken from Link Asset Services, as described in 
paragraph 7.1.

Maximum Maximum
Sector Investment Period

UK Banks £15M 364 days
UK Building Societies £15M 364 days
European banks £15M 364 days
Money-Market Funds; CNAV,
LVNAV, VNAV

£15M Callable

Local Authorities £15M 364 days
Debt Management Office £15M 364 days

1.1.2. The aim is to have callable investments of £25m in order to manage the council’s 
liquidity. 

1.1.3. In accordance with the guidance, all local authorities and the Government’s Debt 
Management Office will count as specified investments, even though local authorities 
may not carry a formal rating. 

1.2. Non-Specified Investments are any investments which do not meet the Specified 
Investments criteria. They must be with counterparties rated at least A by Fitch or 
equivalent, and include products such as callable deposits, range accruals, UK 
government gilts, Treasury Bills, Certificates of Deposit (CDs). Although not included in the 
lists issued by the credit rating agencies, approval to invest in property funds was given by 
members as part of the TM mid-year update 2015/16 presented to council on 18 
November 2015.

1.3. The main reasons for making a non-specified investment would be:

1.4. Yield: in a circumstance where advantageous interest rates could be secured at a 
negligible risk;

1.5. Practicalities: for example, a counterparty’s rating does not satisfy the minima set out 
above, but may be the only available option for late deals should, for example, the council 
receive funding late in the day and unannounced. In such cases, balances will be held 
overnight only.

1.6. The main types of institutions that the council may wish to deal with for the reasons 
outlined above are UK and Irish clearing banks. However, currently the Irish Republic is 
not AA- rated so no investments will be made with Irish banks unless the AA- rating is 
restored.

1.7. In the event that treasury officers consider an investment outside of these parameters, 
then advice will be taken from Link Asset Services, the council’s treasury management 
consultants. Any such decision will be made by the Chief Finance Officer and reported to 
the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services. 

Page 112



29

1.8. Investment strategy: in-house funds

1.8.1. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance, cash flow 
requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for investments up 
to 12 months). 

1.8.2. For its cash flow generated balances, the council will seek to utilise its business 
reserve accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits (1-3 months) in order 
to benefit from the compounding of interest. 

1.9. Investment strategy: managed funds
1.9.1. The council no longer uses external fund managers to manage any part of its 

investments, but will keep under review whether conditions become favourable to use 
them.

1.10. Socially responsible investments
1.10.1. Salford City Council, in making investments through its treasury management 

function, fully supports the ethos of socially responsible investments. Salford City 
Council will therefore, where consistent with its fiduciary responsibilities, avoid direct 
investment in institutions with material links to environmentally harmful activities 
including fossil fuels.

Page 113



30

APPENDIX E

Approved Countries for Investments  

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (the lowest 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P are shown) and also, (except - at the time of writing - for 
Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling markets which have 
credit ratings of green or above in the Link Asset Services credit worthiness service.

AAA                     
 Australia
 Canada
 Denmark
 Germany
 Luxembourg
 Netherlands 
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland

AA+
 Finland
 U.S.A.

AA
 Abu Dhabi (UAE)
 Hong Kong
 France
 U.K.

AA-
 Belgium 
 Qatar

Page 114



31

APPENDIX F

Treasury Management Scheme of Delegation

(i) Council

 Receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and activities

 Approval of the annual strategy.

 Approval of/amendments to the council’s adopted clauses and treasury management policy 
statement

 Receiving and reviewing the mid-year update report

 Receiving and reviewing the outturn report

 Budget consideration and approval

(ii) Overview and Scrutiny Board          

 Receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and making recommendations

(iii) Lead Member for Finance and Support Services    

 Receiving and reviewing the mid-year update report

 Receiving and reviewing the outturn report

(iv) Chief Finance Officer   

 Reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making recommendations 
to the council.

 Adopting the treasury management policy and procedures in day-to-day treasury 
management transactions.

Page 115



32

APPENDIX G

The Treasury Management Role of the Section 151 Officer 
 

The S151 Officer

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 
same regularly, and monitoring compliance;

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports;
 submitting budgets and budget variations;
 receiving and reviewing management information reports;
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 

division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
 recommending the appointment of external service providers. 
 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-

financial investments and treasury management, with a long term timeframe 
 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long 

term and provides value for money
 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 

investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority
 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-

financial assets and their financing
 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a 

level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its 
financial resources

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees 

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken 
on by an authority

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, 
to carry out the above

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury 
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following -

o Risk management (TMP1), including investment and risk management criteria for 
any material non-treasury investment portfolios;

 
o Performance measurement and management (TMP2), including methodology and 

criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-treasury 
investments;         

 
o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5), including a statement of the 

governance requirements for decision making in relation to non-treasury 
investments; and arrangements to ensure that appropriate professional due 
diligence is carried out to support decision making;

 

Page 116



33

o Reporting and management information (TMP6), including where and how often 
monitoring reports are taken;

 
o Training and qualifications (TMP10), including how the relevant knowledge and 

skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged.

Page 117



34

APPENDIX H

ECONOMIC BACKGROUND

UK. Brexit. There will continue to be uncertainty as the detail of a trade deal will need to be 
negotiated by the current end of the transition period in December 2020, which the Prime Minister 
has pledged he will not extend. 

GDP growth has taken a hit from Brexit uncertainty during 2019; quarter three 2019 surprised on 
the upside by coming in at +0.4% q/q, +1.1% y/y. However, the peak of Brexit uncertainty during 
the final quarter appears to have suppressed quarterly growth to probably around zero. The 
economy could experience tepid growth around about 1% until there is more certainty after the 
trade deal deadline is passed.

The Bank made a change in their Brexit assumptions to now include a deal being eventually 
passed. Possibly the biggest message that is worth taking note of from the Monetary Policy 
Report, was an increase in concerns among MPC members around weak global economic growth 
and the potential for Brexit uncertainties to become entrenched and so delay UK economic 
recovery. Consequently, the MPC voted 7-2 to maintain Bank Rate at 0.75% but two members 
were sufficiently concerned to vote for an immediate Bank Rate cut to 0.5%. The MPC warned that 
if global growth does not pick up or Brexit uncertainties intensify, then a rate cut was now more 
likely. Conversely, if risks do recede, then a more rapid recovery of growth will require gradual and 
limited rate rises. The speed of recovery will depend on the extent to which uncertainty dissipates 
over the final terms for trade between the UK and EU and by how much global growth rates pick 
up. The Bank revised its inflation forecasts down – to 1.25% in 2019, 1.5% in 2020, and 2.0% in 
2021; hence the MPC views inflation as causing little concern in the near future.

The MPC meeting of 19 December repeated the previous month’s vote of 7-2 to keep Bank Rate 
on hold. Their key view was that there was currently ‘no evidence about the extent to which policy 
uncertainties among companies and households had declined’. The two members who voted for a 
cut were concerned that the labour market was faltering. On the other hand, there was a clear 
warning in the minutes that the MPC were concerned that “domestic unit labour costs have 
continued to grow at rates above those consistent with meeting the inflation target in the medium 
term”.

If economic growth were to weaken considerably, the MPC has relatively little room to make a big 
impact with Bank Rate still only at 0.75%. It would therefore, probably suggest that it would be up 
to the Chancellor to provide help to support growth by way of a fiscal boost by e.g. tax cuts, 
increases in the annual expenditure budgets of government departments and services and 
expenditure on infrastructure projects, to boost the economy. The Government has already made 
moves in this direction and it made significant promises in its election manifesto to increase 
government spending by up to £20bn p.a., (this would add about 1% to GDP growth rates), by 
investing primarily in infrastructure. 

As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s target of 2% during 
2019, but fell again in October to 1.5%. It is likely to remain close to or under 2% over the next two 
years and so it does not pose any immediate concern to the MPC at the current time. 

With regard to the labour market, growth in numbers employed has been quite resilient through 
2019 until the three months to September where it fell by 58,000. However, this was about half of 
what had been expected. The unemployment rate fell back again to a 44 year low of 3.8% on the 
Independent Labour Organisation measure in September, despite the fall in numbers employed, 
due to numbers leaving the work force. Wage inflation has been edging down  from a high point of 
3.9% in July to 3.8% in August and now 3.6% in September, (3 month average regular pay, 
excluding bonuses). This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation), 
earnings grew by about 1.9%. As the UK economy is very much services sector driven, an 
increase in household spending power is likely to feed through into providing some support to the 

Page 118



35

overall rate of economic growth in the coming months. The other message from the fall in wage 
growth is that employers are beginning to find it easier to hire suitable staff, indicating that supply 
pressure in the labour market is easing.

Page 119



36

APPENDIX I

SALFORD CITY COUNCIL

TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
PRACTICES 

TMPs 1 to 12 

Page 120



37

CONTENTS

TMP 1 Treasury risk management  

TMP 2  Best value and performance measurement

TMP 3  Decision–making and analysis

TMP 4  Approved instruments, methods and techniques

TMP 5  Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and 

dealing arrangements      

TMP 6  Reporting requirements and management information 

arrangements

TMP 7  Budgeting, accounting and audit arrangements

TMP 8  Cash and cash flow management   

TMP 9  Money laundering  

TMP 10  Staff training and qualifications

TMP 11  Use of external service providers

TMP 12  Corporate governance

Appendix: Treasury Management Policy Statement

Page 121



38

TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICES (TMPs 1 to 12)

INTRODUCTION

Treasury Management Practices (TMPs) set out the manner in which Salford City Council 
(the Council) will seek to achieve its treasury management policies and objectives (as set 
out in the Treasury Management Policy Statement) and how it will manage and control its 
treasury management activities.

This council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily for 
financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful investment 
management. Such activity includes loans supporting service outcomes, investments in 
subsidiaries, and investment property portfolios. 

This council will ensure that all the organisation’s investments are covered in the capital 
strategy, investment strategy or equivalent, and will set out, where relevant, the 
organisation’s risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for non-treasury 
investments. It will be recognised that the risk appetite for these activities may differ from 
that for treasury management. 

TMP1 - RISK MANAGEMENT

1.1 LIQUIDITY

1.1.1 Amounts of approved minimum cash balances and short-term investments
The balance sheet cash figure includes credit bank balances, bank balances 
overdrawn and short-term investments. 
In daily dealings the Treasury Manager will attempt to ensure that the expected net 
bank balance for the day remains between 0 and £200,000cr. Overdraft 
arrangements, if required, are set out in 1.1.2 b below. There is no approved 
minimum amount for short-term investments, which may therefore be nil, but in 
order to maintain liquidity a balance of £25m in callable investments is targeted.
Cash-in-transit and sums held in delegated schools’ bank accounts are also 
included in the Council’s balance sheet as ‘cash’, but these do not contribute to 
treasury management daily dealing procedures and decisions. These sums are 
outside of central control and there is no approved minimum balance.

1.1.2 Details of:
a. Standby facilities

In an emergency, an extension to the bank overdraft facilities outlined in b below 
may be arranged with Barclays Bank plc. Apart from that, the provisions outlined 
in 1.1.1 above, and b to e below, are considered to be sufficient.

b. Bank overdraft arrangements
Net: £0.5m (the aggregate of all balances on the main pooled accounts).
Gross: no limit (the aggregate of debit balances on the main pooled accounts).

c. Short-term borrowing facilities

Page 122



39

 Use is made of short term funds on the money market. 
d. Insurance/guarantee facilities

See paragraph 1.8.3.
e. Other contingency arrangements.
The Treasury Manager shall make use of borrowing and lending facilities to ensure 
that the Council has sufficient, but not excessive, cash resources.

1.2 INTEREST RATE

1.2.1 Details of approved interest rate exposure limits
The Council has no control over interest rates and no set minimum or maximum 
allowable in its dealings. However, the Treasury Manager will take advice from its 
treasury management consultants and senior managers if necessary, particularly 
for long-term borrowing, and make a judgement on the most appropriate timing of 
borrowing and lending to ensure that the most favourable rates are achieved, while 
having regard to service needs, cash flow and maturity profiles.

1.2.2  Trigger points and other guidelines for managing changes to interest rate 
levels
See 1.2.1

1.2.3 Minimum/maximum proportions of variable rate debt 

In accordance with CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management as adopted 
by the Council on 20th March 2002, before each financial year the Council shall set 
a limit on the maximum proportion of borrowing which is subject to variable rate 
interest. The limit set shall not exceed 10%, set by Council in February 2018. 
In preparing the maturity structure PIs lender option borrower option (LOBOs) have 
been treated as fixed borrowing with a maturity date as the next call date. When 
setting the previous limit for variable rate borrowing, the year with the most callable 
LOBOs in was used to determine the percentage of loans that were variable.
The current maximum proportion is 10%.  The minimum is 0%.

1.2.4 Minimum/maximum proportions of fixed rate debt/interest 
This is the converse of 1.2.3. The minimum proportion of borrowing which is subject 
to fixed rate interest is 90%.  The maximum is 100%.

1.2.5 Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives and other instruments for 
interest rate management.

a. Forward dealing - At the discretion of the Treasury Manager, if it secures 
advantageous rates, and having consideration to cash flow and security of 
investment.

b. Callable deposits (fixed investments for up to 5 years at borrower’s option)
c. LOBOs (borrowing under lender’s option/borrower’s option)

Page 123



40

While providing the potential for a favourable return, LOBO loans are 
considered to exacerbate exposure to interest rate risk and to lessen the 
Council’s control of its portfolio. Treasury officers shall not borrow under LOBO 
agreements without obtaining approval from the S151 Officer (in consultation 
with the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services).

1.3 EXCHANGE RATE

1.3.1 Details of approved exchange rate exposure limits for cash investments/debt 
Not applicable to local authorities.

1.3.2 Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives for exchange rate risk 
management 
Not applicable to local authorities.

1.3.3  Approved criteria for managing changes in exchange rate levels
10.1.2 a. As a result of the nature of the Council’s business, there may be an exposure to 

exchange rate risk from time to time. This will mainly arise from the receipt of income or 
the incurring of expenditure in a currency other than sterling. Where material, the Council 
will adopt a full hedging strategy to control and add certainty to the sterling value of these 
transactions. This will mean that the Council will eliminate all foreign exchange exposures 
as soon as they are identified. 

10.1.3 b. Where there is a contractual obligation to receive income or make a payment in a 
currency other than sterling at a date in the future, forward foreign exchange transactions 
will be considered, with professional advice, to comply with this full-cover hedging policy. 
Unexpected receipt of foreign currency income will be converted to sterling at the earliest 
appropriate opportunity.

1.4 INFLATION 

1.4.1 Details of approved inflation exposure limits for cash investments/debt 
During the current period of low and stable worldwide inflation there is little 
requirement for an active consideration of the impact of inflation. The key 
consideration is that investments reap the highest real rate of return, with debt 
costing the lowest real cost, consistent with other risks mentioned within this 
section.

1.4.2 Approved criteria for managing changes in inflation levels 
Inflation both current and projected will form part of the debt and investment 
decision-making criteria both within the strategy and operational considerations.

1.4.3 Policies concerning the use of financial derivatives for inflation risk 
management 
Not applicable to local authorities.

1.5 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY POLICIES

1.5.1  Criteria to be used for creating/ managing approved counterparty lists/limits 

Page 124



41

a. There is no risk to the Council regarding sums which it has borrowed and 
accordingly the policy is that monies can be borrowed from any counterparty.

b. The security of any Capital sums which are available for investment is of 
paramount importance and is the overriding issue whenever investments are 
made.

c. The S151 Officer will formulate criteria for assessing and monitoring the credit 
risk of investment counterparties and will determine time, type, sector and 
specific counterparty limits. The criteria/limits are outlined at d - l below.

d. Guidance on Local Authority Investments issued by the Secretary of State 
under Section 15(1)(a) of the Local Government Act 2003 distinguishes 
between Specified and Non-specified investments. Specified investments are 
those that offer high security and high liquidity in sterling for no more than one 
year. They include investments with central or local government or in a body 
with a “high credit rating”. Non-specified investments have a higher potential 
risk.

e. The Council’s treasury management advisors, Link, provide information on a 
regular basis regarding creditworthiness of potential counterparties. This 
information includes the credit ratings ascribed by Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
and Poor’s together with a further measure based on the traded price of credit 
default swaps in the financial markets. A credit default swap is, in essence, an 
insurance against the counterparty defaulting on a deal. The price of credit 
default swap is used as an indicator of the market sentiment towards an 
individual institution’s likelihood of defaulting on a deal. 
Sector use the credit rating and credit default swap information to construct a 
matrix and assign a colour code to indicate the relative credit worthiness of 
institutions which have varying ratings. The colour code relates to the 
suggested maximum period for which monies should be invested with a 
counterparty. 

f. Minimum requirements for Specified investments are as follows:

Fitch
Rating 

Fitch 
Ratin
g

Fitch
Rating

Fitch
Rating

Maximum 
Investmen
t

Maximum 
Period

Sovereign – 
European Union 
and Scandanavia

AA-

Sovereign – rest 
of the world 

AAA

UK Clearing 
Banks

A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days

UK Building 
Societies

A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days

European Banks A F1 B/C 2 £15m 364 days
Money Market 
Funds; CNAV, 

AAA £15m 3 months

Page 125



42

LVNAV, VNAV
Local Authorities : n/a n/a n/a n/a £15m 364 days
Debt Management 
Office

n/a n/a n/a n/a £15m 364 days

In accordance with the guidance all local authorities and the Debt Management 
Office count as specified investments even though they do not carry a formal 
rating.

g. Non-specified investments are those which are not in sterling or of greater than 
365 days duration or not satisfying the creditworthiness criteria above. Non 
specified investments will be made in compliance with the following guidelines. 
1. The investment will be in sterling
2. The duration will be less than 365 days unless approved by the S151 Officer.
3. The sovereign rating of the country in which the institution is domiciled must 
be AA- if within the European Union or Scandanavia or AAA if elsewhere. 
4. Up to £15M in aggregate at any time may be invested for periods up to 364 
days with the Council’s bank, Barclays Bank plc.
5. In addition, up to £30M in aggregate at any time may be invested in UK 
banks and building societies with a minimum credit rating of A/F1/C/3. No more 
than £15M at any time may be invested in any one such institution. Any such 
investment should secure an additional interest yield when compared with the 
best available specified investment.
6. Investments of up to £5M for up to 6 months may be invested in Irish banks 
or building societies with a minimum credit rating of A/F1/C/3 subject to the 
sovereign rating. Again, any such investment should secure an additional 
interest yield when compared with the best available specified investment.

h. No more than 20% of investments shall be with any one organisation.
i. No more than half of the total investment limit for an individual institution shall 

be invested for more than 6 months.
j. The total investment in institutions within a trading group shall be limited to 

£15M.
k. The Treasury Manager will maintain an approved counterparty list in line with 

these criteria/limits. The complete list of approved counterparties will be 
included in the annual report. 

l. Where the Council contracts with an external cash fund manager, the contract 
shall include an investment policy statement approved by the S151 Officer. This 
will take into consideration the Council’s own policies, flexibilities to be allowed 
the fund manager, and the advice of the Council’s treasury management 
consultants.

1.5.2 Approved methodology for changing limits and adding / removing 
counterparties
Credit ratings for individual counterparties can change at any time. The Treasury 
Manager will adjust the counterparty list as appropriate when there is a change in 

Page 126



43

the credit ratings of individual counterparties or in banking structures e.g. on 
mergers or takeovers. 
The S151 Officer may, from time to time, amend the limits in 1.5.1 d to i above, 
taking into account advice from the Treasury Manager. The Treasury Manager shall 
on such an occasion update the counterparty list.

1.6 REFINANCING

1.6.1 Debt/other Capital financing maturity profiling, policies and practices
As a general principle, treasury management officers should seek to ensure an 
‘even’ maturity profile, particularly in the short to medium term. However, the 
Treasury Manager shall determine actual borrowing, having regard to the Council’s 
funding needs, current borrowing strategy and achievable interest rates.
The Treasury Manager shall bear in mind the opportunity for rescheduling of debt, 
having regard to the potential interest savings and risk, the maturity profile, and 
taking advice from the Council’s treasury management advisers.
The approval of the S151 Officer is required for any debt rescheduling, which shall 
be reported to the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services at the meeting 
following its action.

1.6.2 Projected Capital investment requirements
The Treasury Manager shall liaise with Capital Accountants and have regard to the 
Capital financing requirement arising from the Capital programme in making 
subsequent borrowing and lending decisions.

1.6.3 Policy concerning limits on revenue consequences of Capital financing.
Treasury management staff shall have full regard to the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 

Page 127



44

1.7 LEGAL AND REGULATORY

1.7.1 References to relevant statutes and regulations
Officers and members involved in treasury management shall have regard to:
a. The CIPFA Code of Practice ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services’, of 

which TMPs form an important part;
b. The ‘Non-Investment Products Code; 
c. Overarching primary and secondary legislation such as the Local Government 

Act 2003.
d. The CIPFA Standards of Professional Practice.

e. The UK Money Markets Code

1.7.2 Procedures for evidencing the organisation’s powers/authorities to 
counterparties
As a local authority, the Council’s powers to borrow and lend are widely known by 
counterparties, and it is not necessary to have specific procedures to evidence 
them. 
Where he/she considers it to be appropriate, at the request of a counterparty, the 
Treasury Manager will sign documentation classifying the Council as a ‘Professional 
Client’.

1.7.3 Required information from counterparties concerning their powers/authorities
Those organisations which meet the criteria set out in 1.5.1 will, by definition, have 
powers to borrow from the Council. 
The regulatory risk is not relevant in the case of the Council borrowing monies (the 
risk is with the lender), however treasury management officers shall have regard to 
TMP9 Money Laundering.

1.7.7 Statement on the organisation’s political risks and management of same.
The risk of a change in Council policy sufficient to have a significant impact on the 
treasury management function is considered to be negligible.

1.8 FRAUD, ERROR AND CORRUPTION AND CONTINGENCY MANAGEMENT

1.8.1 Details of systems and procedures to be followed, including internet services
To reduce the risk of fraud in its dealing with other bodies, treasury management 
officers shall deal only with certain corporations and public bodies, and through 
recognised brokers, each regulated by legislation and code. Details are found in 
paragraph 1.5 and in TMP9 Money Laundering.
All treasury management activities include requirements for checking and 
authorisation, and adhere to the principle of division of duties. Details can be found 
in TMP4 Approved Instruments, Methods and Techniques and TMP5 Organisation, 
Clarity and Segregation of Responsibilities, and Dealing Arrangements.

Page 128



45

Likewise Barclays.net, the Council’s on-line banking and dealing system, is subject 
to comprehensive password and authorisation controls.
Recruitment procedures ensure that the integrity of treasury management staff is of 
the highest level. 
Treasury management shall not be conducted via internet dealing with the 
exception of the use of the ICD Portal to place or draw down funds with approved 
City Council counter parties. In the event of a change in this policy (to be authorised 
by the S151 Officer), the risk will be assessed and appropriate procedures 
developed.

1.8.2 Emergency and contingency planning arrangements
Arrangements for staff cover are set out in TMP5 Organisation, Clarity and 
Segregation of Responsibilities, and Dealing Arrangements.
In the event of failure of the Barclays.net system, treasury management officers 
shall follow the documented back-up procedures. These also include requirements 
for checking and authorisation, and adhere to the principle of division of duties.

1.8.3 Insurance cover details.
The Council’s insurance is arranged by Insurance Officers of the Risk Management 
Section.
Fidelity Guarantee insurance with AIG cover the Council’s legal liability to pay 
compensation through the fraud or corruption of its employees to the sum of £5m, 
subject to an excess of £100,000.
Officials Indemnity insurance through AIG covers the Council’s legal liability to pay 
compensation to third parties caused by the error of Council officers to the sum of 
£5m, subject to an excess of £250,000.

1.9 MARKET VALUE OF INVESTMENTS
1.9.1 Details of approved procedures and limits for controlling exposure to 

investments whose Capital value may fluctuate (gilts, CDs, etc)
Treasury management officers shall not invest in instruments whose Capital value 
may fluctuate with the exception of property funds as approved by Council on 18 
November 2015. In the event of a change in this policy (to be authorised by the 
S151 Officer), the risk will be assessed and appropriate procedures developed.
Where external fund managers invest on behalf of the Council, they shall be 
required to submit an annual strategy which includes plans and procedures for 
dealing with this kind of instrument. This strategy shall be submitted to the S151 
Officer who will take into consideration advice from the Council’s treasury 
management advisors.

10 Non-Treasury risk management
For non-treasury investments the council should be clear as to what powers have 
been used for each non-treasury investment. The council should record, normally in 
the report approving the investment:- 

Page 129



46

 Date investment made
 Cost
 Expected income
 Approval by which committee / full council / officer (if using delegated authority)
 Legal power used
 Purpose e.g. income generation
 Service (where relevant)
 The extent to which the capital invested is placed at risk
 The impact of any potential losses on the financial sustainability of the organisation
 Dates for periodic review to take account of changes in market and other conditions.
 Title of posts outside of the treasury management team who are responsible for each non 

treasury investment and periodic monitoring

TMP2 - PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT

Annual Review
Treasury management officers shall prepare for Overview and Scrutiny Board and 
Council an annual report on treasury management activities, as set out in TMP6.
Achievement of the investment interest earned budget will be measured as part of 
the budget monitoring process.

POLICY CONCERNING METHODS FOR TESTING BEST VALUE IN TREASURY 
MANAGEMENT

Frequency and processes for tendering
Treasury management tenders will follow standard Council practice as set down in 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations and, where appropriate, OJEU 
procedures.

Banking services
The Chief Finance Officer  will negotiate a contract for banking services that 
balances a level of service provision with a competitive pricing structure to ensure 
best value. The contract may contain break clauses and is to be capable of re-
tendering and/or renegotiation at suitable intervals in order to preserve the best 
interests of the Council.
The current contract, with Barclays Bank plc, is for 5 years with the option of a two 
year extension, operative from 1st February 2015.

Money-broking services
The Council shall use money broking services in order to make deposits or to 
borrow, and will establish charges for all services prior to using them. 
An approved list of brokers will be established which takes account of quality of 
service and standing in the market.
On a daily basis, treasury management officers shall compare rates available from 
different brokers and bank rates and also consider the use of money market funds 
in order to obtain the most competitive rate.

Page 130



47

Cash/Fund Management Services
The Council’s current policy is that treasury management is a key, corporate 
function that should be retained within the Council. However, from time to time the 
Chief Finance Officer shall consider the advantages and disadvantages of 
alternative means of providing the treasury management function, as part of a best 
value review of the service. 

Page 131



48

Consultants’/advisers’ services
The Council’s policy is to appoint professional treasury management consultants to 
provide impartial advice and add value to the treasury management function. See 
TMP11 Use of External Service Providers for further details.

Policy on External Managers 
The Council's policy is to appoint professional cash/external investment fund 
managers for a proportion (to be determined by the Chief Finance Officer) of its 
investments where appropriate. It will comply with the Local Organisations 
(Contracting Out of Investment Functions) Order 1996 (SI 1996 No 1883).
a. The delegation of investment management to external managers will entail the 

following:
b. A formal contractual agreement and documentation;
c. Agreement on terms for early termination of the contract;
d. Setting of a benchmark of 7 day LIBID with a performance target of at least 15% 

in excess of this
e. Setting of investment counterparty constraints;
f. Quarterly reporting of performance; 
g. Quarterly meetings with investment managers;
h. Setting of other constraints/parameters/conditions as are considered to be 

necessary to preserve the best interests of the Council.
i. The Code of Practice places an obligation on the organisation to monitor the 

performance of the fund managers.   This organisation has appointed Link 
Asset Services Limited to assist in this.

J See TMP11 Use of External Service Providers for further details.

METHODS TO BE EMPLOYED FOR MEASURING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE 
ORGANISATION’S TREASURY MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

Benchmarking
The Treasury Manager shall attend the Greater Manchester Treasury Management 
Group and any other appropriate forums to discuss and compare the performance 
of the Council’s treasury management activities.

Performance Indicators
The GM Treasury Management Group uses the CIPFA Benchmarking Club to 
compare performance in the following areas:
a. Size of portfolio;
b. Numbers of transactions;
c. Service costs (absolute and in relation to overall budget);
d. Consolidated rate of interest;
e. Average daily investments managed;
f. Investment rate achieved;
g. Tolerance for daily bank balance (and proportion of days within tolerance);
h. Proportion of debt subject to variable interest rates.

BENCHMARKS AND CALCULATION METHODOLOGY

Page 132



49

Debt management
Treasury management officers shall produce indicators based on the following 
benchmarks 

a. Average rate on all external debt
b. Average rate on external debt borrowed in previous financial year
c. Average period to maturity of external debt 
d. Average period to maturity of new loans in previous year

Investment.
The performance of investment earnings for both in-house and cash fund 
manager’s investments will be measured against 7 day LIBID.

Non-Treasury 
The report approving the non-treasury investment should detail the person responsible for 
monitoring non treasury investment and the review periods

TMP3 - DECISION-MAKING AND ANALYSIS

Decision Records to be kept
Council, Cabinet, Committee or Lead Member minutes and decision notices will record all 
treasury management decisions taken by members.
Treasury management officers shall record the reason for daily dealing transactions on the 
sheet daily summary sheet from PS Live. They are not required to record the reasons 
behind the choice of a particular deal over another one that might be available, except 
where the transaction is exceptional or unusual.
Treasury management officers shall record all transactions on the PS Live database and 
in the diary, and retain documents for each individual transaction.

Processes to be pursued
In respect of funding decisions:
a. the Chief Finance Officer will consult with the Council’s treasury management 
advisors and formulate a strategy;
b. the strategy will be set down in an annual report as outlined in TMP6 Reporting 
requirements and management information arrangements;
c. treasury management officers will conduct their activities in line with the strategy 
and the practices set out in TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, 
and dealing arrangements.
In respect of borrowing and investment decisions, treasury management officers will:
a. consult with brokers on a daily basis to determine the availability, duration and 
interest rates of deals;
b. decide upon and conduct the most favourable deals for the Council;
c. carry out the transactions in accordance with the practices set out in TMP5 
Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing arrangements.

Issues to be addressed

Page 133



50

In respect of every decision made, appropriate members or officers of the Council will:
a. above all be clear about the nature and extent of the risks to which the Council may 
become exposed;
b. be certain about the legality of the decision reached and the nature of the 
transaction, and that all authorities to proceed have been obtained;
c. be content that the documentation is adequate both to deliver the Council’s 
objectives and protect the Council’s interests, and to deliver good housekeeping;
d. ensure that third parties are judged satisfactory in the context of the Council’s 
creditworthiness policies, and that limits have not been exceeded;
e. be content that the terms of any transactions have been fully checked against the 
market, and have been found to be competitive.
In respect of borrowing and other funding decisions, appropriate members or officers of 
the Council will:
a. evaluate the economic and market factors that might influence the manner and timing 

of any decision to fund;
b. consider the advantages and disadvantages of alternative forms of funding, including 

funding from revenue, leasing and private partnerships;
c. consider the alternative interest rate bases available, the most appropriate periods to 

fund and repayment profiles to use;
d. consider the ongoing revenue liabilities created, and the implications for the Council’s 

future plans and budgets.
In respect of investment decisions, appropriate members or officers of the Council will:
a. consider the optimum period, in the light of cash flow availability and prevailing 

market conditions;
b. consider the alternative investment products and techniques available, especially the 

implications of using any which may expose the Council to changes in the value of its 
Capital.

TMP4 - APPROVED INSTRUMENTS, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

11 GENERAL

12

The following paragraphs specify the wider activities, instruments and techniques 
permitted by law and adopted by the Council.

Where there is a conflict with another TMP which details a narrower range of permitted 
activities, instruments or techniques than that shown below, the other TMP shall 
have priority. In particular, this may be the case with TMP1 Treasury risk 
management where the Council may restrict activities beyond the limits permitted 
by this TMP in order to ensure even greater control over risks.

13 APPROVED ACTIVITIES OF THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT OPERATION

 Borrowing
 Lending
 Debt repayment and rescheduling

Page 134



51

 Consideration, approval and use of new financial instruments and treasury 
management techniques

 Managing the underlying risk associated with the Council’s Capital financing 
and surplus funds activities

 Managing cash flow
 Banking activities
 Leasing
 Use of external fund managers 
 Managing the underlying exchange rate risk associated with the Council’s 

business activities

14 APPROVED INSTRUMENTS FOR INVESTMENTS

 Gilts
 Treasury Bills
 Deposits with banks, building societies or local authorities and money market 

funds
 Certificates of deposits with banks or building societies 
 Euro-Sterling issues by certain supra-national bodies listed on the London and 

Dublin Stock Exchanges
 AAA-rated money market funds
 Debt Management Account  (run by DMO/PWLB)
 Property funds

APPROVED TECHNIQUES

 Forward dealing 
 Callable deposits 

APPROVED METHODS AND SOURCES OF RAISING CAPITAL FINANCE

On Balance Sheet          Fixed      Variable 

PWLB  
EIB  
Market (long-term)  
Market (temporary)  
Market (LOBOs)  
Stock issues  
Local temporary  
Local Bonds 
Overdraft 
Negotiable Bonds  
Internal (Capital receipts & revenue balances)  

Page 135



52

Commercial Paper 
Medium Term Notes 

Off Balance Sheet
Leasing (not finance leases)  
Deferred Purchase  

All forms of funding will be considered dependent on the prevailing regulations, 
economic climate and local considerations. The S151 Officer has the power 
(through the scheme of delegation) to take the most appropriate form of borrowing 
from approved sources. 

LIMITS

Limits on the value of borrowing and investment through different instruments are 
set out in TMP1 Treasury risk management

15 IMPLEMENTATION OF MIFID II REQUIREMENTS
Since 3 January 2018, UK public sector bodies have been defaulted to “retail” status under the 
requirements of MiFID II. However, for each counterparty it is looking to transact with, (e.g. 
financial institution, fund management operator, broker), there remains the option to opt up to 
“professional” status, subject to meeting certain requirements specified by MIFID II and that it has 
the appropriate level of knowledge and experience and decision making processes in place in 
order to use regulated investment products. 
 
MIFID II does not cover term deposits so local authorities should not be required to opt up to 
professional status. However, some non-UK banks do not have the necessary regulatory 
permissions to deal with retail clients, so opting up to professional status would be required. 
 
For investing in negotiable investment instruments, (e.g. certificates of deposit, gilts, corporate 
bonds), money market funds and other types of investment funds, which are covered by MIFID II, a 
schedule is maintained of all counterparties that the treasury management team are authorised to 
place investments with. This specifies for each investment instrument and for each counterparty, 
whether the authority has been opted up to professional status. (N.B. some money markets funds 
will deal with both retail and professional clients.)

SCHEDULE FOR OPT UPS TO PROFESSIONAL STATUS
TP-ICAP
BGC Brokers
Link Asset services
ICD
FIS 
Federated
Deutsche Bank

Page 136



53

TMP5 - ORGANISATION, CLARITY AND SEGREGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES,   
AND DEALING ARRANGEMENTS

5.1 LIMITS TO RESPONSIBILITIES/DISCRETION AT COMMITTEE/EXECUTIVE 
LEVELS

5.1.1 General
Salford City Council has an elected City Mayor. The elected City Mayor is 
democratically accountable to all residents of the City of Salford  and has adopted 
the ‘leader and cabinet’ style of executive. In general, this means that policies within 
the ‘policy framework’ are approved at full Council. All other functions are the 
responsibility of the Cabinet. The Treasury Management Policy falls within the 
policy framework, and its adoption by Cabinet has been approved by Council.
Through the Council Constitution’s Scheme of Delegation, responsibility for the 
implementation and monitoring of treasury management policies and practices is 
delegated from the City Mayor to the Lead Member for Finance and Support 
Services, responsibility for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions is delegated to the S151 Officer, and authority to execute 
transactions is delegated to the Strategic Finance Manager.

5.1.2 Full Council
Full Council shall:-
a. receive the annual review of treasury management activities;
b. approve the annual budget, including the revenue consequences of Capital  

financing;
c. receive and review Audit Committee recommendations and require appropriate 

action of Cabinet.
5.1.3 The City Mayor

The City Mayor shall:-
a. approve the Council’s adopted clauses (of the treasury management code of 

practice);
b. approve the Treasury Management Policy Statement;
c. approve treasury limits and the annual Treasury Management Strategy;
d. receive recommendations from theOverview and Scrutiny Board.

5.1.4 Lead Member for Finance and Support Services
The Lead Member for Finance and Support Services is responsible to Cabinet for 
all financial activities, including treasury management, and shall:
a. require the S151 Officer to make arrangements for treasury management in 

accordance with the policy and strategy approved by the City Mayor;  
b. monitor performance against the approved policy and strategy;
c. submit reports prepared by the S151 Officer to the City Mayor where approval 

or note is required; 
d. approve the selection of external service providers and agree terms of 

appointment.
5.1.5 Audit and Accounts Committee

Audit and Accounts Committee shall:-
a. receive reports of Internal and External Audit;
b. recommend appropriate actions to the Lead Member, City Mayor, and/or full 

Council.

Page 137



54

5.1.6 Overview and Scrutiny Board
Overview and Scrutiny Board  shall:-
a. receive half-yearly reports on treasury management activities;
b. recommend appropriate actions to the Lead Member, City Mayor, and/or full 

Council.

5.2 PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES CONCERNING SEGREGATION OF DUTIES
5.2.1 The main principle is that those officers with the authority and ability to authorise, 

effect and verify Treasury Management transactions shall in each case be different 
officers.

5.2.2 All transactions shall be authorised by one of the officers delegated by the S151 
Officer (i.e. one of the designated strategic finance or finance managers ).

5.2.3 The S151 Officer (or a delegated member of his/her team) shall be responsible for 
effecting transactions..

5.3 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ORGANISATION CHARTS

5.3.1 Members

FULL COUNCIL

Executive Lead Member
(Finance and Support 

Services)

Overview and Scrutiny 
Board

S151 Officer
(Chief Finance Officer)

Office of the 
City Mayor

Page 138



55

5.3.2 Officers

Chief Executive
(Head of the Paid Service)

S151 Officer
(Chief Finance Officer)

Monitoring Officer
(Monitoring Officer)

Head of Financial 
Management

Strategic Finance Manager

Finance Manager 
(Treasury Manager)

Finance Officer

Page 139



56

5.4 STATEMENT OF DUTIES/RESPONSIBILITIES OF EACH TREASURY POST

5.4.1 Chief Finance Officer
The Chief Finance Officer is the S151 Officer. He/she has overarching 
responsibilities under s151 of the Local Government Act 1972 to make proper 
arrangements for financial affairs.
In relation to treasury management he/she shall:
a. recommend for adoption the clauses of the treasury management code of 

practice;
b. recommend for approval the treasury management policy;
c. approve Treasury Management Practices;
d. regularly review and monitor compliance against the treasury management 

policy and Treasury Management Practices;
e. report non-compliance to the Lead Member;
f. submit budgets and budget variations to the Lead Member;
g. receive and review management information reports;
h. review the performance of the treasury management function and promote best 

value reviews;
i. ensure the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;
j. ensure the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;
k. recommend to the Lead Member the appointment of external service providers.
In practice, the S151 Officer may delegate any or all of these functions to the Head 
of Financial Management. 

5.4.2 Head of Financial Management
The Head of Financial Management has delegated power to take the most 
appropriate form of borrowing from the approved sources and to take the most 
appropriate form of investments in approved instruments.
Prior to entering into any Capital financing, lending or investment transaction, it is 
the responsibility of the Head of Financial Management to be satisfied, by reference 
to the S151 Officer, the Monitoring Officer, the Council’s legal team and external 
advisors as appropriate, that the proposed transaction does not breach any statute, 
external regulation, Standing Order, Financial Regulation or other part of the 
Council’s constitution.
The Head of Financial Management may delegate his/her power to borrow and 
invest to members of staff. All transactions must be conducted by officers 
authorised by the Head of Financial Management, and all transactions must be 
authorised by officers given that power by the Head of Financial Management.
It is also the responsibility of the Head of Financial Management to ensure that the 
Council complies with the requirements of The Non-Investment Products Code for 
principals and broking firms in the wholesale markets.

Page 140



57

5.4.3 Treasury Manager
The Finance Manager (Treasury Management) on the Corporate Accountancy team 
is assigned the role of Treasury Manager. His/her duties shall include:-
a. Administration of the Treasury Management function on a day-to-day basis
b. Calculation of cash flow;
c. Execution of Treasury Management transactions;
d. Ensuring adherence to agreed policies and practices;
e. Maintaining good relationships with third parties and external service providers;
f. Supervising Treasury Management staff;
g. Monitoring and reporting on performance;
h. Preparation and submission of management information;
i. Identification of opportunities for improving practices.
The Treasury Manager may delegate any non-supervisory duties to the Finance 
Officer on his/her team.

5.4.4 Strategic Finance Manager 
This position has a management role over the treasury management team. They 
shall act for the S151 Officer to ensure that the treasury management team has 
sufficient resources to carry out its functions effectively.
The Strategic Finance Manager shall control access and passwords on the 
Barclays.net and ICD on line systems.

5.4.5 Senior Finance Support Officer
The Senior Finance Support Officer on the treasury management team shall 
conduct all treasury management activities under the direction of the Treasury 
Manager. 

5.4.6 Finance Support Officer
The responsibilities of this post in respect of Treasury Management shall be: -
a. Verifying that authorised Treasury Management transactions (only) have taken 

place;
b. Reporting any variations to the Strategic Finance Manager direct, not through a 

member of the Treasury Management team.
5.4.7 Head of the Paid Service (City Director)

The responsibilities of this post in respect of Treasury Management shall be: 
a. Ensuring that a treasury management system is specified and implemented by 

the S151 Officer
b. Ensuring that the City Treasurer reports regularly to Lead Member for Finance 

and Support Services on treasury policy, activity and performance.
5.4.8 Monitoring Officer

The Monitoring Officer role is currently assigned to the City Solicitor. 
The responsibilities of this post in respect of Treasury Management shall be: -
a. To be satisfied that the Treasury Management Policy Statement and Treasury 

Management Practices, and any proposals to vary them, comply with the law, 
any appropriate codes of practice and the Council's Constitution;

Page 141



58

b. Ensuring that the S151 Officer complies with the Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and Treasury Management Practices;

c. To give advice to the S151 Officer when it is sought.
5.4.9 Internal Audit

Internal audit shall be carried out by the Audit and Risk Management Unit (ARMU). 
The responsibilities of AMRU shall be to: -
a. Review compliance with the approved Treasury Management Policy Statement 

and Treasury Management Practices;
b. Review division of duties and operational practice;
c. Assess value for money from treasury activities;
d. Undertake probity audits of the treasury function.

5.5 ABSENCE COVER ARRANGEMENTS

5.5.1 Daily money-market dealing is to be carried out by a member of the Treasury team. 
The team comprises the Finance Manager and the Finance Officer and they will 
endeavour to plan leave so that their absence is not concurrent.

5.5.2 In the absence of both members of the Treasury team, cover will be provided by 
other members of the accountancy team. 

5.5.3 Transaction authorisation is to be given out by one of the Strategic Finance 
Managers 

5.5.4 If operational requirements dictate, the S151 Officer may give other officers 
temporary powers to conduct or authorise transactions. 

5.6 DEALING LIMITS

5.6.1 Overall limits are set out in TMP4 Approved instruments, methods and techniques.
5.6.2 There are no further limits placed on the powers of individual officers to conduct or 

authorise transactions.

5.7 LIST OF APPROVED BROKERS
5.7.1 Approved brokers:

a. ICAP;
b. Martin Brokers (UK) plc;
c. Prebon Yamane;
d. Tradition UK Ltd;
e. Sterling International Brokers Limited;
f.    ICD Institutional Cash Distributors

5.7.2 Brokers are regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and also governed 
by the Non-Investments Products Code. The Treasury Manager may add properly-
registered brokers to the approved list as he/she sees fit.

5.8 POLICY ON BROKERS’ SERVICES
5.8.1 Apart from the following transactions all treasury management deals shall be 

conducted through brokers:

Page 142



59

a. Deals with the Barclays Bank plc;
b. Investments with the DMO;
c. Loans from PWLB;
d. Investments in call accounts ( Svenska / Barclays FIBCA).
e. Investments in Money Market Funds (Prime Rate/Standard 

life/Blackrock/Deutsche)
f. Investments with Bank of Ireland / Anglo Irish Bank 
g. Rescheduling of market loans directly with existing lenders

5.9 POLICY ON TAPING OF CONVERSATIONS
5.9.1 Officers undertaking treasury management activities may have their telephone 

conversations taped by other organisations. 
5.9.2 Some telephone conversations may be recorded by Council Voice Communications 

staff as a matter of routine, but Finance and Support Services staff are not required 
to tape conversations.

5.10 DIRECT DEALING PRACTICES
5.10.1 See 5.8.1

5.11 SETTLEMENT TRANSMISSION PROCEDURES
5.11.1 Investments shall be transmitted via the Barclays.net system. There are three steps 

to this process:
a. Set the payment up in Barclays.net;
b. Electronic approval in Barclays.net;
c. Verification of the payment post authorisation

5.11.2 Steps a and c are to be conducted by the treasury management team, step b by an 
officer with power to approve a treasury management transaction (see 5.4 above). 
Access restrictions on the system, maintained by the Strategic Finance Manager 
shall ensure the division of duties.

5.11.3 In the case of failure of the Barclays.net system, transactions may be actioned 
directly in the local branch of Barclays Bank. Documents shall be signed by the 
officer arranging the transaction and by the authorising officer (who shall have the 
appropriate signatory level on the authorised signatory list of the bank account) so 
that the same authorities and divisions of duties apply.

5.11.4 Investments with Barclays Bank may be conducted by treasury management 
officers manually, subject to the normal authority.

Page 143



60

5.12 DOCUMENTATION REQUIREMENTS
5.12.1 Each treasury management transaction shall be evidenced by a dealing slip, 

containing the details of the transaction and signed by:
the officer who carries out the transaction and inputs it into the Barclays.net 
system;
the officer who authorises the transaction and electronically approves it in the 
Barclays.net system.

5.12.2 The Financial Support Officer shall file dealing slips and check them against 
confirmation slips received from the other parties in treasury management 
transactions.

5.13 ARRANGEMENTS CONCERNING THE MANAGEMENT OF THIRD-PARTY 
FUNDS

5.13.1 The treasury management policy and practices shall apply to the funds of Salford 
Community Leisure Ltd (SCL) and any similar organisation created for the provision 
of services on behalf of the City Council, where such funds are managed by the 
treasury management team. The Council’s treasury management team shall 
manage these funds as part of their overall activities.

5.13.2 In general, any trust fund monies or other third-party funds managed by the 
Council’s treasury management team shall be consolidated with the Council’s 
monies for treasury management purposes and the treasury management policy 
and practices shall apply.

5.13.3 Where officers of the Council, acting as trustees of any fund (and not as officers of 
the Council) manage trust fund monies, the policy and practices of the trust fund 
shall apply, not those of the Council.

5.14 ARRANGEMENTS FOR LOCALLY-MANAGED SCHOOLS TO ENSURE 
COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE AND THE AUTHORITY 'S POLICIES AND 
PRACTICES.

5.14.1 The School Bank Accounts Scheme enables schools to operate bank accounts with 
those high street banks and building societies listed on the ‘approved institutions list 
maintained by the City Treasurer’. 

5.14.2 Schools are not permitted to lend, invest or otherwise place funds except in 
accordance with the Scheme without the prior permission of the S151 Officer, to be 
obtained via the Treasury Manager, nor are schools permitted to borrow money 
except from the Council. 

5.14.3 The approved institutions list maintained by the S151 Officer shall include those 
banks and building societies set out in the counterparty list in TMP1 Treasury Risk 
Management.

Non-Treasury 
Non- treasury investments should be approved in accordance with the council constitution.

Page 144



61

TMP6 - REPORTING REQUIREMENTS AND MANAGEMENT INFORMATION 
ARRANGEMENTS

Annual programme of reporting

a) Annual reporting requirements before the start of the year: -
 review of the organisation’s approved clauses, treasury management policy 

statement and practices
 treasury management strategy report on proposed treasury management 

activities for the year comprising of the Treasury management strategy statement, 
Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement  

 capital strategy to cover the following: -
i. give a long term view of the capital programme and treasury management 

implications thereof. 
ii. an overview of treasury and non-treasury investments to highlight the risks 

and returns involved in each and the balance, (proportionality), between both 
types of investments.

iii. The authorities risk appetite and specific policies and arrangements for non-
treasury investments

iv. Schedule of non-treasury investments

b) Mid-year review 
c) Annual review report after the end of the year

16 Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement sets out the specific expected treasury 
activities for the forthcoming financial year. This strategy will be submitted to overview and 
scrutiny board and then to the full Council for approval before the commencement of each 
financial year. 

The formulation of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement involves 
determining the appropriate borrowing and investment decisions in the light of the 
anticipated movement in both fixed and shorter -term variable interest rates. For instance, 
this Council may decide to postpone borrowing if fixed interest rates are expected to fall, or 
borrow early if fixed interest rates are expected to rise. 

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is concerned with the following elements:
a) Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
b) current Treasury portfolio position
c) borrowing requirement 
d) prospects for interest rates
e) borrowing strategy
f) policy on borrowing in advance of need
g) debt rescheduling
h) investment strategy
i) creditworthiness policy
j) policy on the use of external service providers
k) any extraordinary treasury issue
l) the MRP strategy

The Treasury Management Strategy Statement will establish the expected move in interest 
rates against alternatives (using all available information such as published interest rate 
forecasts where applicable), and highlight sensitivities to different scenarios.

Page 145



62

17 The Annual Investment Strategy Statement
At the same time as the Council receives the Treasury Management Strategy Statement it will also 
receive a report on the Annual Investment Strategy which will set out the following: -

a) The Council’s risk appetite in respect of security, liquidity and optimum performance
b) The definition of high credit quality   to determine what are specified investments as 

distinct from non-specified investments
c) Which specified and non-specified instruments the Council will use
d) Whether they will be used by the in house team, external managers or both (if 

applicable)
e) The Council’s policy on the use of credit ratings and other credit risk analysis 

techniques to determine creditworthy counterparties for its approved lending list
f) Which credit rating agencies the Council will use
g) How the Council will deal with changes in ratings, rating watches and rating outlooks
h) Limits for individual counterparties and group limits
i) Country limits 
j) Levels of cash balances
k) Interest rate outlook
l) Budget for investment earnings
m) Use of a cash fund manager (if applicable)
n) Policy on the use of external service providers

18 The Annual Minimum Revenue Provision Statement 
This statement will set out how the Council will make revenue provision for repayment of its 
borrowing using the four options for so doing and will be submitted at the same time as the 
Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement.

19 Policy on Prudential and Treasury Indicators 
1. The Council approves before the beginning of each financial year a number of treasury 

limits which are set through Prudential and Treasury Indicators.
2. The responsible officer is responsible for incorporating these limits into the Annual Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, and for ensuring compliance with the limits. Should it 
prove necessary to amend these limits, the responsible officer shall submit the changes for 
approval to the full Council

20 Mid-year review
The Council will review its treasury management activities and strategy on a six monthly basis. 
This review will consider the following: -

a) activities undertaken
b) variations (if any) from agreed policies/practices
c) interim performance report
d) regular monitoring
e) monitoring of treasury management indicators for local authorities.

21 Annual Review Report on Treasury Management Activity
An annual report will be presented to overview and scrutiny board at the earliest practicable 
meeting after the end of the financial year, but in any case by the end of September. This 
report will include the following: - 

a) transactions executed and their revenue (current) effects
b) report on risk implications of decisions taken and transactions executed

Page 146



63

c) compliance report on agreed policies and practices, and on statutory/regulatory 
requirements

d) performance report
e) report on compliance with CIPFA Code recommendations
f) monitoring of treasury management indicators 

Non-Treasury 
The report approving the non-treasury investment should detail the person responsible for 
monitoring non treasury investment and the review periods

TMP7 -  BUDGETING, ACCOUNTING AND AUDIT ARRANGEMENTS

Statutory/Regulatory Requirements
The accounts are drawn up in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in Great Britain that is recognised by statute as representing proper accounting practices. 
The Council has also adopted in full the principles set out in CIPFA’s ‘Treasury Management in the 
Public Services - Code of Practice’ (the ‘CIPFA Code’), together with those of its specific 
recommendations that are relevant to this Council’s treasury management activities.

Sample Budgets / Accounts / Prudential and Treasury Indicators
The treasury manager will prepare a three year treasury management medium term financial plan 
with Prudential and Treasury Indicators for treasury management which will incorporate the budget 
for the forthcoming year and provisional estimates for the following two years. This will bring 
together all the costs involved in running the function, together with associated income. The 
treasury manager will exercise effective controls over this budget and monitoring of performance 
against Prudential and Treasury Indicators, and will report upon and recommend any changes 
required in accordance with TMP6. 

The Council’s budget is set out annually in the document ‘Revenue Estimates and Capital 
Programme’, also published on the internet at www.salford.gov.uk
The Council’s Statement of Accounts is published annually and is also included on the internet at 
www.salford.gov.uk
Comprehensive backing papers to all sets of accounts are maintained on the Corporate 
Accountancy team of the Finance Division of the Finance and Support Services Directorate.

List of Information Requirements of External Auditors.
 Reconciliation of loans outstanding in the financial ledger to treasury management records
 Maturity analysis of loans outstanding
 Certificates for new long term loans taken out in the year
 Reconciliation of loan interest, discounts received and premiums paid to financial 

ledger by loan type
 Calculation of loans fund interest and debt management expenses
 Details of interest rates applied to internal investments
 Calculation of interest on working balances
 Interest accrual calculation 
 Principal and interest charges reports from the <<system >>
 Analysis of any deferred charges
 Calculation of loans fund creditors and debtors
 Annual Treasury Report
 Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Prudential and Treasury Indicators
 Review of observance of  limits set by Prudential and Treasury Indicators
 Calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision
 External fund manager(s) valuations including investment income schedules and 

movement in capital values.

Page 147

http://www.salford.gov.uk/
http://www.salford.gov.uk/


64

Monthly Budget Monitoring Report

Monthly Budget Monitoring reports are produced for the corporate management team, the report is 
intended to highlight any variances between budgets and spend in order that the Council can 
assess its financial position. Details of treasury management activities are included within this 
report. 

Page 148



65

TMP8 - CASH AND CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT

Arrangements for Preparing/Submitting Cash Flow Statements
Cash flow projections are maintained on a daily basis to determine daily funding requirements. 
This is to be checked by another member of staff and authorised by an appropriate officer as set 
out in TMP5 Organisation, clarity and segregation of responsibilities, and dealing arrangements. 
The cash flow projections are prepared from the previous years’ cash flow records, adjusted for 
known changes in levels of income and expenditure and also changes in payments and receipts 
dates. These details are supplemented on an ongoing basis by information received of new or 
revised amounts to be paid or received as and when they are known using PSlive software. A 
regular report is sent to the Head of Finance/Strategic Finance Manager. A record of loan 
transactions and investments is maintained on the pslive database

Bank Statements Procedures
The Council receives a daily electronic bank statements. A formal bank reconciliation is undertaken 
on a monthly basis.

Payment Scheduling and Agreed Terms of Trade With Creditors
The Council has two standard contract conditions documents – one for goods and one for services 
– however, these may be modified for individual contracts. The standard payment terms are 30 
days after receipt of goods or services.
The creditors (SAP accounts payable or AP) system is run to generate BACS payments and 
cheques every working day. 
The system prepares a payment for an invoice whenever the payment terms for that particular 
supplier cause it to fall due. The default payment term is 30 days, but these can be overridden for 
particular suppliers (or for certain invoices) to terms of 7 days or ‘for immediate payment’.

Arrangements for Monitoring Debtors / Creditors Levels
Treasury management staff have access to the SAP AP system. Creditor levels are monitored on 
a daily basis to inform daily cash-flow decisions.
Debtors staff are instructed to inform treasury management staff when significant payments are 
expected.

Procedures for Banking of Funds
There are no longer any significant cash collection facilities run by the Council. Those 
establishments that do collect cash and cheques for fees and charges are required to make 
adequate arrangements for the security of monies and regular banking arrangements.
The Council has Post Office-run giro accounts to collect the majority of the cash and cheques 
previously paid into Council cash offices. The funds in these accounts are transferred into the 
Council’s bank accounts on a weekly basis. Various other cashless collection facilities 
administered by Allpay are used and funds are transferred to the Council on a daily basis. 
The most important of the funds with regard to the collection of income are:
a. Council Tax;
b. NNDR;
c. Housing rents;
d. Sundry debtors.
The Council encourages the majority of payers to use means of direct payment into the Council’s 
bank accounts.

Page 149



66

PRACTICES CONCERNING PREPAYMENTS TO OBTAIN BENEFITS
When procuring goods and services under a contract, the Council’s standard tendering procedures 
include a question on possible discounts for early payment. 
At their discretion, directorates’ administrative staff may accelerate payment of creditor invoices 
through the urgent payments system in order to secure a discount.
On request, treasury management officers provide analyses of the cash flow benefits of earlier 
collection of income or later payment of creditors to cost centre managers, in order to inform 
budgeting/savings decisions.

TMP9 - MONEY LAUNDERING

Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
Money laundering has the objective of concealing the origin of money generated through 
criminal activity. Legislation has given a higher profile to the need to report suspicions of 
money laundering. The Proceeds of Crime Act (POCA) 2002 established the main 
offences relating to money laundering. In summary, these are:

 concealing, disguising, converting, transferring or removing criminal property 
from England and Wales, from Scotland or from Northern Ireland

 being concerned in an arrangement which a person knows or suspects 
facilitates the acquisition, retention, use or control of criminal property

 acquiring, using or possessing criminal property.

These apply to all persons in the UK in a personal and professional capacity. Any person 
involved in any known or suspected money-laundering activity in the UK risks a criminal 
conviction. Other offences under the POCA include:

 failure to disclose money-laundering offences
 tipping off a suspect, either directly or indirectly
 doing something that might prejudice an investigation – for example, falsifying a 

document.

The Terrorism Act 2000
This act made it an offence of money laundering to become concerned in an arrangement 
relating to the retention or control of property likely to be used for the purposes of 
terrorism, or resulting from acts of terrorism. All individuals and businesses in the UK have 
an obligation to report knowledge, reasonable grounds for belief or suspicion about the 
proceeds from, or finance likely to be used for, terrorism or its laundering, where it relates 
to information that comes to them in the course of their business or employment 

The Money Laundering Regulations  2012, 2015 and 2017
Organisations pursuing relevant business (especially those in the financial services 
industry regulated by the FCA) are required to do the following: -

 identify and assess the risks of money laundering and terrorist financing
 have policies, controls and procedures to mitigate and manage effectively the risks 
of money laundering and terrorist financing identified through the risk assessments
 appoint a nominated officer
  implement internal reporting procedures

Page 150



67

 train relevant staff in the subject

 obtain, verify and maintain evidence and records of the identity of new clients and 
transactions undertaken
  report their suspicions. 

 
Local authorities
Public service organisations and their staff are subject to the full provisions of the 
Terrorism Act 2000 and subsequent Terrorism Acts and may commit most of the principal 
offences under the POCA, but are not legally obliged to apply the provisions of the Money 
Laundering Regulations 2012, 2015 and 2017. However, as responsible public bodies, 
they should employ policies and procedures which reflect the essence of the UK’s anti-
terrorist financing, and anti-money laundering, regimes. Accordingly the Council has done 
the following: -

a) Devised a money laundering policy, supported by anti-money laundering 
procedures
b) appoint a member of staff to whom they can report any suspicions. This person is 

the chief internal auditor

Procedures for Establishing Identity / Authenticity Of Lenders
It is not a requirement under POCA for local authorities to require identification from every 
person or organisation it deals with. However, in respect of treasury management 
transactions, there is a need for due diligence and this will be effected by following the 
procedures below.

The Council does not accept loans from individuals. 

The Council uses brokers to obtain some loans. Initially, the source of a particular deposit 
is unidentified, as is required by the codes of conduct under which brokers are required to 
operate.

The Council is able to place reliance on the brokers because of the codes under which 
they operate and their monitoring by the FSA. Brokers use only recognised sectors, ie 
banks, building societies, universities, local government and large corporate organisations. 
Any new accounts must first be approved by brokers’ compliance officers. Their 
experience and knowledge of the market further protects the Council against money 
laundering activities.

TMP10 -TRAINING AND QUALIFICATIONS

The Council recognises that relevant individuals will need appropriate levels of training in treasury 
management due to its increasing complexity. There are two categories of relevant individuals: - 

a) Treasury management staff employed by the Council
b) Members charged with governance of the treasury management function

All treasury management staff should receive appropriate training relevant to the requirements of 
their duties at the appropriate time. The Council operates a Professional Development Review 
system which identifies the training requirements of individual members of staff engaged on 
treasury related activities.

Page 151



68

Additionally, training may also be provided on the job and it will be the responsibility of the treasury 
manager to ensure that all staff under his / her authority receive the level of training appropriate to 
their duties. This will also apply to those staff who from time to time cover for absences from the 
treasury management team.

DETAILS OF APPROVED TRAINING COURSES
Approved courses are those provided by Link, the Council’s treasury management consultants, 

including:
a. Introduction to treasury management;
b. Treasury management for practitioners;
c. Other relevant courses.

Other approved courses include any provided by CIPFA or any other considered suitable by the 
S151 Officer.
Internal training through periodic accountants briefings and, where relevant, on-the-job training, is 
also provided.

RECORDS OF TRAINING RECEIVED BY TREASURY STAFF
The Strategic Finance Manager shall arrange for the review of training needs via regular appraisal 
and for a record to be kept of training delivered to treasury management staff.

The Finance Division of the Finance and Support Services Directorate has adopted a scheme of 
continuing professional development for all senior accountancy staff. This scheme applies to all 
staff engaged on treasury management activities.

CAREER DEVELOPMENT / SUCCESSION ARRANGEMENTS
The Council’s equal opportunities policy requires that all vacancies are filled by the standard 
recruitment and selection procedures. The policy does not allow for succession arrangements.
The Head of Financial Management and Strategic Finance Manager shall be responsible for the 
development of treasury management staff to help ensure that they are capable of competing with 
other applicants in pursuit of career advancement.

APPROVED QUALIFICATIONS FOR TREASURY STAFF
Approved qualifications are:

a. AAT;
b. CIPFA (or other CCAB).

RECORD OF SECONDMENT OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT (not applicable)

STATEMENT OF PROFESSIONAL PRACTICE (SOPP)
Where the Chief Financial Officer is a member of CIPFA, he must be seen to be committed to 
professional responsibilities through both personal compliance and by ensuring that relevant staff 
are appropriately trained.
Other staff involved in treasury management activities who are members of CIPFA must also 
comply with the SOPP.
Non treasury investments 
The council has professionally qualified staff across a range of disciplines including finance, legal 
and property that follow continuous professional development (CPD) and attend courses on an 
ongoing basis to keep abreast of new developments and skills.

Page 152



69

The council establishes project teams from all the professional disciplines from across the council 
as and when required. External professional advice is taken where required and will always be 
sought in consideration of any major commercial property investment decision.

TMP11 - USE OF EXTERNAL SERVICE PROVIDERS

Details of Contracts with Service Providers, Including Bankers, Brokers, Consultants, 
Advisers
This Council will employ the services of other organisations to assist it in the field of treasury 
management. In particular, it will use external consultants to provide specialist advice in this ever 
more complex area. However, it will ensure that it fully understands what services are being 
provided and that they meet the needs of this organisation, especially in terms of being objective 
and free from conflicts of interest.

It will also ensure that the skills of the in house treasury management team are maintained to a 
high enough level whereby they can provide appropriate challenge to external advice and can 
avoid undue reliance on such advice.

Treasury management staff and their senior management will therefore be required to allocate 
appropriate levels of time to using the following sources of information so that they are able to 
develop suitable levels of understanding to carry out their duties, especially in challenge and 
avoiding undue reliance. 

 The quality financial press
 Market data
 Information on government support for banks an
 The credit ratings of that government support

Banking services
a. Name of supplier of service: Barclays Bank plc
b. Contract commenced: 1 February 2015 and runs for 60 months to 30 January 2020 
with the option of a further year 2 years.
c. Cost of service: the cost is partly transaction-based, full details are available
d. Payments due: quarterly
e. Terms for early termination of the contract: either party may terminate the contract 
at the break points.
Money-broking services
a. Names of supplier of service: 
b. ICAP
c. ICD
d. Martin Brokers (UK) plc
e. Prebon Yamane 
f. Tradition UK Limited
g. Sterling International Brokers LimitedFor all of these brokers the council has opted 
up to professional status under MIFID II. 

Cash/fund management services
a. Name of supplier of service: Not applicable

Page 153



70

Consultants’/advisers’ services
a. Name of supplier of service:  Link Asset Services Ltd.
b. Contract commenced 1st January 2016 for twenty seven months to 31st March 2018 
with the option of a one year extension. 
c. Cost of service: £14,250 p.a. 
d. Payments due: bi-annually
e. Terms for early termination of the contract: by agreement

PROCEDURES AND FREQUENCY FOR TENDERING SERVICES  
Treasury management tenders will follow standard Council practice as set down in 
Standing Orders and Financial Regulations and, where appropriate, OJEC procedures.
The City Treasurer shall consider an appropriate contract length during the tendering 
process.

Page 154



71

TMP12 - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
The Council is committed to the principle of openness and transparency in its treasury 
management function and in all of its functions.

It has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and implemented key 
recommendations on developing Treasury Management Practices, formulating a Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and implementing the other principles of the Code.

The following documents are available for public inspection: -

Treasury Management Policy Statement
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
Annual Investment Strategy 
Minimum Revenue provision policy statement 
Annual Treasury Review Report
Treasury Management monitoring reports

Annual accounts and financial instruments disclosure notes
Annual budget
Capital Strategy

Minutes of Council / Cabinet / committee meetings

Schedule of all external funds managed by the Council on behalf of others and the basis of 
attributing interest earned and costs of these investments.

PROCEDURES FOR CONSULTATION WITH STAKEHOLDERS.
Stakeholders include:
a. Members of the Council;
b. Citizens of Salford;
c. The partners discussed in TMP11 Use of external service providers;
d. Other directorates of the Council.
The Lead Member shall be accountable to the Council for treasury management. The 
annual report is to be submitted to Council.
Members shall be accountable to the citizens of Salford through the normal democratic 
procedures. Interested parties may question Members through forums such as 
Councillors’ surgeries and Community Committees.
The Treasury Manager shall maintain good relationships with the Council’s partners.
Treasury management is a specialist financial activity and the S151 Officer shall direct it 
as he sees fit within his s151 duties. Where other directorates have an interest through the 
budget process, details of cost and activities shall be made available to them.

Page 155



72

APPENDIX J
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT

‘The policies and objectives of treasury management activities in Salford City Council are 
defined as follows:- 

Salford City Council defines its treasury management activities as:

“The management of the authority’s cash flows, its banking, money market and 
Capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those 
activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks”.

Salford City Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to be the 
prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will be measured. 
Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the City.

Salford City Council acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is, therefore, committed to the 
principles of achieving best value in treasury management and to employing suitable performance 
measurement techniques within the context of effective risk management.’

Page 156



73

 

Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3

PART 1 ITEM NO.

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES

TO
COUNCIL

26 FEBRUARY 2020

TITLE: Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21-2022/23

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Council as asked to endorse the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

This report outlines the proposed three year Medium Term Financial Strategy which will 
inform the Council’s future financial planning and budget decisions to support delivery of 
the Council’s priorities.  If agreed, the Strategy will form part of the Council’s policy and 
financial framework.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
Finance working papers.

KEY DECISION: NO.  The approval of the annual budget elsewhere on the Council 
agenda will be a key decision

1. Background

1.1 Given the previous reductions in council funding and the level of financial 
uncertainty facing local government, there is a greater need than ever for robust 
planning on a longer term basis.  The council’s three year approach is set out in the 
medium term strategy which sits alongside and complements the annual budget 
report. The principles on which the strategy and annual budget is based are:-

- aligning the budget to strategic priorities
- achieving value for money, increasing efficiency and improving service delivery
- maintaining the financial health of the council
- managing risk in a period of uncertainty with significant changes to funding 

mechanisms being delayed until 2021/22
- ensuring effective budget management  

1.2 The MTFS has been developed to reflect good practice guidelines from CIPFA.

Page 159

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 3

2. A Three Year Medium Term Financial Strategy

2.1 The attached MTFS, outlines the main factors that will shape and influence the 
Council’s financial planning over the next three years.  The Strategy provides:

 A summary of the financial principles and objectives which guide the Council’s 
decision making

 The changing demographics of the city and demand for services that also 
inform financial and service decisions

 The wider international, regional and local macro-economic factors that will 
influence the Council’s financial planning

 Known and anticipated funding allocations and investments available to the 
council to support delivery of its priorities and services

 The assumptions made by the Council in managing its funding over the next 
three years.

2.2 It is recognised that it is particularly difficult to accurately forecast past 2020/21 
given the significant changes that are anticipated in 2021/22 including the 
introduction of fair funding, business rates reset and reform and changes to specific 
funding streams.  There is a risk of significant annual changes in the projections 
which will need to be managed across the three year strategy.  

2.3 The strategy will be updated on an annual basis with any changes being reflected in 
the annual budget setting process.

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Budget Strategy; Treasury Management Strategy; Capital 
Strategy, Great Eight

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:

As part of this decision making process, the Public Sector Equality Duty requires council 
staff and elected members to consider what will be the impact on people with protected 
characteristics, whether in the wider city or in our own organisation. The Council needs to 
understand who will be affected, how will they be affected and where possible how to 
minimise unintended negative consequences by planning in mitigations from the start.

This report sets out the three year Medium Term Financial Strategy which will inform the 
annual budget setting and service and investment decisions. Some proposals will need 
further development for Cabinet to make a specific decision. For these proposals a 
relevance check is required and, where it is indicated as needed by the relevance check, a 
full Equalities Impact Assessment will be undertaken to inform the City Mayor when 
making that decision.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK:
Page 160



Page 3 of 3

There are further risks to the council’s medium term financial position because of 
uncertainty in funding beyond 2020/21. With a spending review, fair funding review and a 
business rates reset all affecting the resources available to the council after 2020/21. 
These risks will be monitored and managed as far as possible through the three year plan 
and the council’s reserves strategy.
 
The council’s capital programme is important in generating growth in the city. Elements 
funded by unsupported borrowing have a financial consequence on the revenue budget. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Miranda Carruthers-Watt, City Solicitor, x3620

The Council’s Medium term financial forecast sets out the medium term financial plan. This 
is a matter that informs the budget process and may be viewed as a related function. It is, 
consistent with sound financial management and the Council’s obligation under section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972 for the Council to adopt and monitor a medium 
term financial plan. The Council also has the power to invest for the purpose of its financial 
affairs under section 12 of Local Government Act 2003. Section 1 of the Localism Act 
2011 creates and enabling power for a local authority to do anything that an individual 
generally may do subject to certain limitations. Section 120 of the Local Government Act 
1972 enables to the Council to acquire property by agreement for the purposes of any of 
its functions or the benefit improvement or development of the area.

The report provides information about risks associated with the medium term financial plan 
and the budget. This is, again, consistent with the Council’s obligation under section 151 
of the Local Government Act 1972 to make proper arrangements for the management of 
its financial affairs. It is also consistent with the Council’s obligation under the Accounts 
and Audit Regulations 2015 to have a sound system of internal control which facilitates the 
effective exercise of the Council’s functions and which includes arrangements for the 
management of risk. The maintenance and consideration of information about risk, such 
as is provided in the report, is part of the way in which the Council fulfils this duty. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: 

Report produced by the finance team working with budget managers in service groups.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by:
Not applicable to this report.  

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: All, council-wide matter

CONTACT OFFICERS:
Joanne Hardman TEL NO: 0161 793 3156
Jacquie Russell TEL NO: 0161 793 3577

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All

Page 161



This page is intentionally left blank



2020-23

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

Page 163



FOREWORD 

CITY MAYOR
Paul Dennett

Our commitment to deliver 
a Better and Fairer Salford 
remains. These are the 
issues that we know matter the most to our 
residents – good quality education and 
skills; health and social care; jobs and 
economic prosperity; housing and transport; 
reducing poverty and inequality; and a local 
council that is well run, transparent and 
accountability to residents.

This Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) provides a three year framework to 
support the delivery of our priorities.

LEAD MEMBER FOR 
FINANCE Bill Hinds

The council provides a wide 
range of complex services to help 
deliver these priorities and to 
shape and respond to the opportunities and 
challenges in our increasingly diverse city. 
High quality services are more essential 
than ever to support the needs of all our 
residents.

The financial outlook for Salford remains 
tough – with a continuing lack of certainty 
on the future of local government funding. 
We are determined to do all we can to 
make best use of the resources we have, 
and to maximise our income from the 
continued growth of the city.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
Jim Taylor

Salford City Council has responded 
responsibly to a prolonged period 
of financial reductions.  Our 
programme of redesign, reform and 
transformation has delivered savings of £211m 
since 2010/11. 

This MTFS sets out how our future plans are 
linked to the development of the city (jobs, 
homes, health, transport), how we will pay for 
the services that continue to be needed by our 
residents, and how these will be underpinned by 
an ongoing programme of reform.

CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER
Joanne Hardman

The council is facing continued
uncertainty in its budget, and is 
required to achieve further savings 
of £20.3m over the next three years.

The Council remains committed to sound 
financial management, transparency and 
accountability.  The assumptions set out in this 
MTFS continue to adhere to good practice in 
managing our finances.  

The MTFS forms a key part of the council’s core 
policy and financial framework, and ensures we 
are able to deliver on the City Mayor’s priorities 
for Salford.

Page 164



CONTENTS

1. Purpose
2. Financial objectives and principles
3. The Great Eight - delivering our priorities 
4. The city of Salford 
5. Current financial context
6. Regional, national and international context
7. Resources and future financial planning assumptions
8. Capital Programme 
9. Service redesign and reform 
10. Financial projections – summary 
11. Governance 
12. Links to other strategies and plans 
13. Risks

Page 165



1. PURPOSE

1.1 The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) takes a three year view from 
April 2020 to March 2023 and links together the revenue budget, capital 
programme and treasury management strategy.  

1.2 The MTFS sets how the council will fund Salford’s ambitions and priorities. 
The MTFS:

• Is the central document for our future financial planning
• Plays a key role in our annual budget setting process – outlining the 

financial context in which the council’s annual resource allocation and 
budget setting is considered

• Ensures the budget and our future financial plans are in line with 
Salford priorities

• Covers a three year period but is updated and reviewed regularly and 
will be approved annually by Council

• Identifies sustainable, alternative and increased sources of income

1.3 The MTFS sets out a three year budget forecast that will be reviewed 
annually. It provides the financial foundation for delivery of the Council’s 
policy priorities and to meet the identified performance and resource issues.

1.4 The MTFS is based on an organisation wide set of financial principles and 
objectives. These are set out in Section 2.

Page 166



Financial principles

 The council will set and achieve a balanced budget year on year.
 All officers will adhere to the financial standards and practices set 

out in the council’s financial regulations, and any additional 
controls determined by the council’s Chief Finance Officer. 

 Any discretionary spend will require the approval of either the 
relevant Assistant Director or Strategic Director unless specific 
delegations are authorised based on working practices.

 Managers must ensure their expenditure remains within their 
approved budget, and that individual budget heads are not 
overspent and that appropriate corrective actions are taken.  

 Inflation will be managed within agreed service budgets.
 Specific grants will be included in service budgets, and held for 

agreed purposes. Any reduction to these grants must be met by 
the service area.

 The programme for capital investment will be determined 
centrally, and capital finance costs will similarly be held centrally.

 The financing costs of invest to save schemes will be financed by 
service revenue budgets

 ICT costs will normally be financed by service areas. Corporate or 
cross–cutting ICT reforms will normally be financed centrally.                        

Financial objectives

 Reflect the strategic priorities of the City Mayor and the Council.
 Continue to seek increased efficiency from existing services 

wherever possible.
 Transform service delivery with the aim of maintaining quality at 

lower cost.
 Minimise the impact of any cuts in service to those that are 

necessary and unavoidable.
 Seek to deliver services which improve outcomes and represent 

value for money.
 Manage risk, including holding reserves as appropriate
 Maintain the financial health of the council.

2. FINANCIAL PRINCIPLES 
AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 Finance rules and procedures are set out in Part 5 of the 
Constitution, 
but general principles and objectives apply to the operation of the 
council’s finances, and to all officers of the council equally. 

Page 167



Page 168



3. THE GREAT EIGHT – DELIVERING 
OUR PRIORITIES 

3.1 Salford’s vision is for a ‘Better and Fairer Salford’. This is a vision set by the 
City Mayor and owned by partners across the city, including the City Council.  
Delivery is achieved through eight strategic priorities (The Great Eight) and 
underpinned by four core values.

Figure 1: Vision and Priorities
 Vision A BETTER AND FAIRER SALFORD
 Strategic     
 Themes People Place The Council Core

Tackling 
poverty & 
inequality

Education 
and Skills

Health & 
Social 
Care

Economic 
Development

Housing Transport Transparent 
effective 

organisation

Social 
Impact

 Our 
 Priorities 

Addressing 
poverty 

and 
tackling 

inequalities

Developing 
skills and a 

strong 
education 

offer

Working 
with 

partners to 
improve 

health and 
wellbeing

Investment 
that 

provides 
jobs with 
decent 
wages

Connecting 
affordable 
housing

Connecting 
affordable 
transport 
with jobs 
and skills

Delivering 
effective 

and 
efficient 
council 
services

Using 
social value 

to make 
the most 
difference 
in Salford

Transformation
Budget

 Cross 
 Cutting 
 Priorities

Workforce
 Our 
 Values

   Pride      Passion       People      Personal Responsibility

3.2 The role of the council’s financial planning process is to support the 
achievement of these priorities. Detailed actions to support achievement of 
the priorities are set out in a number of city wide strategies – including the 
Locality Plan for Health and Wellbeing, the Tackling Poverty and Inequalities 
Strategy, our Skills and Work Strategy, Digital Strategy, and our Housing, 
Transport and Local Industrial Strategy. The Council’s contribution to these 
priorities is set out in Directorate Business Plans, and are monitored through 
the Corporate Performance Framework, and directorate performance reports. 
Assurance is provided through the Strategic Risk Register, which is linked to 
the use of resources and delivery of performance outcomes.

Page 169



4. THE CITY OF SALFORD 

4.1 Salford is a rejuvenated city – transformed by investment in the city’s 
industrial docks which has been a catalyst for the extensive, sustained 
and expansive programme to create what is now Salford Quays – an 
international home for the arts, culture, waterside living and a new 
digital and creative economy. Over the past decade other areas of 
Salford have also undergone a physical transformation. The city’s 
economy has strengthened and our population continues to grow. The 
quality of the arts, cultural, sporting and community offers is now 
world class.

4.2 There is more that can be done and ambitious plans are in place to 
deliver on the vision to create a ‘Better and Fairer Salford’. The city 
boasts three of the strongest investment opportunities across Greater 
Manchester – City Centre Salford; the Quays and Media City; and GM 
Western Gateway. RHS Garden Bridgewater- with the potential to 
become the largest visitor attraction in GM – is due to open in 2020. It 
is expected that these and other investment opportunities will 
continue to drive the economic and physical transformation of Salford.  
Over the next 5 years this growth is expected to exceed both the GM 
and national averages, creating an additional 15,000 jobs, an extra 
£2bn in GVA, and result in an additional 20,000 residents.

4.3 Despite this success Salford remains a city of contrasts. The city is 
ranked 18th in the Index of Multiple Deprivation, and over a quarter of 
the city is in the most deprived 10% nationally.  Areas of high 
deprivation continue to sit alongside areas of high population growth 
and declining deprivation.  

4.4 Life expectancy for men and women in Salford is 76.8 years and 81.0 
years respectively. For men this is the 12th lowest in the UK, and for 
women is the 18th lowest. Childhood obesity is increasing (23% in 
Year 6 in 2018) and despite recent improvements, around a fifth of 
children in Salford are growing up in poverty. Levels of disability and 
poor health are high in Salford. The proportion of people reporting 
‘day-to-day activities limited a lot’ is around a third higher than the 
national level. 

Page 170



Page 171



Figure 2: Salford in numbers 

4.5 The substantial work undertaken by the Council to attract business 
to the city has contributed to the proportion of people on benefits decreasing in 
recent years, and to a marked degree in certain parts 
of the city. In November 2012 there were 26,300 people on out of 
work benefits in Salford (16.8%) and in November 2016 the number receiving
out-of-work benefits was 18,800 (11.7%). However, although there has been a 
reduction of people on benefits, the changes to benefits and methods of 
assessment have meant an increasing number of disputed cases and requests 
for help directed at the Council. Universal Credit will be fully rolled out in 2018 
and evidence suggests that this is likely to increase the number of people in 
difficulty.

Page 172



4.6 Salford’s population has grown significantly in recent years. From 
2002 to 2018, the number of people living in the city increased 
from 216,100 to 254,400 – a growth of 17.7%. This is higher than 
the England rate of 12.7%, and the second highest rate of growth 
in Greater Manchester. The city’s population has grown across all 
areas, however, the highest growth has been concentrated in wards 
that adjoin the regional centre and in the immediate surrounding 
areas.  Our forecasts predict further growth in the adult population 
driven by development in this part of the city. 

4.7 Salford has a younger population than England as a whole. One in 
five of everyone living in Salford is aged under 16 (50,000 people), 
and half of everyone in Salford is under the age of 35. One in every 
15 is aged over-75 (16,000 people). Salford has a high proportion 
of younger adults, with around a third of the population aged 20-39 
years old compared to just over a quarter nationally. This age 
group has increased by 20,000 (31%) since 2002. This is much 
higher than the England and Greater Manchester proportion. 

4.8 The ONS predict that the number of people over 65 in Salford will 
increase from 36,096 in 2016 to 40,260 in 2025, an increase of 
11.5%.  Over the same time period, the total population aged 18-
64 predicted to have a learning disability in Salford is expected to 
rise by 3% (an increase of 121) from 3,956 to 4,077.  Learning 
disability is a major driver of Adult Social Care (ASC) costs, where 
requests for support have risen 18% over this time period.  Whilst 
demographic pressures are increasing, data also shows that Salford 
NHS is more likely to refer to ASC than the GM average.  With 
continuing uncertainty about sustainable ASC funding, it is 
imperative that the council and health partners continue to work 
together locally to meet ASC needs and challenges.

4.9 Salford has a rich and diverse community life. The city has well 
established Jewish and Yemeni communities and has attracted new 
and emerging communities from a wide range of backgrounds. In 
2011, 14.4% (33,400) of the city’s residents were from a BME 
background, compared to 5.5% in 2001. Numerous faiths in Salford 
have also increased notably in size. 

Page 173



Between 2001 and 2011, although the number of people ‘declining to answer 
the question’ or stating their faith as Christian decreased, in contrast the 
number of people describing their religion as Muslim, Other religion, No 
religion, Hindu, or Buddhist all increased by greater than 100% and at faster 
rates than seen across both Greater Manchester and England.

4.10 Notwithstanding this economic and population growth, Salford remains a city 
of contrasts, with some of the most prosperous and deprived wards in the 
country. With the Council's core funding from central government cut by 
53% since 2010, Salford has had to develop radical new ways of working 
with its partners, residents and vibrant voluntary and community sector to 
make the best use of the city’s collective resources.

4.11 Salford has embraced the need for concerted and collective action to ensure 
that local assets are properly recognised, cultivated and protected and also 
to ensure all our institutions come together to deliver the shared vision to 
create a ‘Better and Fairer Salford’ for all the city’s residents. The City Mayor 
has brought together partners to harness collective energy behind our eight 
strategic priorities.

4.12 The MTFS underpins the Councils financial planning to enable us to deliver 
against these priorities. We have already invested in innovative service 
changes to ensure we are making best use of our available resources to 
ensure we can provide the right services to meet the needs of our residents, 
within available resources.

Page 174



5. OUR CURRENT FINANCIAL 
CONTEXT  

5.1 The council’s budget is most often expressed in net revenue terms.  
Using the 2019/20 approved budget as a baseline, the net revenue 
budget is £205m. The approved gross budget of the council in 
2019/20 was £650.1m. Figure 3 illustrates the way in which income is 
used to support delivery of services across the council.

 
Figure 3: 2019/20- Approved Budget

Services Gross 
expend.

Less 
income

Net 
expend.

£m £m £m
People (Children's) 278.115 192.096 86.019
People (Adults) 82.948 19.174 63.774
Place 71.888 25.196 46.692
Service Reform 18.082 7.851 10.231
Public Health (funded from 100% BRRS) 20.805 0.308 20.497
Precepts and Charges 39.550 0.782 38.768
Capital Financing 38.718 2.638 36.080
Housing Benefits 124.688 123.455 1.233
Sub total 674.794 371.500 303.294
Funds, provisions, contingencies and non 
service specific grants.

12.728 53.142 -40.414

Reversal of depreciation charges -37.428 0.000 -37.428
Retained business rates - element funding 
Public Health grant

0.000 20.211 -20.211

Budget requirement 650.094 444.853 205.241

Approved budget 2019/20

5.2 By the end of 2019/20, the council will have made almost £211m of savings 
since 2010. This has been driven by a 53% reduction in the council’s core 
funding from central Government. At the core of this are reductions to the 
Revenue Support Grant, the primary source of funding for local government 
services, and other central grants. Figure 4 illustrates the current sources of 
income that funds council services.

Page 175



Figure 4: 2019/20 Approved budget - Sources of income

5.3 This income enables the council to deliver a range of functions. Whilst the level 
of funding for each service is agreed year on year, the proportions spent tends 
to be fairly consistent. Figure 5 shows the gross expenditure of each service 
based upon the approved budget 2019/20.

Figure 5: 2019/20 Approved budget - Gross expenditure budget 
by service 

People (Children's)

People (Adults)

Place

Service Reform

Public Health

Precepts and charges

Capital financing

Housing Benefits

Page 176



5.4 As local council’s elsewhere, Salford continues to face uncertainty in 
its financial assumptions and in particular acute problems in funding 
the increasing demands of both children’s and adult social care.  
Future pressures on the council’s financial planning are detailed in 
section 7.  By the end of 2019/20 the system will be carrying over 
£13m of pressures from our obligations to provide support for 
children and adults with support and care needs.  

5.5 We have invested successfully in new approaches to service delivery 
to ensure we can continue to meet the needs of our most vulnerable 
residents and those that most need our support.  However, we 
continue to face ongoing pressures in our budget. Uncertainty about 
the future funding arrangements for local government and continued 
short term funding announcements exacerbates the complexity of 
sustainable medium term financial planning. 

Page 177



6. REGIONAL, NATIONAL AND 
INTERNATIONAL CONEXT  

2019 Spending Review 

6.1 A detailed three year Spending Review expected in September 2019 did not 
materialise but was replaced by a one year Spending Round. The main 
elements of this were confirmed by the provisional spending settlement 
announced in December 2019 with final confirmation anticipated in February 
2020. The key features of the announcement included: 

 Inflationary increase in the Revenue Support Grant (RSG);
 Continuation of existing funding in the form of the Better Care Fund (BCF), 

winter pressures and social care grants;
 An increase of £2.9bn in core spending power including £1bn of “new” 

funding for social care, the ability for councils to increase council tax by 
1.99% and to raise a social care precept of 2%; 

 Additional funding for specific areas such as high needs; and 
 Extension of the Greater Manchester 100% business rates pilots for one 

year.

6.2 The announcements in the Spending Round were more favourable than our 
previous forecasts. Whilst the announcements will help to offset immediate 
pressures in the short term, and funding for social care is welcome, it is 
insufficient to reverse the years of reductions since 2010 and potential future 
reductions. The City Council will still need to make further changes to services if 
it is to deliver on the balanced three year forecasts set out in this MTFS. 

6.3 There remain a number of risks and uncertainties as a result of the Spending 
Round. Changes announced in the Spending Round have only been confirmed 
for one year – with no clear guide on funding beyond 2021. A one year 
settlement does not properly address the underlying financial issues around 
local government funding. 

  

Page 178



Fair Funding Review and reform of local government funding      

6.5 In July 2016, Government announced a fundamental review of how 
local government is funded. The stated aims of this Fair Funding 
Review were to design a fairer, more transparent and less complex 
methodology for the allocation of central government funding to local 
government. Alongside the Spending Round, the Government 
deferred longer-term reforms, including of business rates reset and 
retention and fairer funding (review of relative needs and resources), 
until 2021/22. 

6.6 Any changes to current funding arrangements will inevitably impact 
on the council’s budget. The continued lack of certainty for local 
government funding going forward creates greater uncertainty in the 
Council’s medium term financial planning.

Business Rates Retention

6.7 Greater Manchester was one of the first areas to pilot 100% Business 
Rates Retention. In return, GM local authorities have agreed to forego 
RSG and the Public Health Grant. These arrangements have been 
agreed on a ‘no detriment’ basis – i.e. that individual local authorities 
will be no worse off under retained business rates, than they would 
have been under direct grant from the government.

6.8 This arrangement has benefited Salford and all GM authorities, with 
receipts retained within GM rather than returned to government as a 
result of these arrangements. Locally, the financial benefit of these 
arrangements is shared between the GM Combined Authority and local 
councils. For Salford, this has meant that a minimum of £5m pa has 
been retained by the council. This funding has been crucial in helping 
us to offset the pressures faced within front line services. 

6.9 The government have confirmed they will extend the current GM pilot 
into 2020/21. However plans to introduce a national 75% retention 
scheme have been deferred. If implemented this would have a 
detrimental impact on Salford.

Page 179



Collaboration with GMCA

6.10 Collaboration across the ten areas of Greater Manchester, and with the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority is an increasingly important partnership for 
Salford. Together the ten councils, and our partners across the public, private 
and community and voluntary sector are working to secure the economic and 
social future of the region.

6.11 This partnership also delivers a number of financial benefits for Salford, and 
which help to deliver the approach set out in this MTFS. Specifically, additional 
benefit through our collective investment in Manchester Airport, an innovative 
approach to infrastructure investment through the GM Investment Fund and 
GM Housing Investment Fund, and cooperation on waste and transport, all 
benefit Salford. Where relevant the financial implications of these partnerships 
are reflected in the assumptions that underpin this MTFS. 

Climate Change

6.12 Our city faces urgent and significant challenges due to climate change - leading 
the City Council to declare a Climate Emergency in early 2019. Taking bold 
climate action now must be at the very heart of the work we do. It must be at 
the heart of our policies, plans and budget decisions. 

6.13 Salford is already doing many great things to deliver on Greater Manchester’s 
path to carbon neutrality by 2038.  We have made significant investment in 
energy efficient LED street lighting, renewable energy, sustainable drainage 
schemes, walking and cycling infrastructure, electric vehicles, and the 
retrofitting of social housing.  As a result of this investment we are already one 
of the most successful places in the country for reducing our carbon emissions, 
recognised by Friends of the Earth. 

6.14 We know we need to do much more and quickly. All of our decisions must have 
climate impact at their heart, and we need to ensure that we invest now in 
sustainable solutions for the future. 

Uncertain national funding 

New Homes Bonus

6.15 New Homes Bonus (NHB) was introduced in 2011/12 with the aim of 
increasing the number of available homes. NHB provided councils with a 
financial incentive to both build new homes and to bring empty homes 
back into use. Salford has benefited significantly from this scheme.  

Page 180



In 2017/18 Government introduced changes to the payment 
mechanisms within the scheme that have had a detrimental impact 
on the Council’s budget assumptions. Changes to minimum 
baselines for payments and to legacy periods have meant an 
estimated reduction in funding to Salford of approximately £26m 
between 2017/18 and 2021/22.

6.16 The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement confirmed 
that there will be an award of New Homes Bonus in 2020/21, 
however, this will not generate any legacy payments in future 
years. The Government has announced it will consult on the future 
of housing incentives in spring 2020, therefore, there is a risk that 
the removal of the scheme or significant changes to its operation 
would have an adverse impact upon the financial assumptions 
underpinning this Strategy. 

Adult Social Care

6.17 Adult social care is funded from a range of sources including Better 
Care Fund, Adult Social Care precept and a range of other social care 
grants determined as part of the local government finance settlement.

6.18 Since 2010, councils nationally have been faced with a £6 billion 
funding gap for adult social care, with further estimates that simply 
maintaining existing levels of service will mean a £3.5 billion funding 
gap by 2025. The LGA estimate that ASC spend when considered as a 
percentage of councils total budget has increased since 2010 - to 38% 
nationally.  However, joint working with our health partners on social 
care is also about ensuring an improved experience for our residents.  
Salford faces challenges in reducing the number of social care 
referrals and the number of people in residential care, and to improve 
the number receiving care at home – on all of these Salford under 
performs in comparison to GM averages.   

6.19 Locally, the Integrated Fund is designed to ensure that responsibility 
for planning and funding adult social care is not just the responsibility 
of the council – it is a responsibility the council shares with its 
partners.  Nevertheless, continued government underfunding, coupled 
with rising demand, and increasing costs for care, have combined to 
create significant pressures within the social care system.   

 

Page 181



 The impact on investment funding, and particularly the continuity (or 
replacement arrangements) for European Regional Development Funding 
(ERDF) and European Social Funds (ESF). Since 2010, Salford has benefited 
from these Funds, receiving £10.8bn of ERDF for strategic development and 
business support. 

 The Government has announced the Regional Prosperity Fund to replace 
European Funding and has consulted on how this would operate. Local 
government is waiting on clarity on how it will be formed, and whether it 
will be sufficient to replace any loss of European Funding in the future.  

 Ability to recruit key workers with the skills needed to provide high quality 
services to residents of the city. Risk assessments point to particular risks in 
the health and care sector. We are working with partners to do everything 
we can to retain clinical, professional and technical skills needed in the city.

 Our ability to maintain positive community relations and cohesion amongst 
the diverse communities that have made Salford home. It is critical that all 
our communities continue to feel welcome in Salford, and that we maintain 
the positive and inclusive culture that characterises our city.  

 Uncertainty in financial markets generally, with possible volatility in interest 
rates and inflation in particular. The Government has recently announced an 
increase in the cost of borrowing via the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), a 
traditional source of low cost long term capital funding for local government.  
This will increase the cost of future borrowing and adds to the uncertainty 
around financial markets generally. 

6.20 The 2019 Spending Round has announced a short term increase to funding – 
through increases to the ASC precept locally and grant funding nationally as 
well as the continuation of existing social care grant funding at current levels. 
The commitment is only for the period of the one year Spending Review, and 
does not provide a long term planning base. The Government have long 
promised a Green Paper on building a sustainable ASC system, including 
reviewing funding arrangements. The Green Paper has yet to be published 
creating uncertainty for local government and health partners in our financial 
planning.

Brexit

6.21 The UK officially left the EU on 31 January 2020. The impact on local 
government of leaving the EU remains unclear. There are a number of risks 
that must be worked through:

Page 182



7. RESOURCES AND FUTURE 
FINANCIAL ASSUMPTIONS

7.1 This MTFS is based on the national and local economic and funding 
context set out in earlier sections. Salford City Council, in line with 
other local authorities, continues to face reducing resources and 
increasing demand and costs. In this section we set out the funding 
assumptions 
that underpin our three year MTFS.  

7.2 While some additional funding is expected as a result of recent 
announcements, an increase in local taxation, and by one off 
adjustments, many of these are not guaranteed into the future.  There 
remains a degree of uncertainty surrounding the future of local 
government finance, which will remain a significant risk to any 
medium or long term financial plans. 

7.3 The council continues to face considerable pressures within areas of 
its core budget – including for example those for children’s social care.  
Should additional funding become available, the Council will need to 
consider whether to use funding to offset these pressures, the need to 
ensure delivery of the full range of the council’s responsibilities, and 
investment in new activity. The MTFS also assumes the full delivery of 
existing and previously agreed redesign, savings and investment 
plans.   

7.4 Over the three years of the MTFS, the Council must deliver further 
reductions totalling £20.3m. The assumptions set out in the MTFS, if 
achieved, would allow the Council to agree a balanced budget for both 
2020/21 and 2021/22 without the need for additional savings or 
reduction to services over and above those already assumed.  
However, savings of approximately £3.5m would continue to be 
required to meet the forecast gap in 2022/23.  

7.5 Critically, this approach depends on the management of funding and 
reserves over the three year period as a whole, and as set out in this 
MTFS. Should any of the assumptions set out in this Strategy change 
either as a result of Government policy changes or the delivery of 
planned reforms is delayed, the savings requirements in 2021/22 and 
2022/23 will be directly affected. 

Page 183



7.6 This prudent approach to our MTFS should ensure two years to fully consider 
and develop a cross-organisational approach to identifying opportunities to 
focus on core services, redesign functions wherever possible, and secure 
additional investment, in a way that continues to deliver the Council’s strategic 
priorities within the resources available. 

7.7 The specific impacts on the council’s financial assumptions and MTFS are set 
out on the next pages.

Local government funding

7.8 Previous financial assumptions, reported in February 2019, included continuing 
funding reductions, a business rate reset in 2020/21 and a 2.99% council tax 
rise.

7.9 The provisional Local Government Finance Settlement announced in December 
2019, confirmed much of the 2019 Spending Round and associated 
announcements and was generally more favourable than our assumptions and 
this has allowed an update to our forecasts. The final settlement confirmation 
is expected in late February 2020.  Changes in council tax are set out in the 
next section. Other key changes include:

 Business rates: Deferral of the business rates reset results in a non-
recurring benefit in 2020/21 however longer term estimates reflect the 
anticipated rates reset in 2021/22 which will have a detrimental impact 
upon the council’s financial position. As noted previously the potential 
movement from our current 100% retention pilot to 75% retention will also 
adversely affect the council’s financial position.

 Revenue Support Grant: we have traditionally forecast continuing and 
ongoing reductions to the RSG allocation, based on previous trends. The 
Spending Round and provisional financial settlement, however, announced 
a 1.7% CPI inflation increase, resulting in a funding increase in 2020/21 of 
£0.3m. For the purposes of this strategy it is assumed that no further 
significant reductions will be made to RSG levels. 

Page 184



 New Homes Bonus:  we had previously assumed the loss of NHB 
in 2020/21.  The provisional financial settlement confirmed grant 
would continue for an additional year without generating future 
legacy payments. Government have confirmed their intention to 
review and potentially replace the NHB scheme, and it is unlikely 
to continue in its current form beyond 2023/24.  For the purposes 
of this strategy it is assumed that legacy payments generated by 
payments up to 2019/20 will continue to be made. 

 Social care grant: the Spending Round announced £1bn additional 
monies for social care in 2020/21, on a non-recurring basis, with 
Salford receiving £5.9m.  In the first instance the funds will be 
used to meet existing budget pressures highlighted both within 
this document and the annual revenue budget report. 
Opportunities to invest in other priorities will be explored with 
health partners.

Council tax and precepts

7.10 Our Council Tax assumptions reflect a steadily increasing tax base, 
and the levying of an increase in each year of the MTFS reflecting the 
financial modelling underpinning the government’s spending round 
announcements. By building increases into our local tax base in this 
way we are increasing the Council’s resilience against future 
uncertainties.   

7.11 Any monies raised through the Adult Social Care precept will be 
invested in social care, reflecting the financial pressures affecting 
these services and continuing inflationary pressures for example the 
cost of national living wage increases within social care contracts.

7.12 On an annual basis the government confirms its core spending power 
calculations (including council tax increases) and referendum 
principles. Initial 2020/21 estimates were based on an assumption of a 
2.99% increase in core council tax, with no additional ASC precept. 
Our revised assumption is based on a 1.99% increase to council tax, 
with a 2% ASC precept, or 3.99% in total. This results in an additional 
£1.2m available in 2020/21 compared to the original estimate. The 
MTFS will be updated on an annual basis reflecting any changes in 
core spending power assumptions and referendum principles.  

Page 185



Joint working with the CCG

7.13 In April 2019, Salford City Council and Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning 
Group (SCCG) created the Salford Integrated Fund. This has been created by 
pooling or aligning the majority of funding for children’s, adults, public health 
and primary care functions, creating a fully integrated fund for health and care 
across the city. The Fund is supported on a formal legal framework, s75 and 
risk share agreement, creating a combined net budget of approx. £600m.   

7.14 The Fund has been created specifically to support the development and 
delivery of an integrated system to support improved outcomes in the health 
and wellbeing of all Salford’s residents. It builds on our previous partnership 
and experience of managing a pooled budget for adult services. 

7.15 The Integrated Fund for 2019/20 is £604m, made up of £162m from SCC and 
£442m from SCCG. The Fund also incorporates Better Care Funding. The risk 
agreement which underpins the Integrated Fund limits the transfer of any over 
or under spend between the partners, to a defined limit, determined by the 
proportion in which they contribute to the Fund. This means that 21% and 
68% of financial benefits and risks will fall to SCC for adults and for children’s 
respectively.  79%, 32% and 100% of the financial benefits and risks for 
adults, for children’s and primary care respectively will fall to Salford CCG.  

7.16 The table at Figure 6 reflects the original partnership agreement however 
partner contributions are agreed on an annual basis and so will be subject to 
amendment. 

Figure 6: Extract from 19/20 Partnership Agreement -Integrated 
Fund funding 2019/20-2022/23

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
 CCG SCC Total CCG SCC Total CCG SCC Total CCG SCC Total
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Baseline 
Funding 442.3 161.4 603.7 442.3 162.0 604.3 454.3 158.7 613.0 467.6 155.1 622.7
QIPP/Savings 0.0 -3.2 -3.2 0.0 -4.6 -4.6 0.0 -4.4 -4.4 0.0 -4.4 -4.4
Other 
Funding 
Changes 0.0 3.8 3.8 12.0 1.3 13.3 13.3 0.8 14.1 13.1 0.8 13.9
Total 442.3 162.0 604.3 454.3 158.7 613.0 467.6 155.1 622.7 480.7 151.5 632.2

Page 186



Short term funding opportunities

7.17 A number of short term, non-recurrent funds are forecast to be 
available during the three years of the MTFS. This includes 
reimbursement from the GM Combined Authority of funds from 
business rate growth (via the GM 100% Business Rate Retention 
pool), and the GM Waste Levy. These funds will be used to bridge 
the council’s funding gap, thus benefiting all services, rather than 
invested in specific service activities. 

Reserves Strategy

7.18 Reserves are a vital tool in financial management and are one of the 
mechanisms for managing financial risk and supporting longer term 
budget strategies and investment.  A healthy level of reserves is a 
key component of the council’s financial sustainability and resilience. 
A reduction in the level of reserves can be seen as a potential 
indication of future financial instability. 

7.19 The council will maintain its general fund reserves at a prudent level 
to ensure financial resilience. It will also maintain earmarked 
reserves at a prudent level to ensure satisfactory coverage of the 
risks that they are intended to provide for. These are reviewed as 
part of our annual budget strategy to ensure balances are being held 
at an appropriate level. As part of the annual budget process a risk 
rated approach will be applied to the level of reserves. As at 1 April 
2019 the level of general fund reserves is £13.2m with an acceptable 
range being between £12.7m (minimum) and £18.8m (desirable). 
For the three years covered by this MTFS, it is anticipated that the 
level of general reserves will remain no lower than the April 2019 
level.

Page 187



7.20 A review of earmarked reserves has indicated the possibility of using some 
funds to support the council’s general budget position in recent years. These 
will continue to be reviewed throughout the MTFS with any surplus funds used 
to support the council’s general fund. 

7.21 The one year timeframe of the 2019 Spending Review and Local Government 
Finance Settlement, and the postponement of announcement on business 
rates reset, fair funding, and the future of the 100% business rates pilot, 
means that there are significant risks around the forecasts for the second and 
third years of the MTFS. The MTFS also assumes that the fair funding review 
for local government will not produce significant changes in resources and that 
there will be sensible transition arrangements for any changes.  

7.22 These can be covered through the prudent management of reserve levels, 
over the three years covered by the strategy. As a general rule, there will be 
no depletion of overall reserve levels without first identifying how they would 
be restored within the three year MTFS. In addition, the level of reserves will 
fluctuate to reflect the risks that the council faces. 

7.23 This means that levels of reserves could be volatile over the three year period 
covered by the MTFS as priority is given to smoothing the council’s financial 
position.

Page 188



8. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 

8.1 Sustainable and inclusive economic growth continues to be a key 
priority for the city, creating economic, social and cultural 
opportunities for our residents.  The ability to influence and achieve 
economic growth in the city defines the council’s priorities for capital 
investment. 

8.2 In 2020/21, a capital programme of £115.789m will support 
investment across the city in key facilities and infrastructure. The 
capital programme is supported by a mix of funding sources. 
Collaboration across Greater Manchester, also brings new 
opportunities for investment, which the city will maximise – such as 
the GM Investment Fund, Northern Powerhouse Investment Fund, 
and GM Housing Investment Fund.  

8.3

Over the next five years, based on the current development 
pipeline, it’s anticipated that £4 billion private sector investment into 
Salford and will deliver 18,000 new houses and new employment floor 
space. This will mean an extra 20,000 residents living in the city, over £2 
billion GVA growth, and an additional 15,000 jobs. The strategic growth 
and development opportunities around the Quays, the Western Gateway 
and City Centre Salford are the focus for capital investment. These 
opportunities are expected to deliver 40,000 new homes and 40,000 new 
jobs by 2040.

8.4 Other major developments underway or planned will also have a 
significant long term impact on the city. Projects such as MediaCity UK, 
Port Salford, New Bailey, Middlewood, Greengate, RHS Bridgewater, and 
new opportunities such as the Salford Crescent and University Masterplan.

Government Grants
Other external sources
invest to save
new commitments

Figure 7: Capital programme by income source

Page 189



Regeneration
Housing strategy
Environment
Leisure
Housing regulatory services
Planning & low carbon
Property
Highways
Social Care

Figure 8: 2020/21 Capital Programme

8.5 Investment in the city’s growth, and the key capital programmes that deliver 
this, in turn generates significant amounts of income to the council – income 
that supports vital services. Over the next decade, it’s anticipated that 
investment in the city’s growth will contribute significant increases in council 
tax and in business rates, funding that will be crucial to support ongoing 
delivery of critical services in the city.

8.6 For 2020/21 a capital programme of £115.789m is anticipated, based on 
available capital income. This programme will support critical schemes across 
the city.  The exact size and make-up of the capital programme is reviewed 
annually, and proportions invested on particular schemes will change to reflect 
those decisions. In 2020/21 the proportion of capital investment in critical 
schemes is illustrated below. 

8.7 Looking ahead, capital expenditure for the remainder of the MTFS has been 
anticipated by service areas. The council has made no commitment to new 
schemes at this stage. We are strengthening our capital approval processes 
and the development of more robust business cases to support capital 
investment.  Future years’ capital investment will be reviewed on an ongoing 
basis, and subject to an understanding of the availability of capital grant 
funding, investment funds, and borrowing implications. The Capital 
Programme will be agreed annually as part of the budget setting process 
however it is assumed, for the purposes of estimating revenue implications, 
that a maximum of £20m will be borrowed to fund non-invest to save schemes 
and that capital receipts will be used to reduce the level of debt incurred in 
previous years. 

8.8 The council’s approach to managing the capital programme is set out 
within the capital strategy included within the annual budget report.

Page 190



9. SERVICE REDESIGN AND REFORM 

9.1 Local Government has embraced the need for change. Services have 
been transformed to ensure they continue to meet the needs of 
residents and increasing demands of a growing population. As 
traditional sources of funding continue to reduce, we are continuing to 
invest in the redesign of our services – to ensure we can continue to 
provide high quality services to our residents. 

9.2 The MTFS relies on the continued delivery of our programme of 
service redesign, reform and transformation if we are to achieve a 
sustainable financial position in the medium to longer term. All areas 
of the council are affected by this programme of change. There are 
though a number of critical programmes that must be delivered if we 
are to achieve the financial forecasts set out in this plan. Specifically:

A. People 

(i) Integrated Fund for Health and Care, and joint working with 
Salford NHS Clinical Commissioning Group

9.3 The Integrated system for adult social care is reporting pressures in excess 
of £6m pa. Until 2018/19 these pressures had been absorbed by the Fund 
and health partners.  However, in 2019/20 the proportion of the overall 
pressure charged to the integrated fund will be met by the partners under 
the risk share agreement which means that the Council will need to meet 
21% of any pressure that could not be managed within the pool.  

9.4 From 2019/20, the city council’s children’s services budgets have also now 
been included within the Integrated Fund, and are reporting pressures in 
excess of £7m. Under the risk share for the children’s element of the pool, 
the Council would be required to meet 68% of any pressure that could not 
be met within the pool. An invest-to-save Best Value programme has been 
agreed to tackle these pressures, and is set out below. 

 Innovation funding for implementation of No Wrong Door which is a 
nationally recognised innovation to reduce the need for young people to 
come into care and to provide them with stability in the right placement 
if they are in care. This will reduce the pressure on out of borough 
placement needs over the next two years.

Page 191



 Innovation funding to implement a successful model that reduces the need 
for young people with SEND to be placed away from home which will assist 
with the budget pressures for high cost placements.

 Develop a more extensive offer for families experiencing domestic abuse.

9.5 The Council and CCG have both agreed to invest additional funds into the 
Integrated Fund to maximise investment in innovation and services that will 
best meet the needs of our residents as well as to manage the ongoing 
financial pressures in these areas.  The Council will invest its Social Care Grant 
announced as part of the Spending Round, whilst the CCG will also provide 
additional investment from its improved funding allocation.

9.6 The development of the Integrated Fund creates greater opportunity to deliver 
integrated services, ensuring residents see the right person, at the right time, 
with the right skills. It also provides an opportunity to realise savings over the 
next two years due to more evidence based innovations being implemented. 
However, both organisations continue to face financial pressures and 
increased demand for services. Both organisations are required to continue to 
deliver plans to address these pressures and address underlying overspends.

9.7 Savings assumptions of £1.8m pa for Children’s, £1.7m pa for Adults, and 
£0.9m pa for Public Health are already built into the Council’s financial 
forecasts for each of the next three years of the Integrated Fund. These 
assumptions underpin the MTFS. Commissioning Plans are being developed to 
show how these savings will be achieved. The MTFS assumes these savings 
will be fully achieved as profiled, with no further draw on the council in terms 
of its obligations under the risk share agreement. If these savings are not met 
as forecast this will present a risk to the forecasts within the MTFS and will 
present a further draw on the council’s financial resources. 

(ii) Dedicated Schools Grant

9.8 The Council manages £28m (net of academies’ funding) in High Needs Block 
DSG in 2019/20, and decisions on its use are made in partnership with the 
Schools Forum. The high needs funding system supports children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND) from their early 
years to age 25, enabling the council and providers to meet their statutory 
duties under the Children and Families Act 2014. High needs funding is also 
used to support good quality Alternative Provision for pre-16 pupils who 
cannot receive education in schools.

9.9 Salford uses the high needs budget to provide the most appropriate support 
package and setting for an individual with SEND, taking account of parental 
and student choice. The Children and Families Act 2014 extended local 
authorities’ statutory duties relating to SEND to include 19 to 25 year olds, 
for which no additional funding was provided by central government.

Page 192



Currently, approximately 2000 individuals in Salford are supported by 
high needs funding via Education Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) or 
exceptional situations. This is 3.4% of children in Salford (the 
national average is 2.9%).  The number of children in the city with 
EHCPs has risen by over 50% since 2016 and is project to increase 
further over the next few years.  In Salford, a further 16% of 
children receive SEN support provided locally by school budgets. This 
is above the national average of 12%.

9.10 As a result of the increasing need and population in the city; the 
rising cost of individual provision; changes to national policy and 
requirements on councils to provide support; and restrictions on the 
use of school budgets introduced in 2018, High Needs DSG funding 
is under increasing pressure. In 2019/20, a budget deficit of £5.3m is 
forecast on DSG which will be added to the cumulative deficit. 
Salford’s position is reflected nationally, and there are growing 
concerns about the funding position within the High Needs block of 
DSG. No long term solution has emerged.

9.11 Salford, in common with all local authorities that have a cumulative 
DSG deficit of 1% or more at the end of a financial year, was 
required to submit a recovery plan to the DfE by 30 June outlining 
how they will bring their deficit back into balance over an agreed 
time frame. Salford has submitted a recovery plan, which if 
implemented would begin to reduce the deficit from 2022/23 
onwards.  We are currently in discussion with the DfE about the 
recovery plan, which will be reviewed in light of the additional DSG 
funding announced in the 2019 spending review. This included an 
increase in the National High Needs block allocation of £780m in 
2020/21. 

9.12 The DfE are also consulting on proposals to eliminate the need for 
local authorities to use other sources of funding to make up any 
deficit on the DSG. The government has announced one off 
additional funding for the high needs block for 2019/20. This will 
ease the budget pressure by £3m.  90% of this budget is linked to 
packages of support for children and young people and significant 
pressure will remain. 

9.13 The MTFS assumes delivery of this recovery plan and that there will 
be no additional demand on local authorities to fund the pressures 
within DSG. The absence of a long term solution to the pressures 
within High Needs DSG remains a risk to the council’s MTFS.

Page 193



(iii) Addressing current pressures and overspends within the People 
budget

9.14 Salford City Council continues to face unprecedented growth in demand for 
vital services to support children, young people and families, against a 
background of national policy changes, increasing populations and continued 
pressure on resources.

9.15 As a result we are managing significant pressures in the People Group budget, 
specifically in those budgets for Children’s Services. In 2018/19 the council 
allocated an additional £4.5m to Children’s Services to assist with budget 
pressures, however, significant pressures remain mainly within the looked 
after children area of the budget. 

9.16 Notwithstanding this additional investment, the council continues to forecast a 
further pressure of £7m in 2019/20. This pressure arises within services that 
are included in the baseline for the Integrated Fund and a comprehensive 0-
25 ‘Best Value Programme’ has been developed in order to address them. It is 
the responsibility of the council, working with the CCG, to manage this 
pressure and to bring spend within Children’s service back within the budget 
limits set.  

9.17 The programme is supported by up to £4m Transformation Funding and 
investment from Salford CCG in the redesign of Children’ Services, enabling a 
continuing focus on outcomes, whilst addressing the need to tackle underlying 
structural pressures within the budget. The programme involves delivery of 
seven critical programmes, including (but not limited to):

 No Wrong Door
 Transforming Care in Salford (or the Ealing Model)
 Special Educational Needs (SEND)
 Achieving Change Together
 Domestic Abuse and Trauma Informed Response to Adversity
 Mental Health
 Speech and Language Therapy

9.18 In finance terms, these programmes aim to reduce costs on young people 
placements through cost avoidance for the existing cohort of young people 
plus containment of future growth. Any residual pressure in the Integrated 
Fund not fully addressed by the measures outlined above will be shared 
between the CCG and SCC.

Page 194



 9.19 The MTFS assumes that the Council will retain the Social Care 
Supplementary Grant to meet its portion of the risk share. If the 
grant is insufficient to meet the council’s obligations this will 
represent an additional risk to the forecasts within the MTFS.

B. Place

(i) Successful reintegration of Urban Vision services and 
functions

9.20 The council from February 2020 once again directly provides technical 
services (regulatory services, such as development and building 
control; property services; highways engineering and network 
management; and construction services).  

9.21 Until January 2020, these functions were provided by Urban Vision, a 
Joint Venture Partnership between Salford City Council, Capita and 
Galliford Try. These functions were delivered through almost £30m of 
funding, £24m of which comes from the council, £5m from external 
clients. The services were delivered by 300 staff, with city council staff 
seconded into the partnership. These functions, staff, and budgets 
have now been brought back under the direct control, management 
and delivery of the city council from February 2020.The priority for the 
council is to ensure the continued delivery of these functions and the 
safe integration of functions into the city council’s democratic and 
management governance arrangements.  

9.22 A saving of £2.03m has been assumed for 2020/21, with £1.23m 
relating to the council’s revenue budget and the remainder from the 
capital programme. This reflects a reduction in the management fee 
previously paid under the JV partnership arrangements. At this stage, 
no further financial assumptions have been made for future years. The 
council will though continue to consider the efficiency of these services 
once they are re-integrated into the organisation ensuring value for 
money, efficiency and effectiveness.  

9.23 The MTFS assumes this saving will be fully delivered in 2020/21. If the 
saving is not delivered in full this will represent an additional risk to 
the forecasts within the MTFS. 

Page 195



C. Service Reform

(i) Continued improvement in local taxation collection rates

9.24 A sustainable financial future for the Council will depend on our collection of 
local taxation – both council tax and business rates.  We are committed to 
doing this in a socially just, fair and responsible way. These principles have 
underpinned a fundamental review and redesign of our collection functions 
over the past two years.  

This redesign and our new approach has already contributed significantly to 
improved in-year collection rates – from 90.89% in 2016/17 to 92.17%  in 
2018/19 for council tax, and from 92.70% in 2016/17 to 95.67% in 2018/19 
for business 
rates.  

9.25 For 2019/20 our core budget is based on a 0.5% increase in Council Tax and 
Business Rates collection, equating to annual amount of £1m.  At this stage no 
further financial assumptions have been built into our MTFS as a result of 
improvements in collection.  As the changing practices are embedded and 
proven, this will be reviewed.

9.26 The MTFS assumes these forecasts will be fully achieved as planned so as to 
provide a reliable core budget. Collection rates lower than those forecast will 
represent an additional risk to the forecasts within the MTFS. 

(ii) Transformation of transactional functions 

9.27 The council is exploring the use of Artificial Intelligence, Robotics and machine 
learning as a way of increasing the efficiency and effectiveness of our 
transactional functions – starting with customer contact, taxation collection, 
human resources, and finance. This will ensure that some of our more straight 
forward processes are automated wherever possible – providing a quicker, 
easier and better level of service to the public, business and our own staff.   
The priority is very much improving the level of service we provide.

 

Page 196



9.28 No financial savings have been assumed from this work. Instead we 
are re-investing any efficiencies in the capacity and abilities of the 
staff working in those areas to better meet the needs of our 
residents who might require additional assistance or to focus on the 
more complex range of transactions and processes. For example, 
we are using robotic process automation, enabled by machine 
learning, to manage the registration of new residential and 
commercial properties across the city – automatically creating 
addresses, raising council tax or business rate charges, and alerting 
trading standards and building inspectors. 

9.29 These reforms are at the centre of creating a more resident 
focussed, efficient and effective customer service ethos at the core 
of the council.  Whilst no savings have been specifically assumed 
within the MTFS, failure to deliver the service changes will mean 
resources continue to be invested in transactional functions rather 
than directly supporting residents who most need support. This 
may potentially impact on the ability to realise collection targets 
and in turn present a risk to the assumptions underpinning the 
MTFS. 

Page 197



10. FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS – SUMMARY 

10.1 The assumptions outlined in the previous sections of this MTFS provide the 
basis for a three year budget projection, which is set out in the table below. 

Figure 9: Balancing the budget - three year working 
assumptions

Page 198



10.2 Whilst the strategy indicates a balanced position for 2020/21 and 
2021/22 and a savings target of £3.5m in 2022/23 it is important 
to recognise that the forecast is sensitive to assumptions made 
and to some significant risks and uncertainties, particularly the 
further we get into the later years of the forecast. The forecast 
and assumptions on which it is based, will be regularly reviewed.  
It is likely that the working forecast will change, possibly quite 
dramatically, over time.  

10.3 Assumptions on which the forecast is based are made on the best 
available information. However, key risks outside the control of 
SCC include:

• that the impact of the fair funding review and/or business rates 
reset in 2021/22 will differ substantially from the assumptions 
made; and 

• that Brexit or other macro-economic factors have an impact on 
council costs (for example borrowing rates, pay awards, 
inflation)

10.4 In addition, there are risks and uncertainties in relation to needs 
and demand, service performance and budgets, particularly in 
social care. Risks and mitigating actions that affect this MTFS are 
set in section 13.

Page 199



11. GOVERNANCE  

11.1 The council has a strong system of financial controls and procedures. Finance 
Regulations are embedded in the council’s constitution and apply to all elected 
members and officers of the council. As part of our commitment to being a 
transparent and effective organisation, we are committed to bringing together 
our financial performance, with our performance against each of our strategic 
priorities. This will give us a rounded and comprehensive view of how we are 
using our resources to deliver outcomes for our residents.

11.2 Financial reporting will be integrated with performance reporting, so as to 
ensure alignment with the council’s core existing decision making and scrutiny 
arrangements. Governance will be exercised primarily through Lead Members, 
with monthly financial monitoring.

11.3 Lead Members will be accountable to the City Mayor for financial performance 
through our already established quarterly performance meetings. This will align 
management of the budget with progress on key priorities and financial risk will 
be considered alongside service risks. 

11.4 Cabinet will be updated on corporate financial performance quarterly, as part of 
the council’s performance and risk reporting arrangements. 

11.5 By mainstreaming financial accountability in this way the council is committed 
to strengthening our commitment to the City Mayor’s priority to create an 
effective and transparent organisation. 

Page 200



Figure 10: Governance arrangements

2019/20 Service Group Business Plans: aligned to the great 8, 
Service Group Business Plans identify their key actions, 

performance measures and risks and are approved by Leadership 
Teams and Lead Member(s)

Service Group Quarterly Performance Reports (July, October, 
January, April): Service Groups provide quarterly updates on 
business actions, performance measures and risks. Strategic 

Directors receive a Service Group Performance Report to discuss 
with their Leadership Team and Lead Members. A quarterly 
update on all strategic risks is also presented at Audit and 

Accounts Committee

Performance Overview to CMT (November, June): A Priority 
Progress Report is presented to CMT every 6 months, which 

includes performance highlights and exceptions from Service Group 
performance reports

Service Group Mayoral performance meetings (November, 
June): Each Strategic Director and Lead Member attend sixth 
monthly performance discussions with the City Mayor and Chief 
Executive.  These discussions include performance highlights and 

exceptions, HR and budget information

Performance Overview to Cabinet (November, June): 
Following discussions with CMT and City Mayor, a half-year and 

end of year overview of performance is presented at Cabinet 
Briefing.  This reports on performance of council services aligned 

to each of the Great Eight priorities.

Page 201



12. LINKS TO OTHER STRATEGIES  

12.1 The MTFS sets out how medium term financial planning will help the Council 
to continue to invest in priority services and to deliver its objectives through 
the effective management of the resources available. The Strategy also sets 
out the critical planning assumptions that ensure the council can continue to 
be sustainable. There is a degree of uncertainty and risk underpinning these 
assumptions, and this increases as we plan into the future. The strategy 
allows for flexibility to ensure the council is able to continue to manage the 
risks of uncertain funding, growing costs and increasing demands for its 
services. 

12.2 The MTFS forms a core part of the council’s Financial and Policy Framework, 
and is supported by a number of related plans and financial strategies.

Annual Budget Report

12.3 The council is legally required by the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to 
deliver a balanced budget each year. The Annual Budget Report sets out how 
the Council will manage its available income to deliver against its priorities, 
and sets out any significant changes to services as a result. The report sets 
out specific proposals for each year’s revenue budget and council tax, Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA) budget, capital programme and prudential borrowing 
limits.  

The Annual Budget Report is considered by the Full Council in February each 
year, alongside the MTFS and Treasury Management Strategy. 

Treasury Management Strategy

12.4 The Treasury Management Strategy sets out the expected treasury operations 
on an annual basis and is reported to Full Council in February of each year, 
together with the Annual Budget Report and MTFS. The TMS sets out how the 
council will meet its key legislative requirements that govern good financial 
management. 

Page 202



Page 203



 How the council will manage its borrowing and investment plans 
in light of forecast interest rates, and identifies the limits on any 
activity through treasury prudential indicators.

 The reporting of prudential indicators for capital, external debt 
and any treasury management prudential indicators required 
under the Local Government Act 2003, CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice and CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance. 

 The Council’s cash investment strategy, relating to the 
investment of short term cash surpluses. Longer term capital 
investments are set out in the Council’s Capital Programme. 
Criteria set out are in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Guidance on 
Local Government Investments. 

 The Council’s Minimum Revenue Position (MPR) Policy setting 
out the principles to be adopted for setting aside resources for 
the repayment of debt as required by the Local Authorities 
(Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations. 

Capital Strategy and Capital Programme

12.5 The Capital Strategy is set out in section 3 of the Annual Budget 
Report and is considered by Full Council in February each year. The 
Strategy sets out the framework for the management of capital 
finance, taking into account: capital expenditure and investment 
plans; debt and borrowing, and treasury management; commercial 
activity; other long term liabilities; and knowledge and skills. The 
Strategy follows the framework established by the Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities issued by CIPFA, and updated in 
2017.

12.6 The strategy sets out the size of the council’s Capital Programme, the 
way in which it will be funded, and identifies priorities for investment 
that will be funded through the programme. 

Asset Management Plan

12.7 The Asset Management Plan sets out the use and management of the 
Council’s assets now and into the future. The Plan plays a critical role in 
supporting delivery of the city’s and council’s priorities. Good management 

Page 204



of our physical assets supports and shapes the quality of life, health and 
wellbeing of local people and businesses in the city. 

Page 205



13. RISKS  

13.1 Monitoring of the council’s budget strategy and MTFS assumptions 
will be fully integrated in our corporate risk register.  The risks 
specific to the MTFS are outlined below.

Risk Mitigation

Likelihood 

Im
pact

Score 

Change to national and local economic 
outlook – impact on business rates 
income

Continue with proactive approach to investment 
and development

3 3 9

Local Government Finance Settlement 
does not reflect assumptions made 
based on Spending Round

Work with GMCA to lobby for a fair share of 
resources to Salford and other GM authorities and 
that reflect our needs.

3 5 15

Fair funding Review is delayed or 
outcomes disadvantage Salford

Work with GMCA to lobby for a fair share of 
resources to Salford and other GM authorities and 
that reflect our needs.

4 5 20

100% BRR does not direct a fair share 
of resources to Salford

Lobby within GMCA to ensure a fair return to 
Salford that reflects the city’s growth.

3 5 15

Changes to 100% BRR does not allow 
benefits of growth to be fully retained 
in Salford

Lobby to ensure future scheme enables Salford to 
retain full benefit of its local growth.

4 5 20

Volume of demand and demographic 
changes exceeds those anticipated in 
MTFS assumptions – adults and 
children’s

Integrated working with the CCG and with health 
partners is integral to managing future demand 
for adults and children’s services.  The MTFS 
includes provision to meet our commitments.  This 
is an area that will require careful and regular 
monitoring. 

4 5 20

Planned savings are not delivered in 
line with MTFS assumptions

Delivery of savings is an integral part of the 
Councils performance and financial monitoring 
arrangements. Corrective actions will be taken as 
necessary.

3 4 12

Change to economic outlook impacts on 
collection rates

The MTFS is based on realistic collection 
assumptions and targets. Achievement of targets 
will be carefully monitored. 

3 3 9

Bank of England interest rate rises Some provision has been made within Reserves. 5 2 10

RPI increases beyond those forecast, 
increasing costs

Rates will continue to be monitored. 5 2 10

Borrowing costs increase beyond those 
in the MTFS

Some provision has been made within Reserves. 5 2 10

Page 206



1

Part 1 - Open to the Public ITEM NO.

REPORT OF COUNCILLOR WILLIAM HINDS, 
LEAD MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND SUPPORT SERVICES

TO 
COUNCIL

ON 
26 February 2020

TITLE:  Review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21

RECOMMENDATIONS:

That Council:

1. Notes the outcome of the consultation on proposed revisions to the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme, which ran from 18 October 2019 to 20 December 2019 

2. Agree that the council’s Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme is amended from 1 
April 2020 to include the following: 

 the minimum our lowest income working age households have to pay is 12% 
of their total council tax liability: and 

 the introduction of a new de-minimis rule so that entitlement will only be adjusted if 
the new entitlement is £2 per week more or less than the previous entitlement

3. Commend the revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme to Council. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:

As a billing authority, Salford City Council is required to have a Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme (CTRS) which provides a council tax discount to residents it 
considers to be in financial need. Each year, the council must consider whether to 
change its scheme for working age claimants and consult residents on any proposed 
changes prior to implementation. 

In summer 2019, the council undertook a comprehensive review of its CTRS and 
modelled several options for revising Salford’s scheme. Cabinet considered these 
options on 8 October 2019 and agreed that two options be subject to consultation 
prior to potential implementation. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 7



2

This consultation took place from 18 October 2019 to 20 December 2019. Following 
analysis of the consultation results, which is considered below, it is proposed that the 
council introduces the following changes.

 Increase CTRS support to a maximum of 88% from 85%, so that the minimum 
our lowest income working age households have to pay is 12% of their total 
council tax liability, instead of 15%

 To reduce the frequency that a household may receive revised bills, introduce 
a new de-minimis rule so that in the event of a change in a households 
income or personal allowance, if the adjustment in entitlement is £2 per week 
(more or less), the entitlement will remain unchanged.  

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:

 Salford City Council – Council Tax Reduction Scheme Policy – 2019/20

 The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 
2012

KEY DECISION: Yes

DETAILS:

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council has been operating a localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(CTRS) in accordance with section 13A and Schedule 1A of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (amended) since 1 April 2013. 

1.2 The CTRS provides crucial help for residents on low incomes to pay their 
council tax bills. Under the current scheme, the council provides a discount to 
eligible working age households of up to 85% of their council tax bill. Recipients 
who have income at or below the applicable amount are entitled to the 
maximum reduction available and are only expected to pay 15%. Recipients 
with income above their applicable amount will receive a reduction up to the 
maximum 85% - so may be expected to pay more than 15% of their bill. 

1.3 The budget for the CTRS has to fund the entitlements of both pensioners and 
working age low income households. Pensioner entitlements are more 
generous and are determined under a scheme provided by central government, 
which the council cannot change. Pensioner households can receive a 
reduction of up to 100% of their bill. The council has a duty to provide a scheme 
for low income working age households only, within the budget available 
covering both pensioner and working age household schemes.  

Page 208

https://www.salford.gov.uk/media/393605/ctr-scheme.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2886/contents/made


3

1.4 The CTRS covers the whole council tax charge including GM precepts.  
Consequently any decisions made concerning the scheme impact upon both 
the council and the other preceptors – police, fire and GM mayoral services.   
The amounts included within the report reflect the overall cost of the scheme 
however the council’s proportion of this is estimated to be 84.6% for 2020/21.

1.5 Despite the council’s on-going financial challenges and budget reductions, the 
CTRS has remained the same for the past five years, which is already a 
considerable achievement; particularly as many local authorities continue to cut 
their schemes to make financial savings. 

1.6 The council is legally required to review its scheme each year and consult with 
residents on any proposed changes. As part of the on-going work under the 
city’s anti-poverty strategy (No One Left Behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford), 
the CTRS has been thoroughly reviewed to: 

 Analyse its current performance, understanding current spending patterns, 
and the profile of people accessing the scheme.

 Identify options for an alternative CTRS in 2020/21, with analysis of the 
financial and social impact of any changes.

1.7 The broad aims and objectives of the review were to:

 Find ways to better deploy the total available spending on the CTRS to 
benefit low income working age households, without significantly increasing 
the overall cost of the scheme to the council.

 Simplify the CTRS from a claimant perspective by reducing the levels of 
avoidable contact and creating stability for claimants by reducing the number 
of bills they receive in a year.

 Reduce the administrative costs of the CTRS to mitigate the reduced funding 
available from central government to administer the scheme. 

 Consider the impacts of the full roll out of Universal Credit (UC) on the CTRS 
that began in Salford from September 2018.

 Support the wider aims of Salford’s Tackling Poverty Strategy and Locality 
Plan to consider the impact of the CTRS on poverty and health and ensure 
actions to mitigate its effects are given priority when making decisions.

2. Salford’s current Council Tax Reduction Scheme

2.1 The current CTRS is largely based on the default scheme (also called the 
prescribed scheme) set out in The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default 
Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012. It provides for a maximum award of up 
to 85% of the council tax bill, with recipients of the maximum award having to 
pay the remaining 15% of their bill. Recipients of less than the maximum award 
pay upwards of 15% of their bill (subject to some other factors that may affect 
the level of the award in certain circumstances). 

2.2 Salford’s localised scheme was last revised in 2015/16, when the amount of tax 
payable by working age claimants was increased from 12% to 15%.The table 

Page 209



4

below provides detail of the value of awards since 2013 and reflects the full 
council tax charge including police, fire and mayoral precepts.

Year
CTR 
(%)

Working 
Age 

Claims

Working 
Age 

scheme 
cost (£m)

Pensioner 
Claim

Pensioner 
Scheme 
cost (£m)

Total 
claimants

Total cost 
for all 

preceptors 
(£m)

2013/2014 8.5% 17,865 13.904 12,001 9.735 29,866 23.639
2014/2015 12% 16,912 12.589 11,227 9.171 28,139 21.760
2015/2016 15% 16,157 11.537 10,774 8.581 26,931 20.118
2016/2017 15% 16,291 11.669 10,203 8.478 26,494 20.147
2017/2018 15% 16,321 12.063 10,068 8.521 26,389 20.584
2018/2019 15% 15,969 12.778 9,277 8.570 25,246 21.348

2.3 The latest estimated cost of the scheme for 2019/20 is £23.2m. This figure 
includes estimates for property growth for the rest of the financial year and the 
ongoing effects of the transition to Universal Credit. As noted in paragraph 1.4 
this also includes the impact upon preceptors.  For 2019/20, the estimated 
share of the cost of the scheme to the council is £19.8m.  Within the council’s 
settlement funding we receive a notional grant of £11.5m to contribute towards 
the cost of our CTR scheme.  This means that the council must fund the 
remaining cost of £8.3m.

2.4 It should be noted that pensioners continue to be protected and are not 
affected by any proposed changes to the localised scheme. Pensioners will 
continue to receive a maximum award of 100% if they are on a passported 
benefit such as pension credit guarantee or their income is below their personal 
allowances and premiums (applicable amount). At present, of the 24,979 CTR 
households, 9,147 (37%) are pensioner households and 15,832 (63%) are 
households of working age. 40% of the total cost of CTR is currently on 
pensioner households and 60% is on working age households.

2.5 The current scheme also provides personal allowances and premiums within 
the means tested assessment calculation to take into account the additional 
costs associated with: household composition; disabilities; and caring 
responsibilities. These are updated annually in line with other social security 
benefits to ensure that applicants continue to receive the same level of support 
between financial years.

Cost of retaining current scheme for 2020/21

2.6 If the council opted to retain the CTRS in its current form for 2020/21, the 
projected cost would be £24.8m.  This assumes that:

 
• The current case load may grow by up to 2% in 2020/21, partly attributable 

to a growth in new properties in the city 

• Council tax charges (including precepts) for 2020/21 may increase by 4.7% 

Page 210



5

2.7 The current scheme has become generally well accepted and understood, and 
provides support towards the higher end of the scale in terms of its maximum 
award level, compared to the other ten Greater Manchester authorities (see 
Appendix 1). However, it doesn’t currently address the problem of a UC CTR 
claimant receiving monthly revised bills even when the new calculation of 
entitlement is only marginally different from the previous month’s entitlement. It 
also doesn’t provide any group of working age claimant with an entitlement to 
full support with their entire bill.  

3. Proposal for an alternative CTR schemes for 2020/21

3.1 To build a comprehensive picture of the current spend of the CTRS and how 
potential changes would impact the council and different low income groups, 
detailed household level analysis was undertaken to estimate the overall cost 
and impact of each model. 

3.2 In total, 83 different scenarios were modelled based on consideration of a wide 
range of different scheme changes that have been implemented by other local 
authorities across the country including options to both reduce and increase 
entitlement.  Examples include: 

 Varying the minimum amount payable by all eligible working age households 
at different levels between 0% and 20%.

 Applying additional % discounts for different financially vulnerable groups. 

 Introducing a de-minimis rule that would only change the amount of CTR 
paid onto a customer’s account if the recalculation changed the weekly CTR 
entitlement over or under an agreed threshold.  

 Introducing a Minimum Income Floor (MIF) for working age self-employed 
people that assumes a self-employed resident earns the equivalent of 
someone working 35 hours per week on the national living wage (less an 
amount to reflect income tax and national insurance)

 Changing the capital (savings) limit from current level of £16,000 to a lower 
amount (above which there is no eligibility).

 Changing the deduction rate for a non–dependent (a person over the age of 
18 living in the claimant's household who doesn’t own or rent the property) 

 Including Child Benefit in the calculation of income – it is currently 
disregarded.

 Removing the family premium from the applicable amount for families with 
children.

 Limiting the personal allowances of a family with children to the two child 
limit irrespective of how many children they have

Page 211



6

3.3 Following extensive analysis into the financial and social impact of each of the 
different scenarios, the following modelled options have been identified for 
2020/21 that most closely align with the aims and objectives of the review:

 Model 1: Introduce a 12% minimum payment contribution for all eligible 
households (a 3% reduction in the contribution required from eligible 
households, which is set at 15% in the current scheme).  

 Model 2: Introduce a ‘de-minimis’ threshold that would only change a 
customer’s bill if the recalculated weekly CTR entitlement was above or 
below a set tolerance level.   

3.4 It should be noted that the options proposed are intended to decrease in the 
percentage of their council tax bill a low income households pays, whilst also 
eliminating the potential for stress and confusion that could result from the 
issuing of bills following frequent recalculations of entitlements. Our 
benchmarking shows that many local authorities require payment contributions 
above 15% (and in many cases above 20%). In Salford these options have not 
been considered as they would be contrary to the aims and objectives of this 
review.

4. Model 1:  Reduce minimum payment contribution from 15% to 12% for all 
working age households.

4.1 To provide extra support for all households on a low income we propose to 
reduce the minimum payment contribution to 12% for all households

4.2 The projected cost of this model is £25.3m meaning an estimated 
additional annual cost of £0.532m (council’s share being £0.450m). Based 
upon our projections 15,832 households would benefit from this change.

4.3 This model would provide all CTR households with more CTR. Households with 
income levels at or below the value of their personal allowance and premiums 
could receive up to 88% CTR so their contribution to their bill would be reduced 
to 12%. Those households whose income levels are above their applicable 
amount would continue to see their entitlement tapered up to a maximum 88% 
of their bill.  All households on the scheme would receive more than they 
currently do and, on average, households would be better off by around £33.76 
a year in 2020/21.

5. Model 2: Introduce a ‘de-minimis’ threshold that would only change a 
customer’s bill if the recalculated weekly CTR entitlement was above or 
below a set tolerance level.   

5.1 As described previously in the report, the roll out of UC has increased the 
administration costs of the CTRS. This is because UC is reassessed monthly, 
leading to a requirement for benefits staff to reassess CTR on the same 
frequency. As a result, customers can receive frequent new bills - even when 
the change in the CTR entitlement is minor; causing an increased amount of 

Page 212



7

customer contact and confusion and delays in the collection of Council Tax 
due.    

5.2 To help overcome this issue, the software used to calculate council tax and 
CTR has a function available called the ‘De-Minimis rule’. This rule won’t 
prevent the need to reassess a claimant’s entitlement to CTR each time income 
changes, but can be used to minimise the incidences on which the 
reassessment changes the households Council Tax bill, their payment plan 
instalments and a new bill is issued. 

5.3  Under this proposal, a new bill would only be issued if the CTR reassessment 
increased or decreased the claimant’s weekly entitlement by an agreed 
tolerance level of (+/-) £2.  

6. Consultation 

6.1 Before implementing a new scheme, the council is required to consult with 
residents on the proposed changes. To meet this requirement, Salford 
undertook a nine week consultation from 18 October 2019 to 20 December 
2019.

6.2 The consultation took the form of a questionnaire, which was hosted on the 
Have Your Say section of the council’s website, and included a mixture of 
closed and open questions. Residents were encouraged to take part in the 
consultation using various methods, including: homepage adverts on both the 
internet and intranet, posts on the council’s social media pages, and council tax 
staff with tablets approaching residents in gateway centres to encourage them 
to complete the questionnaire. 

6.3 In total, 348 people took the time to complete the consultation. This was a self-
selecting sample and the council did not seek to control for demographic 
characteristics.  

6.4 We do not believe that the consultation results reveal any reason not to 
proceed with the proposals. Overall, 61% of respondents to the consultation 
support the proposal to increase the CTR support to 88% and 49% of 
respondents support the introduction of the de minimis rule. 

6.5 Full details of the results of the consultation are available as an appendix. 
Highlight results are available below: 

Question Yes No Don’t Know / 
prefer not to 
say

1. Do you currently receive Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme support?

64

(19%)

273

(78%)

11

(3%)

2. The maximum Council Tax 211 101 36

Page 213



8

Question Yes No Don’t Know / 
prefer not to 
say

Reduction we can award to people of 
working age is 85% of their council 
tax bill. Do you think we should 
increase the support to a maximum of 
88%, so the minimum working age 
households have to pay is 12% rather 
than 15%?

(61%) (29%) (10%)

3. To simplify the administration, the 
council proposes that if a person’s 
CTR scheme entitlement is reviewed 
because of a change in their income 
or personal allowance, a bill will only 
be issued if the change causes their 
weekly CTR scheme entitlement to 
increase or decrease over a 
threshold.

Do you agree with the proposal not to 
amend the Council Tax Reduction 
scheme calculation if the result of the 
adjustment is £2 per week more or 
less?

170

(49%)

93

(27%)

85

(24%)

4. Do you think the council should 
retain the existing CTR scheme with 
a 15% minimum payment 
contribution?

122

(35%)

155

(45%)

71

(20%)

5. Do you have any other suggestions 
how the CTR scheme can be 
changed?

96

(28% of all 
respondents)

8

(2% of all 
responde
nts)

n/a

7. Recommendations 

7.1 For the reasons outlined in the body of the report, it is recommended that Lead 
Member for Finance and Support Services approves the recommendation of a 
revised CTRS for 2020/21 based on the following:

 Model 1: Introduce a 12% minimum payment contribution for all eligible 
households (a 3% reduction in the contribution required from eligible 
households, which is set at 15% in the current scheme).  

Page 214



9

 Model 2: Introduce a ‘de-minimis’ threshold that would only change a 
customer’s bill if the recalculated weekly CTR entitlement was above or 
below a set tolerance level.   

7.2 Adopting these two models in a revised CTRS would: 

 Cost the fund a projected £0.532m extra per year with the impact on the 
council being £0.450m. Whilst this is within medium term financial 
projections of the costs of the CTR scheme it reduces the council’s 
flexibility to support the revenue budget. 

 Continue to minimise the financial impact for other low income households 
by maintaining one of the lowest minimum payment requirements of any 
local authority in Greater Manchester.

 Reduce the administrative costs associated with issuing new monthly bills 
for claimants in receipt of UC. 

KEY COUNCIL POLICIES: Tackling Poverty Strategy, Great Eight

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS: 

A full CIA has been completed for the proposal which found that the new scheme will 
not disproportionately impact any residents with protected characteristics – see 
appendix 2.  

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: Low

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: Melinda Edwards, Principal Lawyer

In accordance with section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (‘the Act’) each 
billing authority in England must make a scheme (referred to as a “council tax reduction 
scheme”) specifying the reductions which are to apply to amounts of council tax payable, in 
respect of dwellings situated in its area, by—

(a)  persons whom the authority considers to be in financial need, or
(b)  persons in classes consisting of persons whom the authority considers to be, in 
general, in financial need.

Schedule 1A of the Act (which contains provisions about the above schemes) has effect. In 
that regard, for each financial year, each billing authority must consider whether to revise its 
scheme or to replace it with another scheme. The authority must make any revision to its 
scheme, or any replacement scheme, no later than 11 March in the financial year preceding 
that for which the revision or replacement scheme is to have effect. If any revision to a 
scheme, or any replacement scheme, has the effect of reducing or removing a reduction to 
which any class of persons is entitled, the revision or replacement must include such 
transitional provision relating to that reduction or removal as the authority thinks fit.

Before making a scheme, the authority must (in the following order) —

Page 215



10

(a) consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it
(b) publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and
(c) consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the 
operation of the scheme.

A council tax reduction scheme, or any revision of such a scheme, may be challenged by 
way of judicial review proceedings. It is therefore vital to ensure that a scheme has been 
implemented lawfully, that the content of the scheme is lawful, and that the scheme does not 
discriminate unlawfully.  In that regard, a community impact assessment is attached to the 
report (which confirms that the scheme will not have a disproportionate impact on any 
groups who share protected characteristics). The report also describes in detail the 
consultation exercise undertaken between October and December 2019 and the responses 
received accordingly. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: David Eden – Finance Manager 

The estimated cost of the proposals have been factored into the council’s council tax base 
for 2020/21 and have therefore been assumed within council tax income estimates 
contained within the council’s 2020/21 budget report and medium term financial strategy.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

HR IMPLICATIONS Supplied by: N/A

OTHER DIRECTORATES CONSULTED: People, Service Reform 

CONTACT OFFICER: TEL NO:
Penny Higgins                                     0161 793 3640     

WARDS TO WHICH REPORT RELATES: All wards in Salford 

Appendix 1: What are other councils doing? 
 

Latest figures from the Institute of Fiscal Studies (Jan 2019) show that the most 
widespread schemes continue require a minimum payment for working age 
households, with the most common being 20% (a quarter of all councils). 

Another fifth of councils have minimum contribution to council tax of over 20%, with 
the highest being 50% in North Lincolnshire. The research also shows that more 
deprived councils, are more likely to introduce minimum payments than other 
councils – but only because they received larger cuts to CTS funding from central 
government.

In Greater Manchester, Salford’s 15% minimum payment for low income households 
continues to be towards the lower end of the scale compared to the other ten GM 
authorities

Page 216



11

Authority CTR (%) Change
Bolton 12.5% No
Bury 20% No
Manchester 17.5% No
Oldham 15% No
Rochdale 15% No
Wigan 20% No
Stockport 100% - but awards limited to Band A or B
Tameside 25% minimum of Band A charge
Trafford Up to 100% restricted to Band D (but with other 

restrictions on entitlement) 

In addition, according to the New Policy Institute only nine other local authorities 
(from 326) offer an income banded scheme that has the possibility of a 100% 
discount for working age households on low incomes. These are: Cheltenham 
Chichester Cotswolds, Oxford; Sandwell; West Oxfordshire; South Cambridgeshire 
and St Albans.

Along with a minimum payment, some councils have made other changes to their 
local council tax support schemes. The graph below shows the number of councils 
that have introduced a particular change. Some local authorities introduced more 
than one new measure (for example reducing the second adult rebate and 
introducing a band cap), so councils may be counted more than once.

Page 217



12

Appendix 2 

Community Impact Assessment (CIA)

Title of proposal: Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21
Service Group/ Team: Service Reform 
Date of assessment: 7 January 2020
Lead CIA Officer: Penny Higgins
Officers in Assessment 
Team:

Penny Higgins, Jonathan Stancombe, Chris Howl, 
Peter Rogerson 

Review Date: 31 March 2021

The findings of your CIA MUST be included within the report for decision and 
this document attached as evidence of your consideration of potential impact 
on communities.

Summary of Community Impact Assessment

Brief summary of proposal or what you are impact assessing

 This CIA considers the review of Salford’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
(CTRS), which – subject to approval – will be implemented from 1 April 2020. 

 Salford proposes to introduce a new CTRS which will: increase the amount of 
support available for claimants from 85% of their total council tax bill to 88%. 
This will mean that claimants will be expected to pay 12% of their bill as 
opposed to the current 15%

How did you approach the CIA and what did you find?

This CIA documents some of the details of the review proposal, which took place 
during summer 2019. 

The CIA has been informed by a consultation of residents which took place from 18 
October 2019 to 20 December 2019. The consultation questionnaire included closed 
questions to assess resident support for the individual proposals. Along with an open 
question, which sought residents’ suggestions / feedback for how Salford’s council 
tax support should operate. Responses to the questionnaire were analysed to 
identify any equalities issues and equalities data was gathered from respondents, 
with questions relating to ethnicity, age, sexual orientation, marital / relationship 

Page 218



13

status, and religion / belief. 

Additionally, the following evidence has been considered: 

 Results of a residents’ consultation in late 2019

 Results of an analysis of the council tax claimant database carried out by 
Salford University

What are the main areas requiring further attention?

We have been unable to identify any disproportionate impacts on any groups with 
protected characteristics that would require further attention. If adopted, the 
proposals would have a positive impact on claimants qualifying for the new scheme, 
through reducing the amount of council tax they would have to pay and through 
reducing the frequency of council tax liability recalculations the number of council tax 
bills that claimants receive. 

These will be universal benefits for all working age households. However, there is 
some evidence to suggest that the proposals are likely to have a disproportionate 
positive impact on some groups with protected characteristics: research done in 
preparing Salford’s Anti-poverty strategy showed that disabled people and BAME 
communities are more likely to experience poverty in Salford. By extension, people 
with these protected characteristics may benefit disproportionately from the 
proposed new scheme. 

Summary of recommendations for improvement

At this stage, we do not believe that there ought to be any recommendations for 
improvement. As the council tax reduction scheme is reviewed annually, there will be 
further opportunity to identify recommendations for changes when the next scheme 
review begins.  

Page 219



14

1. The proposal

This section should outline details of the proposal. This could include (where 
applicable)

 Description of the current service (policy, procedure, strategy, function)
 Explanation of the proposal
 Reason for the proposal
 Aim or purpose of the proposal
 Who should benefit from the proposal
 Who are the key stakeholders
 What outcomes are required from the proposal
 Details of other services on which the proposal could impact 
 Social value considerations

The council has been operating a localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) in 
accordance with section 13A and Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 (amended) since 1 April 2013. 

The CTRS provides crucial help for residents on low incomes to pay their council tax 
bills. Under the current scheme, the council provides a discount to eligible working age 
households of up to 85% of their council tax bill. Recipients who have income at or 
below the applicable amount are entitled to the maximum reduction available and are 
only expected to pay 15%. Recipients with income above their applicable amount will 
receive a reduction up to the maximum 85% - so may be expected to pay more than 
15% of their bill. 

The budget for the CTRS has to fund the entitlements of both pensioners and working 
age low income households. Pensioner entitlements are more generous and are 
determined under a scheme provided by central government, which the council cannot 
change. Pensioner households can receive a reduction of up to 100% of their bill. The 
council has a duty to provide a scheme for low income working age households only, 
within the budget available covering both pensioner and working age household 
schemes.  

The council is legally required to review its scheme each year and consult with 
residents on any proposed changes. As part of the on-going work under the city’s anti-
poverty strategy (No One Left Behind: Tackling Poverty in Salford), the CTRS has been 
thoroughly reviewed to: 

 Analyse its current performance, understanding current spending patterns, 
and the profile of people accessing the scheme.

 Identify options for an alternative CTRS in 2020/21, with analysis of the 
financial and social impact of any changes.

A review of the scheme was completed in-house in summer 2019. Following extensive 
analysis that modelled 83 different potential revisions to the scheme, Salford is 
proposing to make the following changes to its CTRS from 1 April 2020: 

 Introduce a 12% minimum payment contribution for all eligible households (a 

Page 220



15

3% reduction in the contribution required from eligible households, which is set 
at 15% in the current scheme).  

 Introduce a ‘de-minimis’ threshold that would only change a customer’s bill if 
the recalculated weekly CTR entitlement was above or below a set tolerance 
level.   

We believe that both proposals will have a positive impact for all residents who qualify 
for CTRS, including those with protected characteristics. Subject to approval, from 1 
April 2020, claimants will see a 3% reduction in the amount they are expected to 
contribute to their council tax bills. Additionally, the implementation of de minimis rule is 
designed to reduce the number of council tax bills received by claimants in the event of 
changes to their income, by limiting the need to issue a new bill only if the change to 
their entitlement is (+/-) £2. 

Page 221



16

2. Evidence and research

What equality information (qualitative and quantitative), research or other intelligence 
have you used to develop this proposal?

This can include; equality monitoring information, census data, customer satisfaction 
surveys and feedback, inspection reports, desktop research (local, regional and 
national), professional journals, feedback from individuals and groups. Details of 
information considered when assessing the impact should be published (whilst 
ensuring individual confidentiality).

Information source What has this told you?
Resident consultation Analysis of the responses to the open questions included in 

the consultation is inconclusive. Some of the comments do 
have an equalities dimension – for example, suggesting that 
more efforts should be made to support single person 
households, pensioners, or people / families with children. 

Benchmarking against other 
CTR schemes in Greater 
Manchester

Salford’s scheme has been benchmarked against that of 
other GM Authorities. Salford’s scheme has consistently 
offered comparatively generous levels of support to 
residents: 

Authority CTR (%) Change
Bolton 12.5% No
Bury 20% No
Manchester 17.5% No
Oldham 15% No
Rochdale 15% No
Wigan 20% No
Stockport 100% - but awards limited to Band A or B
Tameside 25% minimum of Band A charge
Trafford Up to 100% restricted to Band D

Data Analysis of council tax 
data – University of Salford 

The University of Salford were asked whether they
could identify whether certain households struggled
more than others to pay their council tax liability. Using
anonymised data provided by SCC on the payment
activity of those households in receipt of CTR, the
university reported that some households with one, two
or three children having a higher risk of not paying their
Council Tax bills. 

Page 222



17

3. Engagement / Consultation

When considering your proposal, you should be engaging with individuals and groups covering the following protected characteristics 
(You can use evidence from existing consultations if this evidence is relevant to your proposal):

 Age
 Disability 
 Gender
 Gender reassignment
 Marriage and Civil Partnership
 Pregnancy and maternity
 Race
 Religion and belief
 Sexual orientation

We also advise you to consult people on a low income, carers, ex-offenders, refugees and people seeking asylum, gypsies 
and travellers, where appropriate.

You should detail below your engagement activities (Please note; you must ensure individual confidentiality)

Date(s) of 
engagement

Who was involved? Main issues identified

18/10/2019 – 
20/12/2019

The equalities monitoring data 
from the consultation suggests 
that there were multiple 
respondents with protected 
characteristics, including people 
from BAME communities (17% of 
respondents) and members of 
the LGBT community (8% of 
respondents). 

No issues requiring action were identified. 

P
age 223



18

4. Assessing the impact

From your evidence gathering, you will have identified potential disproportionate negative impacts. Please provide details and 
your actions to overcome these below. We would also like to know if there will be any positive impacts that your proposals will 
make to improve equalities:

 Potential impact: If the proposal could result in some groups (including customers and/or staff) being disadvantaged or 
treated unfairly

 Mitigations and actions: Where there is a potential for disadvantage or unfair treatment, what are your plans to 
eliminate, reduce, mitigate or justify it? Could making these changes have a negative effect on any other group(s)? 
Explain why and what you will do about this. You should include details of who will be responsible for the actions and 
target dates for completion: 

 Promoting Equality: Could the proposal result in an opportunity to promote equality or inclusion? Explain how.

Please note: this table will form the basis of your action plan.
Protected 
characteristic or 
other group

Potential impact Mitigations and 
actions

Responsible 
officer

Target date Promoting equality

Age Legislation provides a 
100% council tax 
reduction to people at 
state pension age 
who are on a low 
income. This is an 
important exemption 
for older people

N/A N/A N/A

Disability N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gender N/A N/A N/A N/A
Gender 
reassignment

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership

N/A N/A

Penny Higgins, 
Manager of 
Council Tax 
Service 

N/A N/A

P
age 224



19

Protected 
characteristic or 
other group

Potential impact Mitigations and 
actions

Responsible 
officer

Target date Promoting equality

Pregnancy and 
maternity

The council has opted 
to reject any policy 
changes such as 
introducing a two 
child limit for the 
purposes of 
calculation CTR. 

N/A N/A N/A

Race N/A N/A N/A N/A
Religion and belief The council has opted 

to reject any policy 
changes such as 
introducing a two 
child limit for the 
purposes of 
calculation CTR. It is 
reasonable to assume 
that this will be of 
significance for the 
Orthodox Jewish 
Community, where 
large families are 
more common

N/A N/A N/A

Sexual orientation N/A N/A N/A N/A
Other groups In Salford, care 

leavers are entitled to 
a council tax discount. 
This entitlement will 
be unaffected by the 
proposed new 
scheme. 

N/A N/A N/A

P
age 225



20

5. Assessing the impact on community cohesion 

Community cohesion is what must happen in all communities to enable different groups of people to get on well together. A 
key contributor to community cohesion is integration which is what must happen to enable new residents and existing residents 
to adjust to one another.

An integrated and cohesive community is based on three foundations:

 People from different backgrounds having similar life opportunities.
 People knowing their rights and responsibilities.
 People trusting one another and trusting local institutions to act fairly.

And three ways of living together:

 A shared future vision and sense of belonging.
 A focus on what new and existing communities have in common, alongside a recognition of the value of diversity.
 Strong and positive relationships between people from different backgrounds.

Detail below if the proposals is likely to impact on community cohesion, including if there is likely to be a positive impact.

N/A – we do not believe that the proposal will have an appreciable impact – either positively or negatively – on community cohesion.
However, some feelings of resentment have been reported when residents feel that public support is not distributed in a fair manner.  
By annual review, including equalities considerations, being conducted and published, it is hoped that this transparency will prevent 
such perceptions and contribute to the third foundation of an integrated and cohesive community, as stated above.

P
age 226



21

6. Monitoring

You should ensure that any actions within your CIA are monitored and 
reviewed regularly within Covalent. You should review progress on your 
action plan annually.

7. Review

Your CIA should be reviewed after the proposals have been 
implemented to review actual impact. You should record an appropriate 
review date below. 

Review
Date

31 March 2021

8. Sign off 

When you have completed your CIA, it must be signed off by a senior 
manager within your service group (Assistant Director or above). 

Name Signature Date

When your CIA has been signed off and after the decision has been 
made, send it to Equalities&Cohesion Team  in Policy and Strategy for 
publishing on the council’s website. 

Page 227

mailto:Equalities&CohesionTeam@salford.gov.uk
http://www.salford.gov.uk/impact-assess.htm


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Report of the City Mayor - 2020/21 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme
	5 Report of Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - 2020/21 Treasury Management Strategy, Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement
	6 Report of the Lead Member for Finance and Support Services - Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 - 2022/23
	06ii Appx A MTFS 2020-23

	7 Salford Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2020/21

